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About us A brief history

Whilst we prefer to look forward at The Christie, let’s start 
by putting the last year into perspective.

The past 12 months were another 
defining year for The Christie. Working 
with partner organisations we won a 
national tender to bring Proton Beam 
Therapy (PBT), an advanced form of 
radiotherapy that can target tumours 
far more precisely than conventional 
methods, to the UK. We were also 
honoured to have His Royal Highness 
The Earl of Wessex officially open our 
Oak Road Patient Treatment Centre.

We are a specialist cancer centre, 
established more than 100 years ago 
– and in the last year we also unveiled 
our vision for our future leading up to 
2020. This strategy, our 20:20 Vision 
will transform cancer treatments and 
improve outcomes for patients across 
our Greater Manchester and Cheshire 
catchment area. These plans will shape 
our future and include ambitions 
around early diagnosis, access to 
clinical trials and bringing treatment 
closer to patients’ homes.

This report highlights what we have 
achieved in the last 12 months and sets 
out our plans for the year ahead. As 
one of Europe’s leading cancer centres, 
we specialise in first class treatment 
and care for more than 40,000 
patients a year, as well ground-
breaking research. Due to the specialist 
nature of our work around 26% of our 
patients are referred to us from across 
the UK. We continue to make 
breakthroughs in our research 
programme and we consistently receive 
the highest ratings for our standards 
and quality of care.

Along with our main site in 
Manchester, which houses the world’s 
largest early phase clinical trials unit 
and the UK’s largest chemotherapy 
department, we also have radiotherapy 
centres in Oldham and Salford. Our 
School of Oncology continues to 
deliver high quality training for the 
healthcare professionals of the future 
– further enhancing our reputation as a 
leader in cancer education.

Along with chemotherapy, 
radiotherapy and surgery for rare and 
complex cancers, we are also proud to 
support our patients and their families 
through a wide range of services 
including our complementary therapy 
and well-being service.

We are incredibly lucky to receive the 
support of thousands of fundraisers 
who raise more than £13 million for our 
charity each year – generous donations 
which mean we can go the extra mile 
for our patients every day. We are also 
proud to be the chosen charity partner 
of Manchester United Football Club 
and BBC Radio Manchester. 

Each of our 27,500 public members 
also offers valuable input. Thank you 
for your continued support. 
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Chairman and  
Chief Executive Statement

Chairman and Chief Executive Statement

Keeping Britain Alive and the series 
followed some of our clinicians as 
patients received their treatment for 
the very first time. 

We have opened our redeveloped 
education centre, which provides 
upgraded facilities for our School of 
Oncology as they train the cancer 
healthcare professionals of the future. 
In addition, we are significantly 
improving our brachytherapy services 
which will enable us to continue to 
care for the largest number of patients 
in the UK with this specialised type of 
internal radiotherapy. 

Looking to next year, work has started 
on the development of the Manchester 
Cancer Research Centre. This unique 
collaboration between Cancer 
Research UK, The Christie and The 
University of Manchester will bring 
world-class research into cancer 
biology, drug discovery and clinical 
trials together on one site. It is set to 
open in 2014, along with our new 
state of the art young oncology unit 
and haematology and transplant unit. 

We are also working closely with our 
partners to develop our proton beam 
therapy unit - a highly targeted, precise 
form of radiotherapy - which will be 
viewed as a turning point in both the 
history and future of cancer treatment. 
This unit is expected to see its first 
patient in 2017. 

These world leading developments are 
underpinned by our successful financial 
strategy which is supported by the 
work of a legion of dedicated 
fundraisers who find innovative ways 
each year to support our work.

We would like to thank all those who 
have played a part in making this such 
a dynamic year - from our staff, 
patients, members, governors, 
volunteers and fundraisers, to all those 
many other groups we work with 
across Greater Manchester and the UK.

Thank you all for your contribution to 
The Christie.

Rt Hon Lord Keith Bradley
Chairman

Caroline Shaw
Chief Executive

In September we proudly launched our 
20:20 Vision strategy at our annual 
members’ meeting. We are immensely 
grateful that over 2,500 people shared 
their views with us about the shape of 
cancer services in the future. The 
strategy outlines our ambitious plans 
for early diagnosis, access to clinical 
trials and bringing treatment closer to 
patients’ homes. These progressive 
plans will revolutionise treatments and 
give our patients the most up-to-date 
medical and specialist expertise 
possible.

But the bedrock for The Christie is the 
high standard we have already set 
ourselves in patient care. Those 
standards, and the reputation they 
have established, have been recognised 
externally, too, in the latest Care 
Quality Commission annual inpatient 
survey. It’s with great pride that we can 
report that The Christie achieved one 
of the top scores nationally – a true 
testimony to the dedication of our 
amazing staff and volunteers.

We were also delighted to be involved 
in a ground breaking project which 
saw BBC film crews capture a day in 
the life of the NHS on the 18th 
October 2012. Our chemotherapy unit 
was one of the areas featured in 

Our priority is to provide our patients and their loved ones 
with the best possible treatment and care. The last year has 
been a time of incredible momentum, where an array of 
developments which will enhance patient care have been 
telescoped into just twelve months.
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A who’s whoComposition of the board

Non-executive directors  
(all considered by the board  
to be independent)

Lee Childs 
(Senior non-executive director)

Dame Jenni Murray 

Sir Duncan Nichol 
(Deputy Chairman) 
(to 31st October 2012)

Patrick Loftus

Barrie Bernstein

Jennie Johnson 
(from 1st March 2013)

Signed on behalf of  
the board of directors

Caroline Shaw
Chief Executive
28th May 2013

The Directors’ report is presented  
on behalf of the directors who served 
on the board during the year. The 
composition of the board of directors 
during 2012/13 was as follows:

Rt Hon Lord Keith Bradley 
Chairman

Caroline Shaw 
Chief Executive

Executive directors

Dr Chris Harrison 
Executive Medical Director 
(to 17th March 2013)

Roger Spencer 
Chief Operating Officer and  
Deputy Chief Executive

Ian Moston 
Executive Director of Finance 
and Business Development

Jackie Bird 
Executive Director  
of Nursing and Quality

Left to right: Patrick Loftus,  
Rt Hon Lord Keith Bradley,  
Dame Jenni Murray, Lee Childs, 
Caroline Shaw, Ian Moston,  
Roger Spencer, Barrie Bernstein,  
Jackie Bird, Dr Chris Harrison 

Meet our directors – the important people who allow  
us to do our important work.
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A job well doneBusiness review

reducing the number of preventable 
grade 2 pressure ulcers 

 – we achieved excellent results in the 
Care Quality Commission national 
inpatient survey 2012. For 48 
questions we scored better than 
most other trusts and for 10 
questions we performed the same. 
There were no questions where our 
performance was worse than other 
trusts

 – admission of over 99.4% of 
appropriate emergency patients 
every month

 – achievement of 100% of patients 
no longer share mixed sex 
accommodation without justified 
reason

 – achievement of our quality goals 
agreed with our commissioners

 – achievement of all national cancer 
waiting times

Managing effectively and  
quality of services

1. We have achieved “excellent” or 
“good” ratings for over 95% of 
questions month on month in our 
monthly patient satisfaction survey

2. In 2012/13 we have had one case  
of MRSA bacteraemia which was a 
contaminated sample and did not 
have an adverse impact on our 
patient

3. We have very low rates of infection 
for our patients whilst maintaining 
screening for MRSA to 100% of our 
inpatients

4. We achieved consistently low rates 
of clostridium difficile infection for 
our patients, with just 7 attributable 
cases compared with a maximum 
permitted number for the year of  
12 attributable cases

The following provides an overview of 
our achievements, and the 
improvements we made for our 
patients during 2012/13.

Quality priorities and milestones 
for 2012/13

1. Improve the quality of clinical 
correspondence to all stakeholders, 
(GPs, A&E departments) promoting 
the use of the clinical portal 

2. Reducing patient harm by reducing 
preventable grade 2 pressure ulcers    
developed in hospital by 50% and 
implementing full root cause analysis 
for grade 2, 3 and 4 pressure ulcers

3. Working towards implementation 
and embedding The Christie 
Supportive Care Pathway based on 
the North West End of Life Care 
Model

Key achievements in 2012/13

 – achievement of more than 85% of 
our outpatients being seen within 20 
minutes of their appointment time

 – achievement of more than 45% of 
patients being treated with 
chemotherapy within 30 minutes

 – achievement of more than 80% of 
patients waiting no more than 20 
minutes for their prescriptions in 
pharmacy 

 – significant improvement in the 
provision of patient information to 
key stakeholders

 – implementation of The Christie 
Supportive Care Initiative which has 
improved patient / carer experience, 
and has increased the clinical staff 
confidence in asking patients about 
their needs at home

 – significant improvement in the 
reduction of patient harm by 

Setting ourselves targets is one thing. But it’s the hopes 
and expectations of our patients that we really aim to fulfil. 
And this year we strived as hard as ever to exceed their 
needs – by improving, adapting, and evolving our services 
to be the very best they can. 
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Business review

Regulatory ratings

When assessing our performance for the period 2012/13, the independent 
regulator Monitor uses a risk rating scorecard for: financial performance, 
governance and mandatory services:

 – Governance 
Monitor’s assessment of governance risk takes account of service performance, 
clinical quality and patient safety, risk and performance management 
arrangements, co-operation with partner organisations, membership and 
compliance with the statutory framework. Governance ratings are allocated on 
a traffic light system of green, amber green, amber red, and red where red is a 
high risk

 – Finance 
The financial indicators used to assess financial risk look at our achievement of 
plan, underlying performance, financial efficiency and liquidity. A scale of 1–5 
is used for each ratio, with 5 representing the lowest risk and 1 the highest

The summary table below shows the performance rating throughout the year and 
comparison to the prior year, with the expectation in our annual plan. 
 
Risk ratings declared in 2012/13

Financial  
risk rating

Governance  
risk rating

Annual plan 2012/13 4 Green

Q1 2012/13 4 Green

Q2 2012/13 4 Green

Q3 2012/13 5 Green

Q4 2012/13 5 Green

Access to treatments

 – we achieved all the national targets 
in 2012/13 

 – we consistently achieved the target 
thresholds for patients to spend no 
longer than 18 weeks from referral 
to treatment

 – waiting times for routine computerised 
tomography (CT) and magnetic 
resonance (MR) diagnostic imaging 
have been consistently no more than 
two weeks throughout the year 

Efficiency

 – reconfiguration of treatments to 
provide more appropriate care for 
outpatients in day case or outpatient 
settings rather than in inpatient beds

 – maintaining an excellent financial 
risk rating

 – reducing drug wastage
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A healthy businessFinancial performance 2012/13

Financial highlights

Metric Actual Monitor 
rating

Underlying performance EBITDA* margin 9.10% 4

Achievement of plan EBITDA % of plan achieved 149.10% 5

Financial efficiency Net return after financing 5.10% 5

Surplus margin 5.80% 5

Liquidity Liquidity days 81.2 days 5

Weighted average rating 4.75

Financial risk rating 5

A Monitor rating of 5 is the strongest risk rating

*EBITDA is earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation.

To take care of our patients we have to take care of 
finances too. After all, every penny we spend impacts  
the wellbeing of the people we care for. 
Whether it’s monitoring our spending, measuring  
our investment or checking our suppliers, it pays to  
keep everything in balance. 
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Financial performance 2012/13

Performance

This financial review analyses our performance for the financial year ended  
31st March 2013. 

£ million 2012/13  
actual

2011/12  
actual

Year on  
year change

Total income 199.54 185.31 14.24

Total operating expenditure  
(excluding depreciation)

(178.48) (169.91) (8.57)

EBITDA 21.06 15.40 5.67

Loss on disposal  0.00 0.00 .00

Depreciation and amortisation (9.07) (9.00) (0.07)

Dividend (1.83) (2.14) 0.31

Net finance interest (0.74) (0.78) 0.04

Share of profit of joint ventures 
accounted for using the equity method 

2.47 3.58 (1.11)

Retained surplus 
(before exceptional items) 

11.90 7.05 4.84

Exceptional items* (3.21) (10.36) 7.14

Retained (deficit) surplus 8.68 (3.31) 11.99

*Exceptional items represent building asset impairments for NHS £2.53m (11/12 £9.91m);  
 donated £0.69m (11/12 £0.45m)

The results deliver an overall finance risk rating of 5 and reflect increasing levels  
of activity and good cost control across all areas of the organisation. 

A 7.7% spare increase in total revenues has been delivered through improved 
productivity and efficiency. This has meant we were able to generate a surplus  
of £11.9m before impairments, for reinvestment back into local facilities. 



13

Financial performance 2012/13

Joint venture

The Christie Clinic LLP was formed on 
the 15 September 2010, and is a joint 
venture partnership with HCA 
(Healthcare America) for the provision 
of private oncology activity.

The in-year profit reported of £2.4m is 
a combination of the 2012/13 profit 
share (as per the terms of the LLP 
membership agreement) and the profit 
from the sale of a segment of the 
investment.

The achievement of our profit share is 
due to increased activity and improved 
case mix, together with improved tariff 
from private medical insurers.

Charitable funding

We are fortunate to be supported in 
our activities by The Christie Charitable 
Fund. These funds are administered by 
a separate charity and are reported in 
its separate annual report.

Over the past 12 months we spent 
£2.8m on capital projects from 
charitable grants and we received a 
charitable revenue contribution of 
£6.5m to enable us to enhance our 
services. Further information on 
contributions from the charity is 
provided on page 82.

Prudential borrowing limit

Monitor sets an annual prudential 
borrowing limit by reference to a 
number of key financial ratios. This is 
the maximum amount we can borrow. 
This year we have utilised £21.2m 
borrowing which is in line with our 
plans at the start of the year. 

Value for money and  
improved efficiency

Our total operating expenses 
(excluding depreciation, amortisation 
and impairment) rose during the year 
to £178.5m. Of this, £92.3m was spent 
on staffing, ensuring we continued to 
attract and retain over 207 doctors, 
633 nurses, 507 scientific, technical 
and therapeutic staff and 179 other 
health professionals, as well as 718 
support staff. 

Over 24.3% of our total operating 
expenses (excluding depreciation) was 
spent on chemotherapy and other 
cancer treatment drugs and has helped 
ensure our patients continue to have 
access to the latest treatments. 

The £11.9m surplus was achieved by 
delivering £6.3m of efficiency savings. 
These have been achieved through  
a combination of quality-led service 
change, improved productivity, 
procurement and a reduction in 
wastage.

Our excellent financial performance 
will ensure continued investment in 
services to our patients, the surplus 
achieved in 2012/13 will be used to 
finance our ambitious capital plan 
which includes a major equipment 
replacement programme, investment 
in the Manchester Cancer Research 
Centre, replacing our electronic patient 
record system, reorganisation of 
outpatients and our new integrated 
procedure unit.

Activity and income

Total clinical income increased by 
£9.9m over the last 12 months. This 
represents significant investment by 
our commissioners in additional cancer 
treatment for the population we serve 
and the safety and quality of care.

Income from the provision of NHS goods 
and services was greater than the 
income from the provision of goods and 
services for any other purposes. Any 
surplus derived from the limited 
diversification of income helped support 
the Trust in delivering high quality 
healthcare services for our patients.
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Financial performance 2012/13

Capital investment

Over the past year, we have invested in maintaining and improving our services 
and facilities. 

This includes completing work on our new education facilities, purchase of 
accommodation for our charity and administration functions, investment in our 
existing equipment including the replacement of two linear accelerators as part of 
our major asset replacement plan and the commencement of construction work 
on the new integrated haematology transplant and young oncology unit. In 
addition, we have started work on our new radionuclide and brachytherapy 
services due for completion in 2013.

Investment NHS Funded £m Donated £m Total £m

Building 2.92 1.00 3.92

Asset under construction 5.99 1.74 7.73

P&M 0.78 0.11 0.90

IT including intangibles 0.83 0.83

Total 10.52 2.85 13.37

Cash flow and balance sheet

We ended the year with cash and investments balance of £50.6m. This is an 
increase on the previous year end of £11.3m and is in line with our capital 
investment plan.
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Financial performance 2012/13

Our partnership with HCA International 
in The Christie Clinic continues to 
perform well and our forward plans 
anticipate further growth which will 
secure support for our NHS services. 

During 2013/14 we will continue to 
develop our plans for a national proton 
therapy service, which will bring 
significant additional investment into 
the local health system and 
significantly expand our service base.

Going concern

After making enquiries the directors 
have a reasonable expectation that  
the Trust has adequate resources to 
continue in operation for the 
foreseeable future. For this reason they 
continue to adopt the going concern 
basis in preparing the accounts.

External audit services

Due to the abolition of the Audit 
Commission we appointed PwC as our 
external auditors on the 1st October 
2012 for a period of three years.

We incurred £66,000 in audit service 
fees in relation to the statutory audit  
of our accounts for the period ending 
31st March 2013. 

Trading environment  
and financial risks

While we have continued to maintain a 
healthy financial position during 
2012/13, there have continued to be 
significant changes over the last twelve 
months in the external economic and 
political environment that have 
significantly impacted on our plans for 
2013/14 and beyond. 

The implications for lower growth in 
health spending are continuing to be 
seen with a tariff deflator of 1.3% for 
2013/14. Pay increases have been set  
at 1% for 2013/14 and we continue  
to feel the impact of rising prices, 
particularly for new drugs and energy. 
Plans for future years are taking this 
into account.

For 2013/14 our commissioning 
arrangements have altered significantly 
with all our services being 
commissioned under one contract held 
by NHS England. 2013/14 will also see a 
change in the pricing structure for the 
majority of our services with national 
tariff being in place for radiotherapy 
and chemotherapy. Both these changes 
pose financial risk and uncertainty for 
both us and our commissioners. Using 
the principle of fair balance of risk and 
reward which we have had in place 
over a number of years, we have signed 
a contract with NHS England on the 
26th April 2013 which mitigate this risk 
for all parties and enable us to manage 
the impact on services. The contract 
with NHS England was signed on the 
26th April 2013. 



16

Financial performance 2012/13

Statutory framework 

This is the sixth set of annual financial 
results prepared since we became a 
foundation trust on the 1st April 2007. 
Consistent with our statutory status 
these accounts have been prepared 
under a direction issued by the 
independent regulator Monitor. In 
producing our financial statements 
there is no relevant information which 
has not been brought to the auditor’s 
attention so far as the directors are 
aware.

In undertaking NHS business 
transaction the Trust has complied with 
the cost allocation and charging 
requirement set out in HM Treasury 
and Office of Public Sector Information 
Guidance. 

Non-audit services provided  
by the auditor

Our external auditor provides non-
audit services in limited circumstances 
in accordance with a policy 
recommended by the audit committee 
and approved by the council of 
governors. Auditor objectivity and 
independence is safeguarded for any 
non-audit services provided by the 
auditor by limiting the fees arising from 
such work in any one year to £30,000 
and ensuring that different auditors 
carry out the work. There was no 
requirement for non-audit services 
during 2012/13. 

Countering fraud and corruption

The board of directors attaches 
significant importance to the issue  
of fraud and corruption and has 
continued its increased investment 
during the year. Reported concerns 
have been investigated by our local 
counter fraud specialists in liaison with 
the NHS Counter Fraud and Security 
Management Service and the police  
as necessary.

We work hard to maintain an anti-
fraud culture and have a range of 
policies and procedures to minimise 
risk in this area. A number of events 
were held over the year to highlight 
how staff can raise concerns and 
suspicions and over 1,163 staff, 
including all staff recruited during the 
year received an appropriate fraud 
awareness session.

A survey of staff awareness of anti-
fraud arrangements was undertaken  
in March 2013 and the results will help 
direct our future anti-fraud activity.
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A commitment to excellenceQuality accounts

2009, dated April 2013; 
 – the national patient survey August 
2012 

 – the national staff survey June 2012
 – the Head of Internal Audit’s annual 
opinion over the Trust’s control 
environment dated April 2012 

 – CQC quality and risk profiles 
dated April 2012 to March 2013

 – Integrated performance and 
quality reports dated April 2012  
to March 2013

 – the quality report presents a 
balanced picture of the NHS 
Foundation Trust’s performance over 
the period covered; 

 – the performance information 
reported in the quality report is 
reliable and accurate; 

 – there are proper internal controls 
over the collection and reporting of 
the measures of performance 
included in the quality report, and 
these controls are subject to review 
to confirm that they are working 
effectively in practice; 

 – the data underpinning the measures 
of performance reported in the 
quality report is robust and reliable, 
conforms to specified data quality 
standards and prescribed definitions, 
is subject to appropriate scrutiny and 
review; and the quality report has 
been prepared in accordance with 
Monitor’s annual reporting guidance 
(which incorporates the quality 
accounts regulations) (published at 
www.monitor-nhsft.gov.uk/
annualreportingmanual) as well as 
the standards to support data 
quality for the preparation of the 
quality report (available at  
www.monitor-nhsft.gov.uk/
annualreportingmanual). 

Statement of directors’ 
responsibilities

The directors are required under the 
Health Act 2009 and the National 
Health Service (quality accounts) 
Regulations 2010 as amended to 
prepare quality accounts for each 
financial year. 

Monitor has issued guidance to NHS 
foundation trust boards on the form 
and content of annual quality reports 
(which incorporate the above legal 
requirements) and on the 
arrangements that foundation trust 
boards should put in place to support 
the data quality for the preparation of 
the quality report. 

In preparing the quality report, 
directors are required to take steps to 
satisfy themselves that: 
 – the content of the quality report 

meets the requirements set out in 
the NHS Foundation Trust Annual 
Reporting Manual 2012/13; 

 – the content of the quality report is 
not inconsistent with internal and 
external sources of information 
including: 
 – board minutes and papers for the 
period April 2012 to June 2013 

 – papers relating to quality reported 
to the board over the period April 
2012 to June 2013 

 – feedback from the NHS Oldham 
CCG dated May 2013

 – feedback from governors dated 
March 2013 

 – feedback from Healthwatch dated 
May 2013 

 – the Trust’s complaints report 
published under regulation 18 of 
the Local Authority Social Services 
and NHS Complaints Regulations 

The directors confirm to the best of 
their knowledge and belief they have 
complied with the requirements (right) 
in preparing the quality report. 

By order of the board 

Rt Hon Lord Keith Bradley
Chairman 
28th May 2013

Caroline Shaw
Chief Executive 
28th May 2013

Every hour of every day, we do our utmost to improve the 
lives of the people we work with, and the people we work 
for. High standards aren’t just a responsibility here at The 
Christie. They’re at the very heart of everything we do. If 
ever there’s a better way to do something, we’ll make sure 
we find it. 
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Quality accounts

We read the other information 
contained in the quality report and 
consider whether it is materially 
inconsistent with the following 
documents: 
 – board minutes for the period April 

2012 to the date of signing this 
limited assurance report (the 
period); 

 – papers relating to quality reported 
to the board over the period April 
2012 to the date of signing this 
limited assurance report; 

 – feedback from the commissioners 
NHS Oldham CCG, dated 
21/05/2013; 

 – feedback from governors, dated 
March 2013;

 – feedback from local Healthwatch 
organisations Healthwatch 
Manchester dated 10/05/2013; 

 – the Trust’s complaints report 
published under regulation 18 of 
the Local Authority Social Services 
and NHS Complaints Regulations 
2009, The Christie NHS Foundation 
Trust complaints 2012/2013; 

 – the 2012 national patient survey; 
 – the 2012 national staff survey; 
 – Care Quality Commission quality 

and risk profiles dated 02/04/12, 
31/05/12, 30/06/12, 31/07/12, 
30/09/12, 31/10/12, 30/11/12, 
31/01/13, 28/02/13 and 31/03/13; 
and

 – the Head of Internal Audit’s annual 
opinion over the Trust’s control 
environment dated March 2013

Respective responsibilities of the 
directors and auditors  

The directors are responsible for the 
content and the preparation of the 
quality report in accordance with the 
assessment criteria referred to in the 
statement of directors responsibilities 
of the quality report (the ‘criteria’). The 
directors are also responsible for the 
conformity of their criteria with the 
assessment criteria set out in the NHS 
Foundation Trust Annual Reporting 
Manual (FT ARM) issued by the 
independent regulator of NHS 
Foundation Trusts (Monitor). 

Our responsibility is to form a 
conclusion, based on limited assurance 
procedures, on whether anything has 
come to our attention that causes us to 
believe that: 
 – the quality report does not 

incorporate the matters required to 
be reported on as specified in Annex 
2 to Chapter 7 of the FT ARM;

 – the quality report is not consistent in 
all material respects with the sources 
specified below; and

 – the specified indicators have not 
been prepared in all material 
respects in accordance with the 
criteria

We read the quality report and 
consider whether it addresses the 
content requirements of the FT ARM, 
and consider the implications for our 
report if we become aware of any 
material omissions.

Independent auditor’s limited 
assurance report to the council of 
governors of The Christie NHS 
Foundation Trust on the annual 
quality report

We have been engaged by the council 
of governors of The Christie NHS 
Foundation Trust to perform an 
independent assurance engagement in 
respect of The Christie NHS Foundation 
Trust’s quality report for the year ended 
31 March 2013 (the ‘quality report’) 
and specified performance indicators 
contained therein.

Scope and subject matter 

The indicators for the year ended 31 
March 2013 in the quality report that 
have been subject to limited assurance 
consist of the following national 
priority indicators as mandated by 
Monitor: 
 – Number of clostridium difficile 

infections; and 
 – Maximum cancer waiting time of 62 

days from urgent GP referral to first 
treatment for all cancers

We refer to these national priority 
indicators collectively as the “specified 
indicators”. 
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Quality accounts

We consider the implications for our 
report if we become aware of any 
apparent misstatements or material 
inconsistencies with those documents 
(collectively, the ‘documents’). Our 
responsibilities do not extend to any 
other information. 

We are in compliance with the 
applicable independence and 
competency requirements of the 
Institute of Chartered Accountants in 
England and Wales (ICAEW) Code of 
Ethics. Our team comprised assurance 
practitioners and relevant subject 
matter experts. 

This report, including the conclusion, 
has been prepared solely for the 
council of governors of The Christie 
NHS Foundation Trust as a body, to 
assist the council of governors in 
reporting The Christie NHS Foundation 
Trust’s quality agenda, performance 
and activities. We permit the disclosure 
of this report within the Annual Report 
for the year ended 31 March 2013, to 
enable the council of governors to 
demonstrate they have discharged their 
governance responsibilities by 
commissioning an independent 
assurance report in connection with 
the indicators. To the fullest extent 
permitted by law, we do not accept or 
assume responsibility to anyone other 
than the council of governors as a 
body and The Christie NHS Foundation 
Trust for our work or this report save 
where terms are expressly agreed and 
with our prior consent in writing.

Assurance work performed 

We conducted this limited assurance 
engagement in accordance with 
International Standard on Assurance 
Engagements 3000 ‘Assurance 
Engagements other than Audits or 
Reviews of Historical Financial 
Information’ issued by the International 
Auditing and Assurance Standards 
Board (‘ISAE 3000’). Our limited 
assurance procedures included: 
 – evaluating the design and 

implementation of the key processes 
and controls for managing and 
reporting the indicators 

 – making enquiries of management 
 – limited testing, on a selective basis, 

of the data used to calculate the 
specified indicators back to 
supporting documentation

 – comparing the content requirements 
of the FT ARM to the categories 
reported in the quality report

 – reading the documents

A limited assurance engagement is less 
in scope than a reasonable assurance 
engagement. The nature, timing and 
extent of procedures for gathering 
sufficient appropriate evidence are 
deliberately limited relative to a 
reasonable assurance engagement.
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Limitations 

Non-financial performance information 
is subject to more inherent limitations 
than financial information, given the 
characteristics of the subject matter 
and the methods used for determining 
such information. 

The absence of a significant body of 
established practice on which to draw 
allows for the selection of different but 
acceptable measurement techniques 
which can result in materially different 
measurements and can impact 
comparability. The precision of 
different measurement techniques may 
also vary. Furthermore, the nature and 
methods used to determine such 
information, as well as the 
measurement criteria and the precision 
thereof, may change over time. It is 
important to read the quality report in 
the context of the assessment criteria 
set out in the FT ARM and the 
Directors’ interpretation of the criteria 
in the statement of directors 
responsibilities of the quality report. 

The nature, form and content required 
of quality reports are determined by 
Monitor. This may result in the 
omission of information relevant to 
other users, for example for the 
purpose of comparing the results of 
different NHS Foundation Trusts/
organisations/entities. 

In addition, the scope of our assurance 
work has not included governance over 
quality or non-mandated indicators in 
the quality report, which have been 
determined locally by The Christie NHS 
Foundation Trust; 

Conclusion 

Based on the results of our procedures, 
nothing has come to our attention that 
causes us to believe that for the year 
ended 31 March 2013, 
 – The quality report does not 

incorporate the matters required to 
be reported on as specified in annex 
2 to Chapter 7 of the FT ARM;

 – The quality report is not consistent 
in all material respects with the 
documents specified above; and

 – the specified indicators have not 
been prepared in all material 
respects in accordance with the 
criteria

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP  
Chartered Accountants
101 Barbirolli Square,  
Lower Mosley Street,  
Manchester, M2 3PW
28 May 2013

The maintenance and integrity of  
The Christie NHS Foundation Trust’s 
website is the responsibility of the 
directors; the work carried out by the 
assurance providers does not involve 
consideration of these matters and, 
accordingly, the assurance providers 
accept no responsibility for any 
changes that may have occurred to  
the reported performance indicators  
or criteria since they were initially 
presented on the website.
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when we get it wrong and allowing us 
to make changes. We are extremely 
grateful to the many people who as 
health and social care partners, 
governors, members, patient 
representatives or as patients take the 
time to support and advise us.  

The board of directors is strongly 
committed to building on our existing 
high standards of quality.  We aim to 
maintain our reputation for excellence 
throughout the coming years, 
especially when any additional 
resources available to the NHS next 
year will be very limited. The board has 
a quality assurance committee which 
scrutinises and monitors our quality 
programmes. Further assurance is 
given by our governors’ quality 
committee through which our council 
of governors supports and advises on 
current quality and priorities for the 
future.  

We are continually striving to improve 
our care and welcome feedback on our 
quality accounts. The support and 
commitment of all of our stakeholders 
is vital to us in maintaining and building 
on our current achievements.  

I have great pleasure in presenting this 
report to you and to certify the 
accuracy of the data it contains. 

Caroline Shaw
Chief Executive
28th May 2013

implementing full root cause analysis 
so that we can learn how to improve 
further. 

We have been reporting information 
on the effectiveness and clinical 
outcomes of our care in our monthly 
performance reports for over 2 years. 
This is a developing area in which we 
believe that we are leading in the 
cancer field by making data public.  
We intend to continue these 
developments, demonstrating the role 
of The Christie in providing effective 
therapy against the background of 
poor general health and a higher 
incidence of cancer across the network 
of communities that we serve. We 
continue to collect data against the 
national cancer outcomes framework 
and this has been published during 
2012/13 in our monthly reports and in 
this our quality accounts for the full 
year. 

In 2012 we completed an important 
piece of work engaging with patients 
and other stakeholders about our 
vision for 2020.  This concluded with a 
launch in September where the four 
key areas identified all demonstrate the 
importance of quality in our future 
plans.  Examples of this include our 
chemotherapy service where we have 
made changes to provide a local and 
specialist service closer to patient’s 
homes. 

Our statistics show that we provide 
high quality care and we want to 
maintain this position. However, it is 
the voices of patients that really make 
the difference both in assuring us that 
we get it right most of the time, but 
more importantly letting us know 

Quality report 

Part 1: Statement on quality from 
the Chief Executive 

Everything we do at The Christie is 
directed at achieving the best quality 
care and outcomes that we possibly 
can. I am therefore delighted to 
introduce our quality accounts building 
on successes of last year.  

We have a strong track record of 
publishing data on quality through our 
monthly integrated quality and 
performance report, which contains 
information on each of the three 
components of quality: patient 
experience, safety and effectiveness of 
care and services.  This annual account 
shows the progress we have made 
over the past 12 months and our 
aspirations for the future.  

Through the hard work of all our staff 
we achieved all national targets in 
2012/13. During the year we reported 
our rating by Monitor, as excellent for 
both quality of care and use of 
resources and we were compliant with 
all the Care Quality Commission 
outcomes.  We were once again one of 
the top scoring trusts for quality of care 
achieving excellent results and 
performing even better than last year 
in the national inpatient survey.  

In addition to national targets, we have 
set ourselves some extremely 
challenging local objectives for 
2013/14, including the establishment 
of a clinical outcomes unit, ensuring we 
meet the CQUINS requirement for the 
friends and family test and we aim to 
reduce patient harm by reducing the 
number of inpatient falls and 
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Our priorities for improving quality in 
2012/13 was agreed by the board of 
directors as part of our corporate 
objectives for the year, within the 
overarching context of our quality 
framework. They have been monitored 
by the board of directors through the 
assurance framework. 

These objectives are based on the 
milestones set out in our five year 
strategy and bring together national 
policy with internal clinical priorities 
(the quality plan can be seen on  
page 29) as well as feedback from 
stakeholders (clinicians, commissioners, 
local authorities, universities and 
members of Manchester Cancer) 
obtained through our regular 
stakeholders engagement. 

The findings for the 2012/13 quality 
priorities are outlined overleaf:

Part 2: Priorities for improvement 
and statements of assurance from 
the board 

Quality priorities for 2012/13  
and 2013/14

In 2012/13 we set ourselves three 
priorities for quality improvement: 

1. Improve the quality of clinical 
correspondence to all stakeholders, 
(GPs, A&E departments) promoting 
the use of the clinical portal. 

2. Reducing patient harm by reducing 
preventable grade 2 pressure  
ulcers developed in hospital by 
50% and implementing full root 
cause analysis for grade 2, 3 and  
4 pressure ulcers.

3. Working towards implementation 
and embedding The Christie 
Supportive Care Pathway based  
on the North West End of Life  
Care Model.
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Findings

The outcome of the project was the 
development of dictation prompts for 
five stages in the patient pathway 
These five stages of the patient 
pathway are:

1. Initial assessment
2. Stopping or changing treatment
3. Conclusion of treatment and  

start of follow-up
4. Long term care plan
5. Transfer of care from The Christie  

to other teams

Core information is included in all the  
five stages that provide the GP with 
relevant information to support the 
patients’ care in the community. 

Summary 

The aim of the Clinical Correspondence 
Project was to deliver the KPIs that the 
commissioners had set. As highlighted 
above, the organisation has made 
significant improvements over the last 
12 months on the content of 
information sent to GPs and the 
timeliness of the information. The key 
aim of this project was to ensure that 
information is available for primary care 
to act on and manage patients who are 
discharged or are under the care of The 
Christie. At the end of March 2013 we 
had achieved our target of a five day 
turnaround time of discharge letters to 
GPs. The organisation has taken 
significant steps to achieve this goal 
and work will continue over the next 12 
months to embed some of the changes 
and make further improvements.

of this project was improving clinical 
correspondence and looking at ways to 
standardise the information that goes 
into correspondence sent to GPs.

Feedback was sought from GPs on 
critical information that GPs would like 
to see in clinical correspondence. The 
feedback from GPs included: 
correspondence including relevant 
information, information included on 
what has been explained to the patient 
and information on who to contact in 
an emergency. 

The steering group focused on what 
the key information that needs to be 
included in correspondence to GPs and 
when do GPs need this information. A 
list of core information was developed 
and also stages identified in the 
patient’s pathway when information 
should be sent to GPs, this was pulled 
together into a document ‘Dictation 
Prompts for Stages in the Patient 
Pathway’. 

The document was presented at the 
medical and clinical oncology 
consultants meetings and the feedback 
from the consultants was positive. 
Consultants from disease groups 
expressed an interest in piloting the 
dictation prompts. The document was 
also circulated to a number of GPs to 
gain any further feedback on the 
document, the feedback was very 
positive and the GPs looked forward  
to seeing the document being used. 
The document was reviewed by all the 
clinical directors, who approved the 
use of the dictation prompts within 
their directorates.

Indicator 1: Improve the quality  
of clinical correspondence to all 
stakeholders, (GPs, A&E 
departments) promoting the use 
of the clinical portal.

Objective

Improve the information provided to GPs.

Purpose

The Christie will demonstrate 
improvements to information flow to 
support patient management in 
primary and community settings. In 
recognition of the need to reduce or 
eliminate where possible avoidable 
readmissions. A key component to this 
is ensuring that comprehensive yet 
concise information is provided on 
treatment initiation, where there is a 
variance to treatment plan, discharge 
or for forward/survivorship planning. 

Summary of process

The initial part of the project involved 
undertaking an audit to gain a baseline 
of the standard/quality of current clinical 
correspondence that is sent to GPs. The 
audit was undertaken during Q1 2011 
and findings presented to commissioners 
at the end of Q1. The audit identified a 
number of inconsistencies across disease 
groups with the information within 
clinical correspondence sent to primary 
care; the audit also identified 
inconsistencies in the timeliness of 
correspondence being received by 
primary care stakeholders.

Following the outcome of the audit,  
a steering group was set up made up 
of clinicians and managers to discuss 
improvements that could be made to 
the information GPs receive. The focus 
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Number of patients that developed pressure damage (Grade 2)

2011/12 2012/13 Change  (reduction)
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Number of patients that developed pressure damage (Grade 2)

Ulcers per 1000  
bed days

% admitted patients that developed 
pressure damage (Grade 2)
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Indicator 2: Reducing patient harm 
by reducing preventable grade 2 
pressure ulcers developed in 
hospital by 50% and implementing 
full root cause analysis for grade 2, 
3 and 4 pressure ulcers.

The table and charts right demonstrate 
a reduction in the occurrence of grade 
2 pressure ulcers developed in hospital 
post admission by 29%. Whilst this is 
not a 50% reduction it is a significant 
improvement when taken into account 
the small numbers of occurrences 
within the Trust. There were no grade 
3 or 4 pressure ulcers within the past 
12 months and full root cause analysis 
has been carried out for every grade 2 
pressure ulcer identified.
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However, it became evident that this 
tool was not best suited to meet the 
needs of our patients, carers and staff. 
Thus other national and regional 
models were examined including Route 
to Success (DOH), Coordinate My Care 
(London), End of Life Care Pathway & 
Framework (Marie-Curie), Amber Care 
Bundle (Modernisation initiative), 
ELCQuA (National EoLC intelligence 
network) and the North West End of 
Life Care Model (Lord Darzi). 

In July 2012, agreement was reached 
with our commissioner to develop and 
implement a bespoke Christie 
Supportive Care Initiative (SCI) based 
on the North West End of Life Care 
Model that would help to improve care 
for patients approaching the end of life. 

This report highlights the project 
outline, progress and achievements at 
the end of year 1 (2012-2013).

What is end of life care?

End of life care is about the total care 
of a person with an advanced incurable 
illness and does not just equate with 
dying. The end of life care phase may 
last for weeks, months or even years. 
End of life care is defined as care that 
helps those with advanced, 
progressive, incurable illness to live as 
well as possible until they die.

Indicator 3: Working towards 
implementation and embedding 
The Christie Supportive Care 
Pathway based on The North West 
End of Life care Model

Introduction and background

The specialist palliative care team 
(SPCT) undertook a pilot in 2011 that 
demonstrated improved patient 
outcomes by earlier identification and 
appropriate management of patients 
approaching the last year of life. This 
was further supported through a three 
year CQUIN measure (2012-2015): 
improving care for patients 
approaching the end of life. 

The original CQUIN indicator suggested 
the adoption of a national end of life 
care tool, the Gold Standards 
Framework (GSF) to help improve care 
for patients approaching end of life. 

The adoption of this tool into a tertiary 
cancer centre was explored in detail 
with the National GSF team during 
April – June 2012. During this time, the 
SPCT registered on to the GSF Acute 
Hospitals programme, contributed to 
numerous national teleconferences, 
attended relevant facilitator training 
events, and met the national team to 
discuss the development of a bespoke 
model for the Christie population. 
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Education and training

A programme of training on ACP and 
the SCI has been developed, 
implemented and evaluated. A pre and 
post audit to measure the impact of 
training and joint working has 
demonstrated an improvement in the 
earlier identification of patients in the 
last 12 months of life, improved 
confidence to discuss prognosis and 
ACP with the patient and their carer, 
improved communication with the 
primary health care team, better 
understanding of Advance Care 
Planning and the use of a supportive 
care register.
 
Results 

 – between 1st October and 29th 
November 2012, 317 patients were 
screened in the UGI outpatient 
clinics and subsequently placed on 
the CSI Balance Scorecard

 – of these 317, 134 were deemed to 
be in the last year of life, 80 were 
commenced on the CSI

 – of the 134, 8 died during 1st 
October and 29th November 2012

 – of these, 5 were put on The Christie 
Supportive Care Initiative, all 
initiated by SPCT

 – of the 3 patients who were not on 
the SCI, 2 actually died whilst on 
treatment. However, all 3 were 
deemed to be in the last 12 months 
of life by the SPCT

Joint working

The SPCT began joint working with 
members of the UGI multi-disciplinary 
team (MDT) team to improve end of 
life care through the implementation of 
advance care planning (ACP) using the 
SCI. This involved active involvement in 
identifying patients in the last 12 
months of life, facilitating ACP/end of 
treatment discussions, improving 
communications across primary care 
and the delivery of targeted education 
and training for staff. 

The Christie Supportive Care 
Initiative 

The Christie Supportive Care Initiative 
(SCI) was adapted from the North 
West End of Life Care Model (Healthier 
Horizons 2008) which is a whole 
systems approach to optimise care for 
all adults with a life-limiting disease. 
The five phase model encompasses the 
recognition of need for end of life care 
through to care after death. 
The SCI identifies these five phases; 
advancing disease, increasing decline, 
last days of life, first days after death 
and bereavement. Each phase has 
prompts, agreed by the multi-
disciplinary team, to address 
anticipatory management and 
improves the quality, coordination and 
organisation of care in the last year of 
life thereby enabling patients’ wishes 
around preferred priorities for care and 
place of death to be addressed. 

The SCI is a proforma on our patient 
administration system. The paper copy 
is for educational purposes only. 

Baseline audits

The SPCT completed a ‘Lifespan by 
disease group’ analysis to inform the 
size of the population attending  
The Christie who require end of life 
care. This enabled identification of key 
disease groups that would potentially 
benefit from the implementation of 
the SCI to improve care for patients 
approaching the end of life. 

Year one focused on the upper 
gastro-intestinal (UGI) group, given  
the proportion of patients at diagnosis 
who are in the last year of life. Prior  
to implementation of the SCI, a 
retrospective baseline audit of UGI 
patients was undertaken to assess 
current practice in identification, 
communication and advance care 
planning (ACP) which showed:

 – a lack of identification of patients in 
the last year of life 

 – little opportunity for patients to 
discuss ACP, preferred priorities for 
care (PPC), preferred place of death 
(PPD)

 – no agreed care pathway/supportive 
care register 

 – poor communication with GP/
primary healthcare teams re 
patient’s prognosis/wishes
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However, there is a responsibility to 
support patients after bad news and 
seek their consent to promptly inform 
the GP and primary healthcare staff to 
enable ongoing care at home.

In order to facilitate end of treatment 
discussions and enhance ACP, a specialist 
palliative care nurse should be present in 
clinic, to deliver ongoing education and 
support for the upper GI team and to 
update the Supportive Care Initiative 
ensuring timely communications with 
primary healthcare staff. 

Recommendations

 – there needs to be a standardised 
approach for managing ACP across 
the organisation

 – the Christie Supportive Care 
Initiative has proved to be an 
effective tool

 – the initiative will be extended  
across a further five disease groups 
in years 2-3

Conclusion

The implementation of The Christie 
Supportive Care Initiative has 
demonstrated:
 – improved patient/carer experience
 – improved communication with 

consultants, GPs, community 
Macmillan teams and other primary 
healthcare staff 

 – increase in clinic staff confidence  
in asking patients about their needs 
at home 

 – feedback from clinic patients  
saying that community services are 
now in place 

It is evident through collaborative 
working that detailed ACP discussions 
are often not appropriate in the 
outpatient environment as patients/
carers are already:
 – shocked at the diagnosis and 

prognosis
 – overwhelmed with decision making 

regarding treatment options
 – distressed when told there is no 

more treatment options and
 – often there will be no follow up  

for these patients who often feel 
abandoned

Overall observations

 – there has been an improvement in 
all the five standards

 – every patient has received an offer 
of referral to specialist palliative care 
services locally

 – there has been a marked 
improvement in the identification of 
patients deemed to be the last year 
of life 

 – there is an improvement in GP 
communication

 – although 50% of patients were 
given the opportunity to be involved 
in ACP, these discussions were 
primarily facilitated by the specialist 
palliative nurse 

 – the presence of a palliative care nurse 
in the clinic allows on-the-spot 
expertise to help make decisions 
about suitable patients for the SCI, 
facilitate end of treatment discussions 
and provide ongoing education to all 
new and existing staff 

 – proactive ACP does not occur in the 
absence of specialist palliative care

 – ongoing active input in the clinics 
from the specialist palliative care team 
is needed to sustain quality ACP



28

During 2011/12 the Trust carried out a 
wide consultation on the vision for 
cancer care and treatment in 2020. The 
subsequent strategy was launched at 
our Annual General Meeting in 
September 2012. The consultation 
sought the views of our members, 
governors, our staff, our patients and 
the wider public as well as health and 
social care and Higher Education 
Institutes, their responses were 
formulated into the strategy document 
which can be seen at www.christie.nhs.
uk/about-the-christie/2020.aspx 

The 20:20 strategy has four themes 
those of:
 – leading cancer care   
 – The Christie experience
 – local & specialist care
 – best outcomes

From these themes and from the 
quality plan three quality objectives 
have been chosen and these have 
taken account of the comments of our 
staff, our patients and the public.

Our key quality objectives for 2013/14 
are as follows:

1. Development of the clinical 
outcomes unit

2. Meeting the CQUINS requirement 
for the friends and family test

3. Reducing further patient harm by 
reducing the number of inpatients 
who fall by 20% and ensuring a 
full root cause analysis is carried 
out 

Development of the clinical 
outcomes unit

Why we chose this indicator
The provision of outcome data that 
demonstrates the efficacy of the 
cancer treatment our patients receive 
has been identified by our clinicians 
and supported by our patients as a 
development they would like to see 
introduced. Making our data on 
outcomes of treatments available to 
the public was one of our pledges 
from our 20:20 strategy.
 
What are we going to do?
The Trust has developed a programme 
of work for extracting our data of 
treatment outcomes. We will publish 
outcome data for two disease groups 
by March 2014. We will confirm the 
two disease groups following 
discussions at our clinical outcomes 
group and endorse this with our board 
of directors.

How will this be reported?
The data will be reported through our 
clinical outcome group, presented to 
the board of directors and then 
published on our external website.

Meeting the CQUINS requirement 
for the friends and family test

Why we chose this indicator
The friends and family test is one of 
the quality improvement areas that 
have been identified nationally for all 
hospitals to put into practice. Here at 
The Christie we have for the last three 
years carried out a 200 patient survey 
on a monthly basis and for the last year 
we have asked our 200 patients 
sampled whether they would 
recommend The Christie to their family 

and friends. This national requirement 
has provided us with an opportunity to 
undertake this work in a different way 
to meet our pledge to our patients in 
the 20:20 strategy when we said we 
would continue to ensure that patients 
can receive an excellent experience 
throughout their illness and wherever 
our services are provided.

What are we going to do? 
We have developed a text messaging 
service with a company so that 
patients who agree to do so will 
receive a text message within 48 hours 
of discharge asking them to complete 
the friends and family test question 
and give us feedback about their 
inpatient stay here at The Christie.

Target
The CQUINS requirement is that we 
increase our coverage over the year of 
sending out text messages to our 
patients by 30%, increase our 
response rate by 40% over the year 
and ensure our score is within the top 
quartile nationally.

How will this be reported?
The Patient Experience Committee is 
responsible for the monitoring of this 
indicator and the performance team is 
responsible for ensuring it is reported 
through the monthly integrated 
performance and quality report. The 
data will also be available publically on 
The Christie website from June 2013.

 

Quality accounts
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Improving patient harm by 
reducing the number of inpatients 
who fall by 20% and ensuring a 
full root cause analysis is carried 
out

Why we chose this indicator
As part of the quality plan for 2013/14 
(see diagram) it has been recognised 
that we should reduce the numbers of 
patients who fall whilst they are 
inpatients on our wards. During 
2012/13 through the CQUINS 
programme we achieved a 10% 
reduction in inpatient falls and there is 
a commitment to reduce the number 
of falls further in 2013/14.

What are we going to do?
Our falls group have developed a range 
of targeted actions in order to help and 
support our wards in delivering the 
reduction in patient falls and this 
includes such things as the use of low 
beds, medication reviews and full root 
cause analysis of the fall so that lessons 
can be learned. All of the quality 
improvements will be captured in the 
falls project document.

Target
The target is that 20% fewer patients 
will have fallen during their inpatient 
stay based on the 2012/13 baseline.

How will this be reported?
The Patient Safety Committee is 
responsible for the monitoring of this 
indicator and the performance team is 
responsible for ensuring it is reported 
through the monthly integrated 
performance and quality report. The 
data will also be available publically on 
The Christie website from June 2013.

Quality plan 2013/14

 – Organisational development strategy
 – Fair blame culture
 – Staff engagement
 – Patient engagement
 – Quality rounds

Leadership and 
culture

Delivering 
the  

20:20 vision

Ensuring high 
quality care by 
reducing harm; 

improving patient 
experience  

and providing  
safe, reliable, 
effective care.

 – Patient experience kite mark
 – Productive ward rounds
 – Delivery of outcomes unit
 – Evidence based care reviews
 – Falls collaborative

Quality incentives

 – Annual outcomes report
 – Ward metrics
 – Mortality reviews
 – HCAI
 – Programme management office

Using data to 
show best 
outcomes

 – Leadership development programme
 – Developing staff in Quality Improvement
 – Recruiting in-line with OD strategy

Workforce 
development
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The Christie has reviewed all the data 
available to them on the quality of care 
in all 12 of these relevant health services. 
This takes place through monthly 
performance reviews and at our 
Management Board and Risk and Quality 
Governance committee. The board of 
directors review the information each 
month and annually spends a day 
undertaking an in-depth review of all 
services. External review of our surgical 
services and critical care unit (CCU) took 
place during 2012/13. The outcome of 
both external reviews was positive. 

The income generated by the relevant 
health services reviewed in 2012/13 
represents 100% of the total income 
generated from the provision of 
relevant health services by The Christie 
for 2012/13.

The data reviewed covers the three 
dimensions of quality – patient safety, 
clinical effectiveness and patient 
experience. 

Statements of assurance from  
the board

Review of services

During 2012/13 The Christie provided 
12 relevant health services:

1. Critical care
2. Haematology and transplantation
3. Surgery
4. Endocrinology
5. Clinical oncology
6. Medical oncology
7. Chemotherapy
8. Radiotherapy including IMRT  

and IGRT
9. Young oncology
10. Radiology
11. Pathology
12. Christie medical physics engineers
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The national clinical audits and national 
confidential enquiries that The Christie 
participated in, and for which data 
collection was completed during 
2012/13, are listed below alongside the 
number of cases submitted to each 
audit or enquiry as a percentage of the 
number of registered cases required by 
the terms of that audit or enquiry. 

The reports of nine national clinical 
audits were reviewed by the provider in 
2012/13 and The Christie intends to 
take the following actions to improve 
the quality of healthcare provided (see 
appendix 1 for actions). 

The reports of 99 local clinical audits 
were reviewed by the provider  in 
2012/13 and The Christie intends to 
take the following actions to improve 
the quality of healthcare provided  
(see appendix 2 for actions).

Participation in clinical audits and national confidential enquiries

During 2012/13, nine national clinical audits and one national confidential enquiry 
covered relevant health services that The Christie provides. 

During 2012/13 The Christie participated in 100% national clinical audits and 
100% of the national confidential enquiries which it was eligible to participate in. 

The national clinical audits and national confidential enquiries that The Christie 
was eligible and participated in during 2012/13 are as follows: 

1. NBOCAP – National bowel cancer audit 
2. LUCADA – Lung cancer data audit 
3. DAHNO – National head and neck cancer audit 
4. NAOGC – National oesophageal cancer audit (AUGIS) 
5. ICNARC – Intensive Care National Audit and Research Centre Case  

Mix Programme 
6. NCAA – National Cardiac Arrest Audit 
7. NCABT (MURBC) – National Comparative Audit Blood Transfusion – medical 

use of red blood cells 
8. NCABT (BSL) – National comparative blood audit – audit of blood sampling 

and labelling 
9. BTS (EUO) – British Thoracic Society – emergency use of oxygen 
10. NCEPOD – cardiac arrest 

Numbers submitted 
(eligible)

Percentage of 
eligible submitted

NBOCAP 51 (51) 100%

LUCADA 892 (892) 100%

DAHNO 175 (175) 100%

NAOGC 339 (339) 100%

ICNARC 257 (257) 100%

NCAA 10 (10) 100%

NCABT (MURBC) 44 (44) 100%

NCABT (BSL) 21 (21) 100%

BTS (EUO) 19 (19) 100%

NCPOD (CA) Report only this period -
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Quality goals and the CQUIN 
framework 

A proportion of The Christie’s income 
in 2012/13 was conditional upon 
achieving quality improvement and 
innovation goals agreed between The 
Christie and any person or body they 
entered into a contract, agreement or 
arrangement with for the provision of 
relevant health services, through the 
Commissioning for Quality and 
Innovation payment framework.  
Further details of the agreed goals for 
2012/13 and for the following 12 
month period are available online at:  
www.monitor-nhsft.gov.uk.

The total amount of income in 2012/13 
that The Christie received which was 
conditional upon achieving the CQUIN 
goals was £3,074,413. In 2011/12 the 
total amount of income that The 
Christie NHS Foundation Trust received 
which was conditional upon achieving 
the CQUIN goals was £1,785,340.

Participation in clinical research

The Christie has a long history of 
supporting research; this was 
recognised in 2007 with the creation  
of the Research Division. The Christie 
hosts the Greater Manchester and 
Cheshire Cancer Research Network 
(GMCCRN) which serves a population 
of 3.2 million. This is the largest cancer 
research network in the country; the 
success of research is demonstrated by 
continued high recruitment of patients 
into clinical trials. 

The number of patients receiving 
relevant health services provided or 
sub-contracted by The Christie NHS 
Foundation Trust in 2012/13 that were 
recruited during that period to 
participate in research approved by a 
research ethics committee was 2115. In 
addition, the Greater Manchester 
Cheshire Cancer Research Network 
have recruited the most patients so far 
to National Institute of Health Research 
(NIHR) cancer portfolio studies during 
2012/13.
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Category Quality Requirement Threshold / 
Compliance Criteria

Reporting 
Frequency / 
Implementation 
Date

Performance 
(End of  
Mar 13)

National 
CQUINS

VTE Risk Assessments 90% Monthly 95.95%

Patient 
Experience

National Inpatient Survey 82.70% Findings reported 
in April 2013

83.9% 
Compliant

Dementia

Screening 90% by Q4 Monthly 90%

Risk Assessments 90% per month Monthly 100%

Specialist referrals 90% per month Monthly 100%

Safety 
Thermometer

Monthly Audit 95.00% Monthly 96.00%

Regional 
CQUINS

Dementia
Patient experience survey Survey + Action Plan End of Q4 Compliant

Planned discharge date analysis RCA of breaches Monthly Compliant

Patient Harm

VTE Risk Assessments 95% by Q4 Quarterly 95.73%

VTE Incidences Reduction Monthly Compliant

Tissue Viability Risk Assessments 95% by Q4 Quarterly 95.20%

Tissue Viability Care Plans 95% by Q4 Quarterly 97.70%

Pressure Ulcer Incidences <5% Admissions Monthly 0.29%

Pressure Ulcer RCAs 95% by Q4 Quarterly 100%

Patient Falls Baseline Reduction Monthly Compliant

Patient Falls Assessments 95% by Q4 Quarterly 95.33%

Patient Falls Care Plan 95% by Q4 Quarterly 98.66%

Patient Falls RCAs 95% by Q4 Quarterly 98.33%

Urinary Catheters Risk Assessments 95% by Q4 Quarterly 96.98%

Urinary Catheters Care Plans 95% by Q4 Quarterly 95.25%

Urinary Catheters Infection Free Rates 95% by Q4 Quarterly 98.27%

Urinary Catheters Infection RCAs 95% by Q4 Quarterly 100.00%

Leadership Hospital Walkrounds 12 per annum Monthly Compliant

Patient Stories 1 presentation per 
board meeting

Monthly Compliant

Public Health

Health Inequalities Training for frontline staff 75% Cumulative Q4 Monthly 77.95%

Smoking Status data collection 85% Q4 in agreed 
settings

Quarterly 98%

Smoking Cessation Referrals 85% Q4 of identified 
patients in agreed 
settings

Quarterly 98%

Alcohol Abuse Identification 85% Q4 in agreed 
settings

Quarterly 98%

Alcohol advice 85% Q4 of identified 
patients in agreed 
settings

Quarterly 100%

Fuel Poverty – referrals to energy saving 
services

120 referrals for 12/13 Cumulative 199

Radiotherapy Increase access to IMRT 33% Monthly 48%

Transplants Implement Clinical Dashboards Dashboards implemented

Local 
CQUINS

Survivorship Implement steps/projects to assist patients 
with care and support post treatment Commissioner signoff Quarterly Compliant

Acute 
Oncology

Co-ordination of pathways between local/
acute providers

Commissioner signoff Quarterly CompliantProvide best patient outcomes

Improve quality of care

End of Life Adopt gold standard framework Commissioner signoff Quarterly Compliant

* Some March/Q4 data is subject to validation 
** VTE for March Q4 is a projection – official upload end of April
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The inspectors reviewed 8 outcomes: 

Outcome 1 Respecting and involving people 
who use services

 Met this standard

Outcome 2 Consent to care and treatment  Met this standard

Outcome 4 Care and welfare of people who 
use services

 Met this standard

Outcome 6 Co-operating with other providers  Met this standard

Outcome 7 Safeguarding people who use 
services from abuse

 Met this standard

Outcome 13 Staffing  Met this standard

Outcome 14 Supporting workers  Met this standard

Outcome 17 Complaints  Met this standard

The judgment was made by talking to staff and patients on wards 4, 10, 12,  
the young oncology unit and reviewing patient records.

Care Quality Commission 

The Christie NHS Foundation Trust is 
required to register with the Care 
Quality Commission (CQC) and its 
current registration status is registered 
to provide diagnostic and screening 
procedures, treatment of disease, 
disorder or injury and assessment or 
medical treatment for persons detained 
under the Mental Health Act 1983.  
The Christie NHS Foundation Trust has 
no current conditions on registration.

The Care Quality Commission has not 
taken enforcement action against The 
Christie NHS Foundation Trust during 
2012/13.

The Christie NHS Foundation Trust has 
not participated in any special reviews 
or investigations by the CQC during the 
reporting period.

The Christie is subject to periodic 
reviews by the Care Quality 
Commission and the last review was  
an unannounced inspection on 10th 
January 2013. The purpose of the visit 
was to assess how the organisation is 
meeting the essential standards of 
quality & safety.
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The assessors reported on several 
factors which demonstrated what 
worked well in the Trust:

 – the assessors were greeted by 
friendly and competent reception 
staff at both Oak Road Treatment 
Centre and the main reception

 – members of the executive team 
were on hand to welcome the 
assessors and introduce the 
organisation

 – ward & departmental staff were 
friendly, open and approachable

 – the assessors were provided with a 
pack of ‘additional evidence’ to take 
away with them on the day, 
demonstrating a well organised and 
prepared organisation

The formal report noted compliance against all 8 outcomes and showed the 
following results: 

Outcome 1
respecting and 
involving

Patients' privacy, dignity and independence were 
respected. Patients' views and experiences were taken into 
account in the way the service was provided and delivered 
in relation to their care.

Outcome 2
consent

Before patients received any care or treatment they were 
asked for their consent and the provider acted in 
accordance with their wishes. Where patients did not have 
the capacity to consent, the provider acted in accordance 
with legal requirements.

Outcome 4 
care and welfare

Patients experienced care, treatment and support that met 
their needs and protected their rights.

Outcome 6
co-operating with 
other providers

Patients' health, safety and welfare was protected when 
more than one provider was involved in their care and 
treatment, or when they moved between different 
services. This was because the provider worked in co-
operation with others.

Outcome 7
safeguarding

Patients were protected from the risk of abuse, because 
the provider had taken reasonable steps to identify the 
possibility of abuse and prevent abuse from happening.

Outcome 13
staffing

There were enough qualified, skilled and experienced staff 
to meet patients' needs.

Outcome 14 
supporting 
workers

Patients were cared for by staff who were supported to 
deliver care and treatment safely and to an appropriate 
standard.

Outcome 17
complaints

There was an effective complaints system available. 
Comments and complaints people made were responded 
to appropriately.
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Data quality 

The Christie submitted records during 2012/13 to the secondary uses service 
(SUS) for inclusion in the hospital episode statistics which are included in the 
latest published data:

% of records in 
published data 
which included 
the patient’s valid 
NHS number

% of records in 
published data which 
included the patient’s 
valid general practitioner 
registration code

Admitted patient care 99.9% 100%

Outpatient care 99.8% 100%

Accident and emergency care Not applicable Not applicable

Data quality key achievements for 2012/13

 – weekly data quality reporting continuous 
 – clinical outcomes group initiative – clinical outcomes unit business case 

approved and fully resourced as of April 2013 to progress this initiative further. 
Approx 50% of new referrals are already being captured by the clinicians 
through the innovative web forms

 
Information governance

The Christie NHS Foundation Trust’s information governance assessment report 
overall score for 2012/13 was 80% and was graded as green.
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Payment by Results 

The Christie NHS Foundation Trust was subject to the Payment by Results (PbR) 
clinical coding audit during the reporting period by the Audit Commission and 
the error rates reported in the latest published audit for that period for diagnoses 
and treatment coding (clinical coding) were:

2011/12 % Correct

Primary diagnosis 94.0%

Secondary diagnosis 97.8%

Primary procedure 93.6%

Secondary procedure 95.8%

2012/13 % Correct

Primary diagnosis 79.5%

Secondary diagnosis 93.0%

Primary procedure 94.2%

Secondary procedure 95.4%

The above results were based on a sample size of 200 sets of casenotes relating 
to 200 finished consultant episodes (FCEs).  The split of patients looked at was 
apportioned across three different specialties as follows:

 – 100 FCE’s – endocrinology
 – 50 FCE’s – gynaecology
 – 50 FCE’s – urology

 
It is imperative that the audit results should not be extrapolated further than the 
sample audited. 

The Christie NHS Foundation Trust will be taking the following actions to improve 
data quality:

 – ensure clear recording of chemotherapy information for patients staying overnight
 – ensure the general condition of the casenotes is kept at a high standard
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Summary of core quality Indicators

NHS Outcomes Framework Indicator The Christie 
performance 
2011/12

The Christie 
performance 
2012/13

National 
average 
(2012)

National 
Highest/ 
lowest

The value and banding of the 
summary hospital-level mortality 
indicator (“SHMI”)

Preventing people 
from dying 
prematurely

Not applicable to The Christie as this is a tertiary centre
The percentage of patient deaths 
with palliative care coded at either 
diagnosis or specialty level

Enhancing quality of 
life for people with 
long-term conditions

The Christie NHS Foundation Trust considers that this indicator is not applicable to the Trust as all our patients have a cancer diagnosis and are not part 
of the inclusion criteria.

NHS Outcomes Framework Indicator The Christie 
performance 
2011/12

The Christie 
performance 
2012/13

National 
average 
(2012)

National 
Highest/ 
lowest

The Trust’s responsiveness to the 
personal needs of its patients

Ensuring that people 
have a positive 
experience of care

82.7% 83.9% 68.1%
(CQC data)

2012
data not 
available on 
HSCIC 
website

The Christie NHS Foundation Trust considers that this data is as described for the following reasons: to show the 
percentage of patients receiving a good experience of care whilst under the care of The Christie. 
The Christie NHS Foundation Trust intends to take the following actions to improve this percentage and so the quality  
of its services, by continuing to monitor compliance to the above target and to take any remedial action if required. 

NHS Outcomes Framework Indicator The Christie 
performance 
2011/12

The Christie 
performance 
2012/13

National 
average

National 
Highest/ 
lowest

The percentage of staff employed 
by, or under contract to, the Trust 
who would recommend the trust  
as a provider of care to their family 
or friends

Ensuring that people 
have a positive 
experience of care

90% 93% 87%
(CQC data)

2012
data not 
available on 
HSCIC 
website

The Christie NHS Foundation Trust considers that this data is as described for the following reasons: to show the 
percentage of staff who would recommend The Christie as an organisation that provides good quality care for their 
family or friends. 
The Christie NHS Foundation Trust intends to take the following actions to improve this percentage and so the quality  
of its services, by continuing to monitor compliance to the above target and to take any remedial action if required.
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NHS Outcomes Framework Indicator The Christie 
performance 
2011/12

The Christie 
performance 
2012/13

National 
average 
(2012)

National 
Highest/ 
lowest

Percentage of patients who were 
admitted to hospital and who were 
risk assessed for venous 
thromboembolism

Treating and caring 
for people in a safe 
environment and 
protecting them from 
avoidable harm

93.7% 93.5% 93.8%
(based on 
Q1-Q3 on 
UNIFY

2012
data not 
available on 
HSCIC 
website

The Christie NHS Foundation Trust considers that this data is as described for the following reasons: to show the 
percentage of patients admitted to The Christie that have had a full risk assessment of venous thromboembolism. 
The Christie NHS Foundation Trust intends to take the following actions to improve this percentage and so the quality  
of its services, by continuing to monitor compliance to the above target and to take any remedial action if required. 

NHS Outcomes Framework Indicator The Christie 
performance 
2011/12

The Christie 
performance 
2012/13

National 
average 
(2012)

National 
Highest/ 
lowest

Rate per 100,000 bed days of cases 
of C.difficile infection reported 
within the trust amongst patients 
aged 2 or over. 

Treating and caring 
for people in a safe 
environment and 
protecting them from 
avoidable harm

5.99 13.9 21.8 2012
data not 
available on 
HSCIC 
website

The Christie NHS Foundation Trust considers that this data is as described for the following reasons: to show the rate of c. 
difficile infection reported at The Christie and that they are kept at a minimum and below our agreed set trajectory. 
The Christie NHS Foundation Trust intends to take the following actions to improve this percentage and so the quality of 
its services, by continuing to monitor compliance to the above target and to take any remedial action if required.
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NHS Outcomes Framework Indicator The Christie 
performance 
2011/12

The Christie 
performance 
2012/13

National 
average 
(2012)

National 
Highest/ 
lowest

The number and, where available, 
rate of patient safety incidents 
reported within the trust, and 

The number and percentage of such 
patient safety incidents that resulted 
in severe harm or death

Treating and caring 
for people in a safe 
environment and 
protecting them from 
avoidable harm

3105 
incidences

1 incident
0.032%

2349* 
incidences

2 incidents
0.085%

701147 
incidences 

1.0%

2012
data not 
available on 
HSCIC 
website

*This data is subject to validation prior to submission to the NRLS.
The Christie NHS Foundation Trust considers that this data is as described for the following reasons: to record the 
incidences of patient safety, the rate of incidences and the percentage of severe harm or death of patient safety 
incidences within The Christie.  
The Christie NHS Foundation Trust intends to take the following actions to improve this percentage and so the quality  
of its services, by continuing to monitor compliance to the above target and to take any remedial action if required. 

NHS Outcomes Framework Indicator The Christie 
performance 
2011/12

The Christie 
performance 
2012/13

National 
average

National 
Highest/ 
lowest

The Trusts patient reported outcome 
measures scores for:
i. groin hernia surgery
ii. varicose vein surgery
iii. hip replacement surgery
knee replacement surgery

Helping people to 
recover from 
episodes of ill health  
or following injury

This is not applicable to The Christie as we are a specialist 
cancer hospital

The percentage of patients aged:
i. 0 to 14
ii. 15 or over
Readmitted to a hospital which 
forms part of the trust within  
28 days of being discharged  
from hospital which forms part  
of the trust

Helping people to 
recover from 
episodes of ill health  
or following injury This is not applicable to The Christie as we are a specialist 

cancer hospital
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This section of our quality accounts 
draws on monthly performance reports 
and includes additional annual 
indicators for which annual reporting is 
appropriate. The data is drawn from 
regular surveys, audits or routine data 
systems that have been established to 
provide a focus on and assurance 
about quality of care. 

Board of Directors Commissioned 
Reviews of Clinical Services

The Board in assuring itself of the 
delivery of high quality clinical 
outcomes and services commissioned 
two independent expert clinical 
assessments of our critical care and 
surgical services in 2012/13. The 
outcomes are as follows: 

 – Critical Care 
The Royal College of Anaesthetists 
report gave formal support for the 
critical care service and was 
supportive of our development plans 
to reduce critical care transers to 
other hospitals by establishing our 
level 3 (oncology intensive care) 
service.  The report makes some 
recommendations which are being 
implemented. The report was 
considered by the board at its 
October 2012 meeting and all 
actions were complete by March 
2013.

 – Surgical Services 
The external review of the surgical 
services at the Trust was carried out 
by three experts who confirmed 
that the surgical care carried out on 
this site is safe, effective and gives 
an outstanding patient experience.

The board’s Quality Assurance 
Committee is responsible for providing 
board assurance on these issues. 
Reports on quality of care are made to 
the council of governors meetings and 
a governor sub-committee on quality 
receives reports and assurance of the 
quality work of the Trust. The 
governors own one of the quality 
indicators and the one chosen for this 
financial year is improve the quality of 
clinical correspondence to all 
stakeholders, (GPs A&E department) 
promoting the use of the clinical portal. 
The executive team regularly reviews 
the quality of care within the hospital 
through visits to clinical areas, through 
a programme of executive walk 
rounds. Non-executives and governors 
also undertake regular visits to clinical 
areas to see at first hand the quality of 
care and environment and to hear 
directly from patients about their 
experience of the hospital.  

Part 3: Review of quality 
performance in 2012/13

Introduction

In February 2009 The Christie adopted 
a framework for quality reporting  
(see diagram) which provides the 
framework for monthly quality 
accounts reporting as part of our 
regular performance reports and this 
annual document. The board of 
directors believes that quality of care 
should, where possible, be reported 
and scrutinised frequently so that 
adverse trends can be identified early. 

The monthly quality accounts for the 
Trust as a whole are reviewed at the 
management board with key senior 
clinical leaders, as well as the directors 
of research and education. Quality 
accounts for individual divisions are 
reviewed as part of the regular 
performance review meetings with the 
executive team. Any matters of 
concern are followed up either through 
the divisional meetings or through the 
risk and quality governance committee. 
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i) One day every patient

As part of our quality initiatives we are committed to providing high quality care 
for all our patients. The Trust carries out an annual survey in August asking all 
inpatients who are able to take part to answer five questions that are taken from 
the Care Quality Commission inpatient survey. The patients are then asked to 
comment on the quality of care and treatment they are receiving, what we do well 
and where we can improve, if we care for patients in line with the Trust values and 
whether they would recommend The Christie to their family and friends. 

The one day every patient survey provides a snapshot of patients’ experiences and 
helps the organisation to gain a better understanding of what matters most to our 
patients. The results from the 2012 event are shown against the 2011 results. In 
August 2012, 102 out of a potential 173 inpatients took part in the event.

Standard Aug 2012  
N = 102

Aug 2011  
N = 92



Were you involved as much as you wanted 
to be in decisions about your care and 
treatment? (% Yes definitely)

87/101 
(86%)

76/91  
(84%)



Did you find someone on the hospital staff 
to talk to about your worries or fears?  
(% Yes definitely)

75/92  
(82%)

72/84 
(86%)



Were you given enough privacy when 
discussing your condition or treatment?  
(% Yes always)

88/99  
(89%)

81/92  
(88%)



Did a member of staff tell you about 
medication side effects to watch out for 
when you went home? (% Yes completely)

56/82  
(68%)

56/69  
(81%)



Did hospital staff tell you who to contact if 
you were worried about your condition or 
treatment after you left hospital? (% Yes)

80/84  
(95%)

81/82  
(99%)



Overall average across all five 
measures above

386/458 
(84%)

366/418 
(81%)




100% of patients advised that they would recommend The Christie to their family 
and friends and this was supported by statements such as: 

 – “Can ask for anything, nothing too much trouble, treated as an individual”
 – “Feel at ease, at home, safe, cared for”
 – “Staff are cheerful, happy, smiling and friendly”

Areas for improvement as an outcome of the survey are developed into an action 
plan and are monitored through the patient experience committee.

Patient experience

Satisfaction levels with care provided at 
The Christie are extremely high and all 
our efforts are directed towards 
ensuring the best possible experience 
for patients at a time of enormous 
stress and worry for them and their 
families. In 2012/13 we were one of 
the top five rated trusts nationally for 
overall quality of care in the national 
inpatient survey.  

We take enormous pride in our 
environment and have received 
excellent ratings in the 2012/13 annual 
Patient Environment Action Team 
(PEAT) environmental inspection. We 
are highly rated in surveys for 
respecting our patients’ privacy and 
dignity.  

We place particular emphasis on the 
feedback received directly from 
patients and their families whether that 
be through our own patient surveys, 
complaints, the results of national 
surveys or other mechanisms. 
Some examples of patient experience 
feedback are outlined right:
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ii) Patient experience stories to the board

Throughout 2012/13 the board of directors were given presentations by clinicians 
and patients on specific cancer related subjects and the impacts these have on 
patients. There were 10 presentations which are outlined below: 

Month Title Presented by

April Surgery at The Christie 
Patient story from ward 10

Mr Malcolm Wilson
Consultant Surgeon

May A personal reflection:  
What good care looks like

Patient’s story

June Colon cancer and further  
metastases and treatments

Dr Mark Saunders
Clinical Oncologist

July The Christie’s role in reducing diagnostic 
delays for children with cancer

Dr Martin McCabe
Paediatric Oncologist

September Dementia at the Christie –  
treating the person behind the cancer

Dr Tania Hawthorn
Consultant in  
psycho-oncology

October Clinical guidance and how we deal with it Dr Ed Smith
Clinical Oncologist

November Breast cancer fertility issues Dr Anne Armstrong       
Medical Oncologist

January Peer review at The Christie Ms Marie Hosey
Head of Performance

February New horizons for myeloid leukaemia: 
from bench to bedside

Dr Tim Somerville
Honorary Consultant  
in Haematology

March Central venous access –  
recent developments

Dr Jeremy Lawrance
Consultant Radiologist
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iv) National inpatient survey 2012

The Christie has again received 
excellent results in the annual inpatient 
survey by the Care Quality 
Commission, sustaining and building 
on last year’s successes. We have 
performed better than most other 
trusts in all of our section scores and 3 
of the 10 section scores achieved the 
highest score. 

Patients were asked to rate their overall 
experience of care and the Trust scored 
a very high score of 8.9, the lowest 
score by any Trust was 7.2 and the 
highest achieved was 9.0.

For 48 questions we scored better than 
most other trusts and for 10 questions 
we performed the same. There were 
no questions where our performance 
was worse than expected.

iii) Senior nurse walk rounds

The Trust during 2012/13 had a 
programme of senior nurse walk 
rounds where senior nurses in the  
Trust reviewed the clinical wards and 
departments against the fundamental 
aspects of nursing care. The walk 
rounds involved reviewing the health 
records to check for evidence of patient 
assessment, personalised care plans, 
timely review of care provided and 
evaluation of the outcomes of care. 
The reviews involved the patients and 
they were asked to describe the plan  
of care they were receiving and to 
describe how they were involved in 
agreeing the plan of care.

The fundamental aspects of care that 
were reviewed were:

 – Pressure ulcer care
 – Privacy and dignity of care
 – Nutrition
 – Hygiene
 – Oral care
 – Continence
 – Safeguarding 
 – Medicines management

The outcomes of the reviews were 
captured and the areas of good practice 
were shared and where improvements 
were required these were developed 
into an action plan which the ward sister 
was responsible for.

From April 2013 the senior nurse walk 
rounds will be replaced by quality 
rounds which will be multi-professional.
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For four questions the scores were 
statistically significantly higher than  
the previous year’s score:

 – Patient feelings about length of time 
on the waiting list

 – Getting answers that patients could 
understand

 – Length of time to get help after 
using call button

 – Being told how to take medication 
in an understandable way

Three of these outcomes were the 
subject of targeted action planning 
following the last inpatient survey. 

Against the general background of 
demonstrable high standards of patient 
experience we have included three 
indicators of patient experience: 
satisfaction as assessed through 
monthly patient surveys, complaints and 
on-the-day waiting times, as these are 
key areas that we wish to monitor and 
improve on. These indicators have been 
selected as they monitor our number 
one objective of providing the best 
possible care and they also reflect the 
key concerns of the staff, the board of 
directors, our governors and members. 

Results

850 patients who had a stay of at least one night in June, July or August 2012 
were invited to take part. 541 patients responded, giving an overall response rate 
of 68% against a national response rate of 51%. 

The results are set out in ten sections of which 9 are relevant to the Trust and we are 
viewed as better in all of the sections.

S1. The Emergency/A&E Department (answered 
by emergency patients only) 0 2 4 6 8 101 3 5 7 9

S2. Waiting list and planned admissions 
(answered by those referred to hospital) 0 2 4 6 8 101 3 5 7 9

S3. Waiting to get to a bed on a ward
0 2 4 6 8 101 3 5 7 9

S4. The hospital and ward
0 2 4 6 8 101 3 5 7 9

S5. Doctors
0 2 4 6 8 101 3 5 7 9

S6. Nurses
0 2 4 6 8 101 3 5 7 9

S7. Care and treatment
0 2 4 6 8 101 3 5 7 9

S8. Operations and procedures (answered by 
patients who had an operation or procedure) 0 2 4 6 8 101 3 5 7 9

S9. Leaving hospital
0 2 4 6 8 101 3 5 7 9

S10. Overall views and experiences
0 2 4 6 8 101 3 5 7 9

For 13 questions we achieved the highest score and these were for: 

 – Cleanliness of hospital room or ward
 – Patient not feeling threatened while in hospital
 – Doctors talking in front of patients as though they weren’t there
 – Getting understandable answers to questions from nurses
 – Nurses talking in front of patients as though they weren’t there
 – Staff doing everything to help control pain
 – Explanations about risks and benefits of the operation or procedure
 – Explanations about what would be done during the operation or procedure
 – Patient being told how they would feel after operation or procedure
 – Explanations about how the operation or procedure had gone
 – Explanations about medication side effects to watch for when at home
 – Being told how to take medication in a way patient could understand
 – Overall being treated with respect and dignity
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The graphs below show our national patient experience scores for 2012.  As the 
data shows the performance of The Christie NHS Foundation Trust is considerably 
higher when benchmarked against the national average.  The Christie NHS 
Foundation Trust is also within the top section of trusts for performance when 
benchmarked against other trusts within the Strategic Health Authority.

Responsiveness to inpatients’ personal needs  
National patient experience indicator tool

Viewing your 2012 scores from CQC survey data 
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Nationally published data shows that whilst one year survival rates (proxy for 
stage at presentation) in Greater Manchester are slightly lower than the national 
average five year survival rates (proxy for treatment quality) are not statistically 
different from the national average. 

We work in a part of the country where many people have poor general health 
including, for example, a higher rate of smoking related diseases such as cancer. 
In some parts of our cancer network general practitioner and diagnostic services 
have been weak and it is only in the last five years that the type of specialist 
diagnostic and initial treatment teams that are needed for effective, early 
treatment have been formed. We, therefore tend to see patients for treatment 
whose cancer is at a more advanced stage or who have other illnesses such as 
heart disease which prevents them from receiving the most effective, but 
potentially dangerous treatment. 

These factors show up in the one year survival rates published nationally and 
summarised in the table. They are a recognised proxy for timeliness of 
presentation and diagnosis.

One-year relative survival rates for all malignant neoplasms excluding 
non-melanoma skin cancer, 2005-2009

Male (%) Female (%) All (%)

England 68.3 72.4 70.3

Greater Manchester and Cheshire 66.3 69.4 67.8

Lancashire and South Cumbria 66.0 70.4 68.2

Merseyside and Cheshire 67.1 70.4 68.7

Source: UKCIS, 2013

Our aim is to provide leadership within Greater Manchester and Cheshire to 
improve awareness of cancer symptoms and to support earlier local diagnosis,  
for example through supporting screening programmes.

Clinical audit and outcomes

National and local clinical audits show 
that the care provided by The Christie is 
effective in prolonging life and reducing 
the pain and distress associated with 
cancer and its treatment.

As described in our 2011/12 quality 
accounts outcomes such as mortality 
and complication rates after complex 
urological surgery, complex 
gynaecological surgery and complex 
colorectal surgery at The Christie have 
been reported to the board of directors 
and when published have set 
international benchmarks for standards 
of care. Similarly outcomes of 
radiotherapy and chemotherapy for 
specific cancer types have shown care 
at The Christie to be of international 
standard. These results are published in 
professional journals and discussed at 
the Trust’s regular mortality and 
morbidity meetings. 

The board of directors receives a 
monthly presentation from a clinician 
describing a patient’s story including 
the outcomes and effectiveness of the 
care that they provide. The board of 
directors also receives summary reports 
on the outcome measures. Reports are 
discussed at the quarterly morbidity 
and mortality meetings with the 
technical reports available to board 
members if required. 
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As the cancer centre we have a 
responsibility to lead improvements in 
cancer services across Greater 
Manchester and Cheshire and while 
both one year and five year survival 
rates are the result of many factors 
other than the services provided by  
The Christie, they are influenced by our 
services. We have the opportunity to 
support efforts at cancer prevention 
and earlier detection, as well as 
ensuring rapid diagnosis and referral 
when needed. 

Demonstrating that our treatments are 
effective is very important, as is 
demonstrating our contribution to 
improvements in cancer care across 
Greater Manchester and Cheshire. We 
have selected three indicators: the 
coverage of our clinical audit 
programme, examples of outcome 
data available and patient safety. 

The table shows that for all cancer 
types the five year survival figures in 
Greater Manchester are similar to those 
for England as a whole. Differences 
between the figures do not reach 
statistical significance.

Our aim here is to work with the 
providers in Greater Manchester and 
Cheshire to ensure effective diagnostic, 
treatment and referral pathways to The 
Christie and to ensure, through our 
clinical audit and other mechanisms 
that the treatment we provide meets 
best evidence-based practice 
guidelines. 

Five year relative survival – common causes 2001-2005

Cancer site Persons (%)

England GMCCN

Prostate 84.2 83.3

Bladder 55.5 55.5

Female Breast 84.4 84.2

Ovary 41.5 45.9

Cervix 69.5 65.6

Oesophagus 12.4 11.2

Stomach 16.6 15.6

Colorectal 53.1 51.4

Pancreas 3.6 4.2

Lung 8.0 8.4

Melanoma 87.6 85.6

Source: UKCIS, 2013



49

Quality accounts

Clinical indicators – patient experience

Patient satisfaction 

Where available comparative and benchmark data has been included and unless otherwise stated the indicators are not 
governed by standard national definitions and the source of the data is the Trust’s local systems.

2011/12: The Christie satisfaction survey – performance
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Excellence % Rating 65.95 68.99 64.81 63.12 69.77 64.39 60.67 59.21 62.8 70.05 66.04 65.42
Good % Rating 29.3 23.17 26.54 29.3 22.39 27.49 31.33 31.39 32.08 24.33 28.62 30.08
Fair % Rating 3.58 5.18 6.72 5.64 5.72 6.13 5.41 6.7 3.49 3.22 3.62 3.55
Poor % Rating 1.16 2.66 1.93 1.95 2.13 1.99 2.59 2.69 1.63 2.4 1.73 0.95

2012/13: The Christie satisfaction survey – performance
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Good % Rating 28.21 26.29 24.35 24.3 30.25 24.67 21.23 28.37 30.2 32.68 26.37 30.7
Fair % Rating 3.10 3.3 3.68 3.06 2.83 4.06 2.83 2.8 3.81 6.23 3.77 4.2
Poor % Rating 1.08 0.89 1.74 1.37 0.71 0.73 1.24 0.26 1.13 0.51 0.19 1.1
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Complaints

In 2011/12 The Christie received 160 complaints.

The graphs and tables below show the number of complaints received by each division.

Complaints by division 2011/12

Division Level 2 
complaints

Level 3 
complaints

Total

Network services 63 39 102

Clinical support services* 19 1 20

Cancer centre services 10 18 28

Estates and Facilities           7 0 7

Research and Development 3 0 3

* This division merged with cancer centre services 01/01/2012
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Network Services Level 2 8 6 8 4 8 4 4 4 9 6 5 3
Network Services Level 3 3 4 2 2 4 4 2 4 4 5 3 3
Clinical Support Services Level 2 2 0 3 7 3 0 2 1 3 0 0 0
Clinical Support Services Level 3 0 1 0 0 2 2 1 0 1 0 0 0
Cancer Centre Services Level 2 0 0 0 2 1 2 2 0 0 2 1 1
Cancer Centre Services Level 3 2 2 2 4 2 1 1 1 1 4 2 3
Facilities Level 2 0 1 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0



51

Quality accounts

Complaints by division 2012/13

The grading system was updated in December 2011 into grades 1 – 5  
as demonstrated below.

1 2 3 4 5

 – Query/suggestion
 – Verbal concerns 

resolved by the  
end of the next 
working day

 – Anonymous 
comment forms 
raising concerns

 – Allegation that 
service received 
substandard

 – Simple complaints 
which can be 
resolved quickly

 – Single issue 
complaints with 
allegation of lack  
of appropriate care

 – Serious complaints 
containing one 
issue

 – Simple complaint 
where more than 
one complaint  
has been received 
regarding the  
same subject  
from different 
complainants

 – Multiple issue 
complaints with 
allegations of lack 
of care

 – Serious complaints 
containing more 
than one issue

 – Multiple issue, 
complex complaints

 – Serious complaint 
where more than 
one complaint  
has been received 
regarding the  
same subject  
from different 
complainants

 – Risk to 
organisational 
reputation

In 2012/13 The Christie received 67 complaints.

The graphs and tables below show the number of complaints received  
by each division.

 Grade 
2 

Grade 
3 

Grade 
4 

Grade 
5 

Total

Network Services 12 14 16 0 42

Cancer Centre Services 7 7 7 0 21

Estates and Facilities 1 2 0 0 3

Research and Development 0 0 1 0 1

The above table depicts the grading of complaints at the time they are received 
into the Trust. The grades are reviewed as part of the investigation process and 
some may be downgraded at the end of the investigation.
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Complaints by division 2012/13
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Complaints by type 2011/12
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Chemotherapy 2 5 8 4 5 3 4 11 6 14 4 2
Communication 3 4 3 4 4 6 2 4 11 5 4 4
Delay in Referral 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0
Parking 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Pharmacy  0 0 2 1 0 0 2 0 1 1 2 1
Operational issues 6 3 2 7 10 2 4 7 5 7 7 6
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Transport 1 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Treatment and Care 9 9 3 7 10 7 3 11 8 11 12 2
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In 2012/13 we responded to all except 
two complaints within the timescales 
agreed with the complainant. Seven 
complaints were referred to the 
Parliamentary and Health Service 
Ombudsman (PHSO). Two case files 
are still being examined and the PHSO 
was satisfied that the Trust had 
managed the other five complaints 
appropriately.

In 2012/13 we had a total of 67 
complaints; this is an excellent 
reduction from 2011/12 where we had 
160. In the past twelve months a lot of 
changes have taken place concerning 
complaints management with a focus 
on trying to resolve complaints at 
source. Our clinicians, matrons, ward 
sisters and charge nurses have a high 
profile on wards and in clinical 
departments where they focus on the 
patient experience and ensuring 
continual improvement in care and 
service delivery on a day by day basis. 

All complaints are reviewed weekly by 
the executive directors and all new 
complaints are triaged through an 
executive review process so that there 
is a triangulation between incidents, 
claims and complaints.

Complaints by type 2012/13
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Chemotherapy 1 0 2 2 0 1 2 0 1 1 0 0
Communication 7 14 2 5 4 5 5 0 10 3 3 6
Delay in referral 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 0
Parking 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 1 0 1 0 0
Pharmacy  0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0
Operational issues 2 0 0 1 0 2 2 2 5 0 4 0
Radiotherapy 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
Staff attitude 0 0 2 1 4 2 0 0 2 0 2 1
Transport 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Treatment and Care 7 10 6 7 5 2 4 4 12 7 8 2

On-the-day waiting times

In 2011/12 we set ourselves a 
challenging target of ensuring that 
80% of outpatients were seen within 
20 minutes of their appointment time 
when attending The Christie; 45% of 
patients would wait no longer than 30 
minutes for their chemotherapy 
treatment; and that 80% of patients 
would receive their prescription within 
20 minutes. This would ensure a 
significantly better patient experience 
in all three of these areas. 

The graphs show that we have 
achieved these targets in 2012/13 and 
we continue to monitor these targets 
on a weekly basis. 
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Progress against 20 minute wait – outpatients 

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

MarFebJanDecNovOctSepAugJulJunMayApr
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Chemotherapy – percentage seen within 30 minutes
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Pharmacy waits
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Clinical indicators – clinical effectiveness 

Clinical audit programme

Clinical audit of our services provides data on the effectiveness and outcomes of 
care directly provided by The Christie. The audit programme is approved by the 
board of directors and the outcomes of individual audits monitored by the clinical 
audit committee.

In 2012/13 108 audits were completed across the divisions as shown in the table:

The results of these audits are described in the annual clinical audit report with 
data from some of these audits being reported to the board of directors.

Venous thrombo-embolism assessment

Our aim is to increase the number of patients receiving a thromboprophylaxis 
assessment on admission to over 90%. This is presented monthly in the 
integrated performance report and is also uploaded nationally. 

The table below demonstrates the last 2 years performance.
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Target 90 90 90 90 90 90 90 90 90 90 90 90
2012/13 94.96 90.77 91.14 93.08 92.09 93.48 95.07 91.62 94.53 95.6 95.67 95.95
2011/12 90.19 90.21 90.83 90.2 92.22 92.39 96.42 93.52 96.08 97.29 96.07 98.03

Division Number of completed  
audits in 2011/12

Number of completed  
audits in 2012/13

Cancer centre services 40 51

Network services 25 48

Other (Nursing & Quality, Research, Education) 8 9

Total 76 108
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2012/13 Sepsis audit – one hour antibiotics (all patients)
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No 12 9 11 7 8 3 7 2 4 2 4 5
Yes 58 42 59 58 67 63 62 37 52 31 42 61
Compliance 82.9% 82.4% 84.3% 89.2% 89.3% 95.5% 89.9% 94.9% 92.9% 93.9% 91.3% 92.4%

2011/12 Sepsis audit – one hour antibiotics (all patients)
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No 51 28 21 4 3 10 10 20
Yes 21 17 26 24 23 40 48 78
Compliance 29.2% 37.8% 55.3% 85.7% 88.5% 80.0% 82.8% 79.6%

Door to needle times

This was a new indicator introduced 
during 2011/12 to provide a baseline 
assessment of the management of 
neutropenic septicaemia accuracy to 
the Trust’s protocols. Patients who 
have had treatment for cancer may 
develop this complication and require 
urgent treatment with antibiotics. 
During 2011/12 the aim was to 
establish the current position so that 
improvements can be made in 
2012/13. Of the patients fitting the 
clinical criterion in 2011/12 audits show 
that 80% receive antibiotics within  
two hours. Our aim is to increase the 
proportion of patients receiving 
antibiotics to within one hour. This has 
been achieved in 2012/13 with over 
90% of patients receiving antibiotics 
within the hour. 
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Healthcare acquired infections – 
Clostridium Difficile

In 2012/13 we had seven attributable 
cases of clostridium difficile infection 
(CDI) compared with an acceptable 
maximum threshold of 12 attributable 
cases (i.e. cases considered to have 
developed while an inpatient).  In 
2011/12 we had three cases of 
clostridium difficile infection (CDI) 
against an acceptable maximum 
threshold of 22 cases. 

There were a further 12 attributable 
cases that upon full root cause analysis 
were deemed as not attributable to 
The Christie which has been agreed by 
our commissioners. There were 24 
cases that were identified on admission 
or pre 72 hours of admission and are 
therefore not attributable. The 
maximum impact of infection is an 
outbreak of clostridium difficile of 
which the Trust has had none. All cases 
of CDI are sent for ribotyping which 
has demonstrated that there have been 
no instances of cross infection 
indicating high standards of infection 
prevention and control in the hospital.

Each case of CDI is subjected to a 
rigorous review and root cause 
analysis. This has demonstrated that 
each attributable case of CDI was 
induced by the specialist treatment 
provided at The Christie. These 
treatments make our patients 
extremely susceptible to CDI. In order 
to reduce the number of infections 
further we would need to change our 
cancer treatments, making successful 
treatment less likely.

Patient safety

Healthcare acquired infections – 
MRSA

We have low levels of healthcare 
acquired infections despite the 
particular vulnerability of many of our 
patients to infections as a result of their 
disease and treatment. Low rates of 
healthcare acquired infections indicate 
high standards of cleanliness, hygiene, 
antibiotic use and other measures to 
prevent cross-infection. 

MRSA bacteraemia

In 2011/12 we had zero cases of MRSA 
bacteraemia compared with an 
acceptable maximum threshold of one. 

In 2012/13 we have had one case of 
MRSA bacteraemia, with an acceptable 
maximum threshold of 0. This was not 
a clinical case of bacteraemia, but 
contamination of the sample. 

MRSA % appropriate elective 
patients screened

In 2012/13 we screened 100% of 
appropriate elective patients for MRSA.

The Trust has declared an MRSA 
bacteraemia to its commissioners 
during quarter 2. This was not a clinical 
MRSA bacteraemia but a contaminated 
blood sample.

The outcome has been reported in line 
with national reporting requirements 
and a narrative explanation as to why it 
was not an MRSA bacteraemia provided 
on the national data capture system. 
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The Christie is regarded nationally as a 
high reporting, low harm organisation. 
The Trust uploads information about its 
patient safety incidents into the 
National Reporting and Learning 
System (NRLS) on a monthly basis. 
Twice yearly reports are published and 
made available into the public domain 
by the NRLS, based on the incidents 
submitted by the Trust. 

The Christie has a small number of 
beds, compared with other hospitals, 
and 80% of its activity is ambulatory 
care (out patients and day cases), 
hence the denominator of ‘per 100 
admissions’ means that that the patient 
safety incident % rate shows a higher 
rate than other hospitals

The data for the second half of 
2012/13 is not formally closed down 
until the end of May 2013, therefore 
the data contained within these 
accounts is subject to further 
validation.

All reported incidents are investigated 
with the level of investigation 
commensurate with the incident grade. 
All incidents with an impact grade of 3 
and above, out of a maximum of 5, are 
reported on a weekly basis to the 
executive team. These incidents are 
triaged by an executive review team 
consisting of the executive director of 
nursing and quality, the deputy medical 
director, the deputy director of nursing 
and the head of safety and risk. A root 
cause analysis is then presented to this 
review group. The same process is 
followed for complaints and any 
concerning ongoing trend of incidents 
of any grade.

We also review our systems and 
processes in the light of incidents that 
have happened at other trusts as well 
as learning from national reports to 
ensure that a similar incident will not 
happen at The Christie.

Incidents management

We have a strong system of incident 
reporting and review which enables us 
to identify underlying problems and to 
learn from events, thereby preventing 
recurrence. 

In addition to our internal system we 
report patient safety events to the 
National Patient Safety Agency. 
Comparison of our reporting practices 
with those of trusts in the same cluster 
shows that we have high levels of 
reporting but low levels of patient 
harm, indicating an appropriate culture 
of reporting and learning within the 
organisation. 

Our reporting rate is approximately 
two per ten hospital admissions which 
indicates appropriate levels when 
compared with similar trusts. Many of 
these are ‘near miss’ incidents and 
allow us to learn without harm 
occurring. 

2011/12 and 2012/13 Patient Safety Incidences
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Never event

There have been two serious incident 
review panels that have taken place 
this year, one of which was a never 
event. The Trust reported this in 
quarter one of 2012/13, which related 
to a retained foreign object post-
operation following a surgical 
procedure that took place on 19th 
June 2012. A serious incident 
investigation was completed and the 
panel concluded that there had been a 
thorough investigation and that the 
incident should be categorised as 
grade 2 (minor) because:

a. The patient made a full recovery 
and has suffered no adverse 
outcome following a further 
operation to remove the clip.

b. The patient was discharged home 
as planned with no extended 
length of stay in hospital.

The serious incident investigation was 
provided to our commissioners within 
the contractual 45 day timeframe and 
has subsequently been closed by the 
commissioners. 
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has been increased to 85% of all 
referrals received to treatment within 31 
days from receipt of the referral form. 
The charts below demonstrate that The 
Christie continually meets these targets. 

In 2012/13 The Christie achieved all 
national targets as demonstrated below.
 
The Christie internal target in line with 
the 62-day target continues to ensure 
that our own internal performance 
improves, despite the day the patient 
arrives to us on the pathway. The target 

Performance against key  
national priorities

The Christie aims to meet all national 
targets and priorities. We have provided 
an overview of the national targets and 
minimum standards including those set 
out within Monitor’s Compliance 
Framework below.

National 
targets and 
minimum 
standards

Target Threshold 
2013/13

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Yearly 
Position

Infection 
Control

Number of Attributable C-Diff cases 12 2 2 2 1 7

Number of MRSA Bacteraemia 0 0 1 0 0 1

MRSA Screening 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%

Cancer 
Targets

% of cancer patients waiting for a 
maximum of 31 days for diagnosis to 
first definitive treatment

96% 98.3% 98.5% 99.3% 98.2% 98.6%

% of cancer patients waiting a 
maximum of 31 days for subsequent 
treatment (anti-cancer drugs)

98% 99.5% 99.3% 99.8% 99.6% 99.7%

% of cancer patients waiting a 
maximum of 31 days for subsequent 
treatment (surgery)

94% 96.4% 96.7% 95.7% 96.4% 96.5%

% of cancer patients waiting a 
maximum of 31 days for subsequent 
treatment (radiotherapy)

94% 100.0% 99.6% 100.0% 99.9% 99.9%

% of cancer patients waiting a 
maximum of 62 days from GP referral to 
first definitive treatment (based on 
reallocated position)

79% 90.5% 88.7% 89.5% 88.6% 89.3%

% of cancer patients waiting a 
maximum of 62 days from screening 
referral to first definitive treatment

90% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

18 weeks 
Targets

Referral to treatment waiting times – 
admitted 95th percentile

90% 96.1% 94.4% 96.7% 97.1% 96.1%

Referral to treatment waiting times – 
non-admitted 95th percentile

95% 98.1% 97.9% 98.5% 98.9% 98.3%

18 week incomplete pathways 92% 95.8% 94.9% 97.6% 97.8% 97.8%

*Q4 C-Diff figure subject to commissioners decisions on accountability of cases
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2011/12: Internal performance – referral receipt to FDT in 31 days 
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2012/13: Internal performance – referral receipt to FDT in 31 days 
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The mobile unit will be staffed by 
Christie staff to ensure that standards 
of care and safety are consistent with 
our main hospital site. Each working 
day it will travel to a different site 
around our region where research 
shows there is most need. All areas are 
currently being considered. The vehicle, 
which can be quickly set up by the 
driver, will arrive on the same day of 
the week at each location so it is 
consistent for patients having weekly 
infusions.

So many elements make up excellent 
quality care and we always aim to 
achieve every one of them. 

The annual NHS staff survey results 
were published in February this year 
and The Christie has again improved in 
a number of areas. Most importantly 
93% of our staff would recommend 
The Christie as a place to work or 
receive care. These results will help us 
to improve staff experience so that 
staff can provide better patient care. 

On behalf of the Department of Health 
our trust piloted the Friends and Family 
Test, a new scheme that will 
implemented across all trusts from 
April 2013. This simple test asks 
patients to rate their experience of care 
and asks them if they would 
recommend us to friends and family. 
These results are incredibly valuable to 
us as patient care is at the centre of 
everything we do at The Christie. 

From the feedback we have received 
already, there has been a very positive 
response. There is always room for 
improvement however and we will 
never be complacent. 

Another new initiative has been set  
up by our charity. The charity team  
is hoping to raise over £450,000 for  
a customised vehicle that will be 
transformed into a mobile 
chemotherapy unit by the end of  
2013. This will enable us to deliver  
the first class treatment and care, 
closer to where patients live.

If there were ever one reason for The Christie to exist, it 
would be to make a difference to our patients’ lives. While 
the treatment we provide may already be world-class, we’ll 
always find room for improvement. And that’s what makes 
us different. 
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A two-way streetPatient and public involvement

20:20 Vision

We launched our 20:20 Vision strategy 
at our Annual Members’ Meeting in 
September 2012. Based on feedback 
we received from all of our 
stakeholders, it will guide everything 
we do between now and 2020. 

The new strategy will help us to 
achieve our vision of becoming a 
world-class cancer centre and identifies 
four key themes:

 – Leading cancer care
 – The Christie experience
 – Local and specialist cancer care
 – Best outcomes

Each theme is supported by  
a Christie pledge. 

Leading cancer care: We will continue 
to lead the development of cancer 
treatment, research and education so 
that by 2020 we are recognised as one 
of the world’s top five comprehensive 
cancer centres.

The Christie experience: We will 
continue to ensure that patients can 
receive the Christie experience 
throughout their illness and wherever 
our services are provided.

We are committed to involving and 
informing both patients and the public 
on every aspect of our service. As part 
of this commitment, we promise to do 
the following:

 – provide an extensive range of 
information to patients

 – recruit, inform and engage with our 
members

 – have a council of governors which 
has representatives from our public 
members

 – hold quarterly council of governors 
meetings in public

 – keep interested members of the 
public well informed of 
developments and news through 
our website, the media and other 
communication channels

 – have a Freedom of Information (FOI) 
lead officer for all enquiries under 
the FOI Act

 – hold our regular board of directors 
meetings in public

 – publicise our complaints procedure 
on our website and ensure that 
investigation of any complaint is 
thorough and prompt

 – pursue an open and positive 
relationship with the media

While our patients’ privacy is strictly off-limits to the  
public, the great work we do isn’t. Engaging people  
from both inside and outside of The Christie doesn’t  
just help them to understand our aims. It helps us to  
stay focused on them too. 
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Patient and public involvement

Freedom of information and  
data protection

While we actively encourage openness 
and transparency about our services 
and developments, we also employ 
rigorous methods of ensuring patient 
confidentiality and data protection. 
Fortunately, independent audits have 
confirmed that we have clear systems 
and processes in place to manage data 
protection and all Freedom of 
Information requests. During the year 
there were no serious incidents 
involving data loss or a breach of 
confidentiality.

 

Local and specialist cancer care:  
We will provide high quality specialist 
care at our main site in south 
Manchester and wherever possible 
offer our specialist treatment closer  
to patients’ homes.

Best outcomes: We will continue to 
offer the latest technology and develop 
new treatments for the future, making 
our data on outcomes of treatments 
available to the public.

To reach the ambitions we envisage,  
we hope to work collaboratively with 
our NHS and academic partners 
through Manchester Academic Health 
Science Centre (MAHSC), our dedicated 
charity, commissioning bodies and 
many others. The strategy includes 
ambitions around early diagnosis, 
access to clinical trials and bringing 
treatment closer to patients’ homes. 
Going forward we will share our 
progress in enhancing expertise  
against cancer.
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A meeting of mindsEnhancing and expanding our research

The Research Division at The Christie is 
responsible for the development and 
implementation of the research strategy, 
and the management of all staff and 
facilities associated with research. In 
2012, The Christie updated and ratified 
its research strategy through The 
Christie Research Strategy Committee 
identifying five key research themes for 
the future. The five themes are:

 – Screening and prevention
 – Radiation related research
 – Systemic therapies
 – Surgical oncology
 – Late effects 

The division is staffed by a broad range 
of disciplines which include clinical 
research nurses, radiographers, 
statisticians and administrators. The 
research facilities include a Phase I 
clinical trials unit, a clinical trials 
co-ordination unit and a dedicated 
radiotherapy research centre. The 
Greater Manchester and Cheshire 
Research Network and the Manchester 
Cancer Research Centre Biobank also 
report into the division.

The Christie NHS Foundation Trust has 
an international reputation in research, 
development and evaluation of new 
cancer treatments. Studies are 
conducted to the highest standards and 
are rapidly translated into clinical care. 

The Trust leads the cancer theme 
within the Manchester Academic 
Health Science Centre (MAHSC). The 
Christie Chief Executive chairs this 
group, known as Manchester Cancer, 
which brings together cancer research, 
education and service across Greater 
Manchester. The Trust continues to 
work well with the Manchester Cancer 
Research Centre (MCRC), which is our 
research partnership with The 
University of Manchester and Cancer 
Research UK (CRUK). 

The MCRC has continued to develop 
its world-class research programme 
and a state-of-the-art research building 
is currently being built to increase 
laboratory research accommodation 
and research administration 
accommodation. This will allow us to 
employ more cancer researchers on 
The Christie site in the future. It is 
anticipated that this building will open 
in summer 2014. 

The overall ambition for The Christie is 
to become a Biomedical Research 
Centre. To achieve this we need to 
expand the academic cohort at The 
Christie. An academic investment plan 
is currently underway which involves 
the appointment of 20 new academics 
plus associated support staff, with 
significant investment from The Christie 
and the University of Manchester. 

Bringing together some of the world’s leading scientists and 
technicians, The Christie’s tireless journey of discovery has 
continued to break new ground over the last 12 months. 



66

Enhancing and expanding our research

The development of new cancer 
treatments is dependent on the testing 
of new drugs in cancer patients, these 
tests are undertaken in clinical trials. 
Any new drug product is initially 
evaluated in a small number of patients 
in Phase I trials. These trials evaluate 
different dosages. The new unit 
provides increased clinic and treatment 
delivery accommodation, a clinical trials 
laboratory area (for the processing and 
short term storage of trial samples), 
aseptic preparation and clinical trials 
pharmacy space together with 
accommodation for early phase clinical 
teams and the early phase research 
nurse team.

Radiotherapy research

Radiotherapy is used in the treatment 
of over 50% of our cancer patients; 
therefore research in this area is 
important if the treatments offered to 
patients are to improve. We have 
recently appointed two senior lecturers. 
These posts have enabled us to 
develop new trials in this area. The Trust 
has a dedicated radiotherapy research 
facility, the Wade Centre. This centre 
has been successful in galvanising 
radiotherapy research within the Trust 
and ensures new techniques from 
research are transferred into the clinical 
care of our patients.

Phase I clinical trials unit

In November 2010 The Christie opened 
the early phase clinical trials unit, which 
is one of the largest of its kind in the 
world and is pivotal to the delivery of 
early phase cancer trials, including the 
first into human studies. The unit 
operates within the Oak Road patient 
treatment centre. In addition to early 
phase trials some later phase research, 
which may have complex treatment 
regimens or have complicated 
translational components is conducted 
across a range of disease areas. 

The early phase unit is pivotal to the 
delivery of early phase cancer trials; the 
new inpatient unit has been active 
since September 2011 and houses six 
overnight beds allowing trials that 
require an overnight stay to be carried 
out in the same location. During 
2012/2013 the Trust recruited over 
2,000 patients into trials and other 
clinical studies. This is the first time that 
many patients have had the 
opportunity to contribute to our 
research and the development of new 
and improved therapies. 

Clinical trials coordination unit

It is often necessary to recruit patients 
from a number of hospitals in order for 
the study to be completed in a timely 
manner. The trials coordination unit 
was established to support the 
coordination of these studies which are 
led by researchers from The Christie. 
The trials centre is responsible for the 
coordination and management of 
these studies and ensures that the data 
collected are robust b efore being 
analysed by statisticians.

This has been a successful year for the 
clinical trials coordination unit, the 
successes can be summarised as follows:

 – The MAHSC clinical trials unit  
(CTU) was re-awarded full UKCRC 
registration at the first pass, one of 
25 successful CTUs (compared with 
more than 40 registered under the 
previous scheme). This registration is 
a pre-requisite to enable 
Department of Health/National 
Institute for Health Research grant 
funding opportunities and is the 
only registered unit in the Greater 
Manchester region. The unit has 
expanded its remit so that it can 
support all clinical trials resulting in 
an expanded portfolio of studies 
outside oncology

 – The MAHSC CTU received NIHR/
NETSCC funding totalling £750k 
over five years for the first time.

 – Over the last three years the unit has 
seen an impressive increase in  
grant submissions (135%) and an 
increase in the study portfolio 
(180%). The unit will be housed  
in the new research building when  
it opens in 2014.
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Enhancing and expanding our research

An industry contact has commented 
on The Christie trials set-up times:
“The Christie has made tremendous 
strides in improving its clinical start up 
metrics over the last 3 years. We will 
continue to work closely with The 
Christie to further enhance this 
excellent performance.” 

Another industry contact said:
“We have a special R&D relationship 
with The Christie. This is the first time 
we are tracking the NIHR 70 day metric 
in the UK.” 
 

The tissue bank is the only UK site to 
meet and exceed delivery targets for 
the CRUK stratified medicine initiative, 
as a result we have been offered 
increased funding to expand our 
collection. 

Research and development  
core services

The research and development office 
helps facilitate research through the 
Trust’s approval processes ensuring 
compliance with all relevant 
governance standards. The office 
works very closely with the disease-
based research teams to ensure studies 
and their amendments are approved, 
and that any issues are resolved in a 
timely manner. The office supports the 
research teams with research 
governance and regulatory queries and 
also ensures that any national changes 
to regulatory and governance 
arrangements are implemented on site. 

All research which takes place on The 
Christie site must have trust research 
and development approval. All relevant 
documentation is coordinated through 
the research and development office. 
This office manages on average 12-15 
studies per month. 

This year the new national 70-day study 
set-up target was launched at The 
Christie with over 100 research staff 
being trained to ensure clarity of the 
process. NIHR funding will become 
dependant on this metric. Currently The 
Christie is achieving a 98% success rate 
where success is measured as studies 
which have met the 70-day target and 
also studies that did not meet the 
target, but had a justified reason.

Tissue banking

The Manchester Cancer Research 
Centre (MCRC) biobank was 
established in 2007 with the aim of 
co-ordinating the collection of human 
material from major cancer treatment 
centres across the Greater Manchester 
area. To target all cancer disease 
groups, the biobank collects samples 
from across the region at five 
collaborating trusts. The Trusts involved 
are The Christie NHS Foundation Trust, 
Salford Royal NHS Foundation Trust, 
University Hospital of South 
Manchester NHS Foundation Trust, 
Central Manchester University Hospitals 
NHS Foundation Trust and Pennine 
Acute Hospital NHS Foundation Trust. 

The biobank technicians work in a 
number of trusts in Manchester, they 
are responsible for taking informed 
consent and then collecting samples 
from patients undergoing operations 
for cancer. The technician aims to 
collect a ‘six-pack’ consisting of frozen 
normal and tumour tissue, fixed 
normal and tumour tissue, and 
pre-operative blood and urine. 

All biobank staff ensure that sample 
collection is done in a uniform manner 
and is of the highest standard. The aim 
is for an abundance of quality samples 
which the researchers can access with 
ease. The biobank has an access policy 
for use of samples and something 
called ‘generic ethical approval’ which 
allows researchers to apply to use 
samples from the bank without 
applying for further ethics. The biobank 
has been releasing samples for cancer 
research since summer 2009 and it has 
to date approved over 50 projects.
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A lesson for lifeBuilding our education

Surgical training at The Christie 
School of Oncology

In line with the Trust’s 20:20 vision, the 
School of Oncology aims to deliver top 
quality education and training 
opportunities to health care 
professionals within The Christie, as 
well as nationally and internationally, 
enhancing the patient experience and 
promoting developments in cancer 
care. Our aim is:

“To be the country’s leading provider 
of cancer education, ensuring that 
those working at The Christie have 
access to world class education, 
training and development 
opportunities. Ultimately we aim for 
the school to be recognised across the 
region, throughout the country and 
internationally as a centre of excellence 
in cancer education”

In March 2013 the School of Oncology 
opened the doors to its new education 
accommodation after a refurbishment 
of the existing premises and an 
extension to provide new facilities 
including classrooms, a clinical skills 
training suit and new office space to 
house the education team. 

The project began in late August 2012 
and while all essential educational 
activity continued on site, the new 
development has allowed us to expand 
our auditorium foyer which will 
facilitate larger conferences and study 
days in the future. 

We thank all the supporters who have 
contributed to the funding of this 
project including the Argryidies family, 
The Christie charity, The Dinwoodie 
Trust, The Dr Alan H Gowenlock Fund, 
Withington Girls School and all other 
parties giving donations.

Every day’s a school day at The Christie. With all of the 
cutting-edge research that goes on, we’re constantly 
learning something new. So by developing the skills of  
our staff, and improving their knowledge, we can keep 
them at the cutting-edge too. Which is great for them,  
and even better for our patients. 
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Building our education

2012/13 saw an expansion in our study 
day and conference programme which 
saw the School help the Trust to deliver 
over 94 regional, national, international 
events attracting over 3,600 delegates 
of which 36% came from outside the 
North West. 

The School continues to put on and 
develop multi-professional educational 
activities in all levels of education from 
school taster days to providing support 
for undergraduate, postgraduate, and 
vocational activity. The Trust has signed 
up to The Apprenticeship Promise, a 
Skills for Health initiative to develop 
opportunities in all non registered 
vacancies to support the development 
of the local workforce. 

The Maguire Communication Skills Unit 
has now moved into new training 
facilities and has been commissioned to 
provide advanced communications 
skills training to professionals working 
in End of Life Care within Greater 
Manchester and Cheshire Cancer 
Network. Led by Dr Cathy Heaven, the 
unit was also involved in delivering a 
training programme to the New 
Zealand government in 2012. 

The School of Oncology links with the 
medical Royal Colleges to put on 
medical teaching programmes and 
revision courses. It has created a new 
partnership with the Royal College of 
Surgeons of Edinburgh to deliver three 
exciting new surgical training events, 
which have been oversubscribed in the 
first year.

 – a Royal College of Surgeons of 
Edinburgh (MRCS) revision course 
aimed a surgeons passing their 
membership examinations

 – a Royal College of Surgeons of 
Edinburgh (FRCS) mock 
examinations course aimed at 
surgeons who are taking the 
intercollegiate FRCS examination in 
general surgery

 – a Future Surgeons Key Skills course 
aimed to improving the surgical 
techniques of medical students and 
surgical trainees 

The School of Oncology will be taking 
a lead in cancer education across 
Manchester as part of the MAHSC 
initiative, Manchester Cancer. This will 
involve our colleagues in other trusts 
and result in a coordinated approach to 
cancer education involving all 
professions and disciplines. Manchester 
Cancer’s education will be led by a 
stakeholder board. It will ensure 
equality of access to training and 
education, provide guidance for 
commissioners, support and develop 
trainers and create a Manchester 
Cancer Library. 

Led by Professor Richard Cowan, the 
School’s strategic approach is to 
provide independent educational 
programmes and a priority is to work 
in collaboration with other key 
education providers to develop 
masters’ level modules. The School 
oversees placements for medical, 
nursing, and allied health professions 
(AHP) students training with a number 
of local universities including 
Manchester University, and works 
closely with the NW Deanery 
postgraduate medical training. 

The School has an exciting programme 
of national and international training 
opportunities. It is one of the 4 centres 
selected for continuation of laparoscopic 
surgical training and hosts a number of 
other surgical training opportunities. 

 – In 2012/13 The School hosted the 
‘LAPCO’ train the trainers course 
and delivered a LAPCO master-class 
involving link-up from theatre to the 
auditorium during a live operation 
enabling over 130 consultant 
surgeons from around the country 
to observe and talk to surgeons 
during a laparoscopic operation. This 
training event was the first of its 
kind in the UK



70

A better place for everyoneSustainability

Sustainable development 
management plan (SDMP)

The NHS sustainable development 
management plan (SDMP) guidance 
addresses relevant legislation, 
regulatory requirements, associated 
risks, mitigation and adaption of the 
Trust strategies. 

The following areas are all progressed 
via the sustainable development 
committee and used as a method to 
assist the Trust to monitor carbon 
reduction targets and sustainability: 

 – energy and carbon management 
 – waste
 – low carbon travel, transport  

and access
 – water 
 – designing the built environment
 – procurement
 – organisational and workforce 

development
 – role of partnerships and networks
 – finance
 – governance and corporate citizenship

The Government has a commitment to 
sustainability and carbon reduction, 
which the Trust has embraced within 
the existing strategic and corporate 
objectives.

The sustainable development 
committee progresses all of the related 
objectives as a whole and monitors 
progress and performance. Continual 
assessment to indicate and measure 
performance is made from a number 
of measures including BREEAM, the 
good corporate citizenship assessment 
tool and business cases submitted 
which address sustainability, 
monitoring and reporting on carbon 
(CRC government carbon reduction 
commitment process).

The Trust’s sustainable services are 
continually reviewed and enforced. 
Reports to the Trust commissioners, 
the performance board and the 
sustainable development committee 
demonstrate continuing progress made 
to address sustainable development 
and provide clear evidence of the 
Trust’s commitment. 

We can’t help but help at The Christie. It’s in our nature. 
From sustainable development and carbon management 
to waste control, it’s all part of our plan to make the world 
a better place – starting with our everyday environment. 
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Sustainability

ensure all factors are embraced.
Achieving the ongoing targets related 
to CO2 emissions is crucial in the  
Trust’s endeavour to fully embrace the 
NHS sustainability goals. A sustainable 
development management plan 
(SDMP) will further embrace the Trust’s 
objectives.

Recycling of waste streams away from 
landfill and incineration is a challenge 
without associating additional costs. 
This is an area for improvement moving 
forward with the new waste streaming. 
Individual projects introduced are 
proving successful; the Trust has 
installed two food waste digesters 
which use a bio-enzymatic formula to 
turn food waste into grey water, which 
is then filtered before entering the 
drain. The process reduces the food 
waste carbon footprint with no harmful 
effects on the environment. 

Sustainable travel

The Trust aims to provide methods of 
travel, which do not have a significant 
adverse impact on the environment or 
add to problems of congestion, while 
at the same time aiming to reduce 
carbon emissions in line with relevant 
Government legislation. 

In association with the capital strategy, 
a sustainable travel policy and green 
travel plan were produced and outlined 
the Trust’s position on improving travel 
choices for staff, patients and visitors. 
The sustainable travel policy will 
actively promote the environmental 
advantages of sustainable modes of 
transport, helping to reduce transport 
related emissions and protecting the 
environment. During the year, the Trust 
won a further bronze level green apple 
award for sustainable travel.

A scheme to increase pipe insulation 
within the service ducts and plant room 
areas has been completed, already 
saving energy and improving the 
environment for patients and staff.

Waste 

The Trust complies with waste 
regulations to satisfy assurance bodies. 
Systems are in place to ensure that the 
prevention, segregation, handling, 
transport and disposal of waste is 
properly managed to minimise the risks 
to the health and safety of staff, 
patients, the public and the safety of 
the environment. 

The Trust is committed to the waste 
segregation process in line with 
legislation. Waste areas have been 
reconfigured and training programmes 
undertaken. New waste streams are 
being instigated across the site and  
will ultimately produce data, to allow 
additional target setting to segregate, 
reduce and recycle individual waste 
streams.

Evidence-based assessments are 
recorded in the performance scorecard 
reports on a monthly basis. External 
audits are undertaken to satisfy 
stakeholders that the Trust meets 
legislative requirements. In addition 
external assurers are consulted when 
setting new objectives for any 
forthcoming changes to guidance. 

Targets are set in line with Government 
and the Trust’s exacting requirements. 
Achievements of the targets are 
achieved by adopting the waste 
management strategy of prevention, 
reduce, reuse, recycle and rethink. 
Increases in patient and site activity are 
applied to the monitoring process 
which itself is continually reviewed to 

Energy and carbon management

Carbon emissions are produced from 
the burning of fossil fuels, whether that 
be from the Trust’s heating needs or 
the ever increasing reliance on 
electricity-based equipment and 
systems. The Trust is constantly 
monitoring energy consumption and 
looking for opportunities to counteract 
the growing demand by way of 
introducing efficient and sustainable 
energy technologies to new and 
existing systems. 

The Trust has been working toward the 
targets set by the NHS sustainable 
development unit. The target of 10% 
reduction of energy consumption 
against the 2007 energy data has been 
achieved over the last year against the 
background of an expanding site.

The Government CRC carbon 
reduction scheme is now in its second 
chargeable year. We measure and 
record energy consumption and this 
information is then passed to the 
Environment Agency who then applies 
the applicable levy. Indications for 
2012/13 carbon dioxide emissions are 
comparable with those of 2011/12. 

In the last couple of years the Trust has 
undergone a complete detailed energy 
survey and developed a range of energy 
conservation measures to be applied  
to the existing infrastructure. We are 
now entering the implementation 
phase of the project which will take 
around one year to complete. A second 
stage of the project is currently under 
development which promises to 
optimise the best use of current 
systems and introduce renewable 
technologies wherever practical.
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Finance 

The Trust continues to deliver a 
sustainable financial position. The 
business case template has been 
updated to address sustainable issues, 
with a new section to ensure project 
managers address related issues. In 
addition, this will enable the Trust to 
demonstrate that carbon reduction is 
embedded within the financial 
mechanisms. 

Governance 

NHS Sustainable Development Unit 
(SDU) objectives are embraced within 
the Trust. The Trust continues to action 
good corporate citizen objectives, 
monitoring itself against the corporate 
citizenship assessment toolkit. 

The Trust has core principles with 
corporate and component objectives to 
protect and enhance the environment 
and local community. Terms of reference 
for a sustainable development 
committee (SDC) are approved by the 
capital and workforce planning 
committee (CWP). The remit of the SDC 
include corporate citizenship monitoring. 

Sustainable development 
committee

The Trust is taking actions to be a good 
corporate citizen, monitoring itself 
against the reconfigured NHS 
sustainable development unit corporate 
citizenship assessment toolkit.

Each area presents its current status 
and intended actions to the sustainable 
development committee. Actions are 
discussed and developed, both within 
the group and at all opportunities 
during new projects.

The Trust is able to demonstrate that 
decisions on planning and design of new 
buildings and refurbishments contribute 
to a more sustainable NHS. The capital 
planning team continue to progress the 
capital programme while conforming to 
the guidelines of the NHS Good 
Corporate Citizenship toolkit and 
guidance. During the year, work started 
on our new YOU/HTU unit and 
brachytherapy unit which will meet all 
sustainability targets agreed.

Procurement 

The Trust continues to take steps to 
ensure that its procurement policies 
and procedures incorporate 
appropriate sustainability practices.  
The Trust continues to encourage the 
use of local suppliers within the 
procurement process. Discussions are 
held at tender project meetings to 
ascertain whether or not it will be 
possible to include award criteria that 
take into account sustainability issues. 
The sustainable procurement action 
plan when complete will supplement 
the sustainable procurement policy.
 
Our staff

The Trust has an active 
communications strategy for every level 
of the organisation. This includes 
raising awareness of sustainability to 
include all staff, visitors and patients. 
During 2012, the Trust worked with 
local schools to provide work 
experience and other careers advice.

Role of partnerships and networks 

The NHS should be an example of a 
low carbon sustainable organisation. 
We therefore identify and work 
effectively in partnership with all 
relevant stakeholders.

The green travel plan outlines the 
Trust’s aim to convert 330 single 
occupancy vehicle drivers to a 
sustainable alternative over an 11 year 
period. The baseline figure will be 
taken from the December 2011 staff 
survey carried out by the independent 
Picker Institute. The annual staff survey 
data will provide progress reports on a 
year-by-year basis. Internal and external 
reviews have taken place and a 
strategy is being produced to guide the 
Trust in achieving the aims set out in 
the green travel plan. 

Water

Water use is monitored and corporate 
citizenship objectives applied and kept 
under continuous review. Every 
opportunity is taken to maximise the 
use of water saving technology, while 
maintaining the high standard of water 
quality required for the site.

Water saving awareness will be raised 
by means of communication 
campaigns and via energy champions. 
The Trust will progress, develop, and 
implement water strategies particularly 
when refurbishing and during building 
developments at the design stage. 
During the year we have installed a 
‘waste to water’ scheme in the catering 
department.

Designing the built environment 

All new buildings above a capital cost 
of £5 million, must undergo an 
environmental assessment (BREEAM) 
and incorporate plans for sustainable 
energy and resource use. New 
buildings for the NHS are expected to 
achieve an ‘excellence’ status as a 
minimum, ‘outstanding’ status being 
the highest.
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Waste minimisation and management  
Finance and Non Finance data 2011/12 and 2012/13

Greenhouse gas emissions Non-financial data 2011/12 Non-financial data 2012/13

Scope 1 (direct) GHG emissions Gas consumption
43,901,397 KWh

Gas consumption
 46,919,310.60 KWh

Scope 2 (energy indirect) emissions Electricity consumption
7,221,685 KWh

Electricity consumption
1,976,197 KWh

Scope 3 official business travel emissions 117 tonnes - Total CO2 emissions 169 tonnes - Total CO2 emissions

Greenhouse gas emissions Financial data 2011/12 Financial data 2012/13

Scope 1 (direct) GHG emissions Liability £118,056.00 Estimated £130,000.00

Waste minimisation and management Non-financial data (tonnes) 
2011/12

Non-financial data (tonnes) 
2012/13

Waste sent to landfill 307.44 295.04

Waste recycled/reused 252.56 254.47

Waste incinerated 227.75 227.19

Total amount of waste produced by the 
Trust

787.75 776.70

Expenditure on waste disposal Financial data £k 2011/12 Financial data £k 2012/13

Waste sent to landfill 55,817.72 76,490.28

Waste recycled/reused 20,893.60 17,218.80

Waste incinerated 101,646.08 98,291.38

Total expenditure on waste disposal 178,357.40 192,000.46

Non-disposal waste related purchases. 5,825.90 17,289.60

Total 184,183.30 209,290.06

Finite resources Non-financial data 2011/12 Non-financial data 2012/13

Water 71,795 m3 82,802 m3

Electricity 25,998.06 Gj 7114.31Gj

Gas 158,044.96 Gj 168,909.50 Gj

Other energy consumption Nil Nil

Financial data £k 2011/12 Financial data £k 2012/13

Water £275,107.89 £262,382.94

Electricity/gas £1,807,243.94 £1,722,035.50

Other energy consumption Nil Nil
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A precious resourceChristie Staff

month scheme which recognises 
employees who go above and beyond 
in supporting our principles and 
behaviours. Each month employees  
are nominated by staff and patients,  
a panel then selects the winner based 
on who has demonstrated outstanding 
behaviour linked to The Christie values.

Occupational health

Occupational health aims to help 
employees maintain and improve their 
health and wellbeing, ensuring that 
everyone experiences a working 
environment in which they are 
physically and emotionally suited. The 
department will advise on occupational 
health matters to employees and 
managers. They will survey workers’ 
health in relation to ability and 
suitability for work, both pre and during 
employment, support operational and 
human resource managers with 
management of sickness absence and 
health-related performance issues, 
survey working environments and 
practices that may affect workers 
health and wellbeing according to 
health and safety legislation.

They have provided a comprehensive 
flu vaccination programme throughout 
the year which saw the Trust vaccinate 
over 80% of front line workers. The 
team support the Trust with the 
promotion of healthy working 
environments and highlights how work 
can positively affect health and 
wellbeing thereby increasing the 
effectiveness of the organisation. This 
is undertaken in a number of different 
ways. For example some of the 
wellbeing activities include weight 
management classes and ‘MOT’ days. 

Involving our staff

There are a variety of methods used to 
communicate with our staff which are 
developed and reviewed on a regular 
basis. We have a quarterly staff 
magazine and a monthly team briefing 
system. The briefing system is face-to-
face delivered by the Chief Executive as 
well as written cascade. The purpose 
of the briefing is to ensure that staff 
are aware of our financial position, 
plans and operational performance.

All of our staff attend the Trust 
induction on appointment to  
welcome them to the Trust and are 
issued with a staff handbook. Staff 
have access to the intranet which 
provides a wide range of information 
ranging from charity events to policies 
and procedures.

Approach to staff engagement

Regular presentations, e-mail  
cascades and seminars take place to 
ensure that staff are kept up to date 
with developments. We have a staff 
suggestion scheme that enables 
employees to share their thoughts, 
suggestions and opinions. Every new 
employee is spoken to three months 
after their appointment and given the 
opportunity to provide feedback about 
their experience to date. The annual 
staff satisfaction survey also provides 
every employee with a mechanism to 
feedback. There are clear policies and 
procedures available to staff who wish 
to report on a more formal basis.

Our monthly board of directors and 
council of governors meetings are 
public. We run an employee of the 

It’s people who make The Christie. And in particular, our 
incredible staff. They’re an inspiration to us. So it’s our duty 
to inspire them. After all, the more care and support we 
provide them, the more care and support they can provide 
our patients. 
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Areas of improvement 

We have seen improvements in a 
number of areas that directly relate  
to the objectives set following last 
year’s survey. 

 – Training provided to staff on the 
respect at work policy combined 
with regular communication 
updates about the Trust policies has 
supported an improved response 
around the percentage of staff 
experiencing discrimination at work 
in the last 12 months.

 – The key score for staff who felt 
pressured at work has reduced from 
2.93 to 2.88 (on a scale of 1 to 5 – 
the lower the score the better). 

 – Development and implementation 
of the revised performance 
development review (PDR) process 
has supported an increase in the 
number of staff having appraisals in 
the last 12 months from 76% to 
80% and also the percentage of 
staff having well structured 
appraisals from 32% to 37% which 
is above the national average.

 – Providing support mechanisms,  
close monitoring of staff and 
communication of the Trust policies 
has resulted in an increase in the score 

A Trust rounders tournament took 
place in July and August 2012 to 
coincide with the Olympic Games. 
More than 120 staff took part.

After the success of the wellbeing 
events in 2011 and 2012, a third event 
was planned for April 2103. The event 
will consist of a number of stalls from 
external organisations and internal 
departments, providing advice and 
support to help staff wellbeing.

Staff satisfaction survey

The Care Quality Commission requires 
this annual survey to be carried out by 
all NHS Trusts in England. Once again, 
despite a difficult economic climate the 
Trust had excellent results from the 
national staff survey. 

93% of staff said that if a friend or 
relative needed treatment they would 
be happy with the standard of care 
provided at The Christie. This was the 
second highest score in the country.

71% of staff would recommend The 
Christie as a place to work.

A total of 800 staff were surveyed and 
the response rates are shown in the 
table below:

2011/12 2012/13

Trust National 
average

Trust National 
average

Trust improvement/
deterioration

Response 
rate

52% 52% 55.2% 45.6% 3.2% increase

around support from the immediate 
manager and also increased the 
percentage of staff reporting good 
communication between senior 
management and staff.

 – Raising awareness of the incident 
reporting system and encouraging 
feedback on incidents has resulted 
in an improved score of the 
numbers of staff witnessing 
potential harmful errors, near misses 
or incidents. 

 – Supported by the Trust policies and 
procedures, the Trust has an above 
average score for the percentage of 
staff who have a good level of job 
satisfaction. 

 – The Trust has maintained itself in the 
highest results category for the 
percentage of staff who 
recommend the Trust as a place to 
work or receive treatment. 

There were no key scores where staff 
experience has deteriorated.
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We have developed a staff engagement 
programme which will be the process 
by which we engage our staff and 
support staff to play their part in 
achieving our 20:20 vision. This will 
include support to gain the skills and 
knowledge necessary to transform 
services while also involving them in 
shaping our future.

Future priorities and targets

Our key priority this year is to imple-
ment the Trust-wide Organisational 
Development plan. It is designed to 
improve organisational effectiveness 
by promoting high performance across 
the whole Trust with quality, safety 
and patient experience at the heart of 
all that we do.

Our five top and bottom rating scores are shown in the following tables:

2011/12 2012/13
Top 5 Ranking Scores Trust National 

Average
Trust National 

Average
Trust improvement 
/deterioration

KF 4 Effective team working 3.85 3.73 3.88 3.77 0.03 increase*

KF 26 Percentage of staff having equality and diversity  
training in last 12 months

53% 50% 76% 61% 23% increase

KF 22 Percentage of staff able to contribute towards 
improvements at work

67% 66% 76% 71% 4% increase

KF 28 Percentage of staff experiencing discrimination at work 
in last 12 months

10% 10% 5% 8% 5% reduction

KF 18 Percentage of staff experiencing harassment, bullying or 
abuse from patients, relatives of the public in last 12 months

8% 8% 16% 21% Data not 
comparable 

2011/12 2012/13
Bottom 5 Ranking Scores Trust National 

average
Trust National 

average
Trust improvement 
/deterioration

KF 12 Percentage of staff saying hand washing materials  
are always available

63% 67% 59% 61% 4% reduction

KF 7 Percentage of staff appraised in last 12 months 76% 81% 80% 83% 4% increase

KF 25 Staff motivation at work 3.82 3.83 3.81 3.88 0.1 reduction*

KF 5 Percentage of staff working extra hours 71% 67% 72% 72% 1% increase

KF 1 Percentage of staff feeling satisfied with the quality  
of work and patient care they are able to deliver

80% 77% 82% 82% 2% increase

*scale score 1–5

Our five bottom rated scores are average when compared with other acute specialist trusts.

We will ensure that the recently 
developed Christie Principles and 
Behaviours are embedded across  
the organisation and underpin 
everything that we do. 

We will continue to provide staff  
the opportunity to be involved in 
decisions which directly affect them  
or their services.
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Equality and diversity

a. Summary of approach and 
comment on publication duties

We are determined to ensure that we 
offer equal access to health care and 
employment opportunities to everyone 
in the communities we serve. The Trust 
is committed to actively promoting 
equality across all activities with the 
intention of achieving and maintaining 
a fully inclusive organisation.

There is an effective executive-led 
approach to managing equality and 
diversity with close co-operation 
between management and staff side 
representatives. The Equality and 
Diversity Group is responsible for 
monitoring and progressing equality 
and diversity issues in respect of service 
delivery and the workforce; the group 
is chaired by the Director of Nursing and 
Quality and membership includes a 
diverse representation of staff, trade 
union members, a governor and a 
member. 

We published our patient and 
workforce equality monitoring reports 
in January 2013. http://www.christie.
nhs.uk/about-the-christie/equality-and-
diversity.aspx. We continue to actively 
engage in a variety of activities to 
promote equality within our services 
and our workforce. 

Health and safety performance

The Trust recognises its legal duty to 
protect patients, staff and visitors from 
the risk of injury or work-related ill 
health. There is an effective executive-
led approach to managing health and 
safety with close co-operation 
between management and staff side 
representatives. Managers have access 
to specialist trained advisers in health 
and safety, moving and handling, fire 
and security. In addition, advice and 
support are available from radiation 
protection, infection control and 
occupational health.

There were 184 reported staff 
accidents in 2012/13, compared with 
190 in 2011/12. Of these, 8 resulted in 
significant injury, compared with 11 in 
the previous year. The top 3 categories 
of accidents were inoculation incidents 
(40), slips, trips and falls (31), and 
collision with objects e.g. shelving, 
doors, equipment (30). Regular reports 
of all accidents, dangerous occurrences 
and ill health are discussed by the 
Health and Safety Committee, which 
meets 4 times per year. 

The following policies were revised  
and approved during the year: waste 
management, working at height, 
management of stress and young 
people at work.

How do we create such a progressive and inclusive culture 
at The Christie? Well, we take a good mix of people, a 
positive outlook, a keen eye for detail, and an awful lot of 
generosity. Then we add them all together to make one 
very special place that we can all be proud of. 
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c. Future priorities

We continue to develop our equality 
objectives in relation to our patient 
services and workforce based on our 
equality monitoring reports and our 
engagement with our stakeholders 
including patients, staff and staff 
representatives.

Our key priorities include:
 – to continue to enhance the 

experience of our cancer patients 
and support their ongoing care 
management in community settings 
by the provision of timely and 
comprehensive information to the 
patient’s general practitioner

 – to ensure that the experience of 
cancer patients with dementia is 
personalised and appropriate to 
enhance patient satisfaction with 
monitoring and related action plans

 – to widen our participation with local 
education establishments, students 
and young unemployed people by 
delivering work experience and 
apprenticeship programmes

 – to develop our talent management 
strategy to support staff, including 
those from minority groups, to 
develop their careers at The Christie

 

 – we introduced the NHS Competency 
Framework for Equality and Diversity 
Leadership to support our strategic 
leaders to advance equality outcomes

 – in the NHS Staff Survey, we 
compared favourably with other 
acute specialist trusts in England in 
respect of the very high percentage 
of our staff who believed the Trust 
provides equal opportunities for 
career progression or promotion

 – we ensured that equality in patient 
services and employment is carefully 
considered in all our business 
decisions and policies by completing 
a major review of our equality 
impact analysis process

 – we held stakeholder events for 
specific community groups to better 
understand issues relating to access 
to cancer services

b. Summary of performance – 
workforce statistics

The Trust has a predominantly female 
workforce (approximately 74% female). 
With regard to ethnicity, over 11% of 
the Trust workforce comprises staff 
from black and minority ethnic 
backgrounds. This is detailed in the 
tables on the following page.

In 2012/2013, we have continued  
to increase the proportion of our  
staff for which we hold equality data 
in respect of protected characteristics, 
although disclosure remains at the 
individual’s discretion. 
 

Key achievements in 2012/13 include:
 – we assessed our equality 

performance using the NHS Equality 
Delivery System and using feedback 
from key stakeholders 

 – we made progress towards 
enhancing the experience of our 
cancer patients and supporting  
their ongoing care management  
in community settings by the 
provision of timely and 
comprehensive information to the 
patient’s general practitioner

 – we introduced training and  
guidance for all patient-facing  
staff, and a patient experience 
monitoring programme, towards 
ensuring that the care of cancer 
patients with dementia is 
personalised and appropriate

 – we invited representatives from a 
wide variety of community groups in 
our catchment to visit The Christie to 
share information about our services 
and to listen to their views, to support 
ongoing service improvement

 – we have invited our new patients to 
disclose additional equality data to 
enable more comprehensive 
monitoring and continuous 
improvement to patient services for 
all protected groups, although this 
remains at the individual’s discretion

 – we actively reviewed the experience 
of recruitment and development 
from the perspective of our black 
and minority ethnic staff and 
applicants to assess our performance
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Absentee rate (full time equivalent)

Division % Sickness

January 2012 3.38

February 2012 3.35

March 2012 3.29

April 2012 2.94

May 2012 2.87

June 2012 3.19

July 2012 2.94

August 2012 2.95

September 2012 3.21

October 2012 3.65

November 2012 3.38

December 2012 3.50

January 2013 3.87

February 2013 3.46

March 2013 3.31

We regularly discuss workforce issues 
with trade union colleagues through 
our staff forum, presenting reports on 
workforce demographics, and equal 
pay audit and progress against our 
Equality Delivery System objectives.

Religious belief

Atheism 252

Buddhism 12

Christianity 1140

Hinduism 25

Islam 67

Judaism 7

Other 128

Sikhism 4

Undefined/Not Declared 754

Total 2389

Sexual orientation

Bisexual 7

Gay 21

Heterosexual 1643

Lesbian 14

Undefined/Not Declared 704

Total 2389

Workforce statistics

Age 

16-21 19

22-50 1826

51+ 544

Total 2389

Ethnicity 

Asian 118

Black 80

Mixed 31

Not Stated 63

Other 37

White 2060

Total 2389

Gender

Female 1760

Male 629

Total 2389

Recorded disability

No 1742

Yes 74

Undefined/Not Declared 573

Total 2389

Average sickness 2010 2011 2012 

Average sickness percentage (12 months) 3.69 3.62 3.42

Average full time equivalent 2059 2107 2179.26
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A great big thank youAwards, accolades and accreditations

The Christie was rated as one of the 
top organisations in the country. We 
received the results in the National 
Cancer Patient Experience survey which 
was published by the Department of 
Health in August. 

From December 2012, the Trust 
entered into a five year partnership 
with Boots UK to develop and enhance 
pharmacy services. It is the first 
hospital pharmacy of its kind to offer 
both outpatient and inpatient 
dispensing services. This new 
integrated pharmacy model supports 
our 20:20 Vision strategy to ensure 
that patients receive the best possible 
Christie experience, while developing 
partnerships with other organisations.

The finance department received 
national recognition for work they have 
been doing working with clinical 
colleagues on the haematology and 
transplant unit. An article in Healthcare 
Finance Management Association’s 
(HFMA) monthly read was published in 
September 2012 which described some 
of the fantastic work we’ve done 
looking at cost benchmarking. The 
strength of the article was in the 
clinical engagement led by Dr Adrian 
Bloor who has shown fantastic 
understanding & leadership. 

The warm heartfelt thanks and 
gratitude we receive from our patients 
are a huge reward for the commitment 
and dedication of our staff, as are the 
many cards they receive. But we’re 
fortunate enough to also receive high 
praise from national healthcare bodies 
and organisations. 

Every year across the Trust we receive  
a wide range of awards, accolades  
and accreditations, nationally and 
internationally, recognising our 
knowledge and dedication to cancer 
patients. Such recognition helps raise 
the profile of The Christie and can 
open new doors of opportunity for 
both us and our patients.

Here are just some of our achievements 
from 2012/13: 

The National Institute for Health 
Research (NIHR) Clinical Research 
Network has produced a league table 
which lists the number of studies that 
all trusts undertake and how many 
patients are recruited. In July, The 
Christie featured in second place in the 
Acute Specialist Trusts category; 
conducting 146 studies, an increase of 
10 studies on the previous year’s figure.

While we love getting flowers, cards – and even hugs – 
we’re not all that interested in recognition. We just want to 
do the best we can for our patients. However, through the 
hard work and dedication of our staff, we’ve been lucky 
enough to receive some high praise from our industry too. 
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And finally, our chief executive, Caroline 
Shaw was appointed a Commander of 
the Order of the British Empire (CBE) in 
the Queen’s New Year’s Honours List  
at the end of last year. Caroline, who 
has transformed services for cancer 
patients at a regional level, initiated and 
contributed to cancer developments at 
a national level and enhanced the UK’s 
reputation for cancer care at a European 
level, was given the recognition for 
services to health. 

One of The Christie’s clinical scientists, 
Carl Rowbottom, received the Chief 
Scientific Officer’s Award for 
Leadership in the prestigious 
Advancing Healthcare Awards. The 
awards recognise healthcare science 
staff that have shown determination 
when driving up the quality of patient 
care, both cost efficiently and 
sustainably. Carl received the award, 
after his introduction of intensity 
modulated radiotherapy (IMRT) to 
patients at the specialist cancer centre.

Dr Rhidian Bramley was highly 
commended in the ‘Clinical Leader of 
the Year’ category at the HSJ Awards 
in London in November. Thanks to his 
visionary approach, Dr Bramley has 
been fundamental in many projects, 
which have enhanced the safety, 
quality, speed and efficiency of 
information flow across care pathways 
– all of which are vital to improving 
patient care. 

The executive director of nursing, 
Jackie Bird, was awarded a Florence 
Nightingale Leadership Scholarship  
to look into developing The Christie 
kite mark identified in the 20:20  
Vision strategy.
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As well as raising money to support  
the ongoing capital programme at  
The Christie, the charity continues to 
provide significant support to enhance 
patient care. In October, the charity 
funded the replacement of all the Trust’s 
manual beds to an electronic profiling 
version. These new beds significantly 
enhance the patient experience while 
in hospital allowing them to be moved 
more freely, maintaining their 
independence and dignity.

With this continued generosity from 
our supporters, we will ensure that 
every pound donated is spent efficiently 
to ensure we continue to deliver the 
very best care for our patients.

 

More than 50,000 generous 
supporters have helped The Christie 
charity raise just over £13.1 million in 
2012/2013. 

Money raised for the charity helps  
fund vital research into cancer, extra 
support services and the very latest 
treatments and technologies. All of 
which help make a difference to our 
cancer patients. 

2012 was our final year as the official 
charity partner for the BUPA Great 
Manchester Run. This three year 
partnership has raised more than  
£1.5 million for The Christie and 
significantly raised the profile of the 
charity. Gifts from charitable trusts and 
corporate supporters contributed to 
the redevelopment of The Christie’s 
education centre. The Christie charity’s 
annual ball in October 2012 raised 
more than £115,000 towards our new 
haematology and transplant unit.

The direct mail programme has enjoyed 
growing success with our Christmas 
appeal proving the charity’s most 
successful campaign to date. In addition 
to regular givers, the charity has also 
received sizeable donations towards our 
new building developments.

Wonders never seem to cease at The Christie. And none 
more so than the astonishing passion and enthusiasm of our 
supporters. Thanks to their kindness, we’ve continued to 
make life-changing improvements to our services this year. 
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Recruitment and representation

By the end of March 2013 our public 
membership of The Christie had 
increased to 27,291 with 6,097 new 
public members joining during the 
year. Having a large group of 
supporters providing a wide opinion 
base helps us to maintain a high profile 
for the Trust and develop the services 
we provide.

We use a variety of approaches to 
recruit members. In particular we 
recruit new members via The Christie 
charity, by inviting patients to become 
members, through our membership 
newsletter, as a result of community 
engagement by our public governors 
and via our website.

As a specialist tertiary centre we feel 
our membership should reflect both 
the size and diversity of the population 
we serve and the activities we 
undertake. We monitor the age, 
gender and ethnic mix of our 
membership and would like to recruit 
more members particularly from 
underrepresented groups.

The council of governors, through its 
membership committee, is responsible 
for ensuring that we have a 
representative, active and engaged 
membership. This is achieved through 
our three year membership strategy 
and supporting annual action plan.

There are two constituencies within the 
membership, as detailed below:

Public membership
This is open to anyone aged 16 or over, 
living in England and Wales. There are 
currently 14 areas within this 
constituency, 12 based on local 
government electoral boundaries 
within our network with the others 
covering the ‘North West’ and ‘rest of 
England and Wales’. There is one 
governor for all public areas except 
Manchester, which has two.

Staff membership
Our staff and volunteers automatically 
become members as they join The 
Christie. The classes within the 
constituency are medical staff, nurses, 
other clinical professional staff, non-
clinical staff and volunteers. At the end 
of March 2013 we had 2,389 staff 
members and 249 volunteer members.

Being a member is a way of showing your support of  
The Christie. Members can be patients, friends, relatives, 
staff and general members of the public. We keep our 
members informed about the latest Trust news and invite 
them to special events, giving them a voice via the ability  
to elect their governor. Through the model of membership, 
people can influence the way we deliver our services and 
future strategies.
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Age

0-16 11

17-21 307

22-49 5,540

50+ 9,513

Unspecified 11,920

Total 27,291

Ethnicity

White 10,898

Mixed 87

Asian 756

Black 399

Other 196

Unspecified 14,955

Total 27,291

Gender

Male 9,563

Female 11,263

Unspecified 6,465

Total 27,291

Public 
Constituencies

Number of 
members

Bolton 1,512

Bury 1,654

Cheshire East 2,536

Manchester 2,737

North West 2,829

Oldham 2,094

Rochdale 1,323

Salford 2,032

Stockport 2,384

Tameside and 
Glossop

1,598

Trafford 2,011

Cheshire West 696

Wigan 1,747

Rest of England 2,138

Total public 
members

27,291

As at 31st March 2013

For further information on membership 
or to contact your governer, please 
contact the membership office.

Membership Office
The Christie NHS Foundation Trust
Wilmslow Road
Manchester  M20 4BX
Tel: 0161 446 8616
Email: members@christie.nhs.uk
Website: www.christie.nhs.uk
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The election results in 2012  
were as follows:

Re-elected:

Alex Davidson
Cheshire East

Christine Matthewson
Rochdale

Jackie Collins
Stockport

Carl Sharpe
Wigan

Thelma Gowenlock
Staff: volunteers

There are 29 governors: 15 representing 
the public, patients and carers; five 
representing our staff and volunteers 
and nine appointed by partner 
organisations. The composition of the 
council has not changed during the year.

Elections in 2012/13

Neil Harvey stepped down as public 
governor for Central Cheshire at the 
end of March 2012, an election was 
held in this constituency in 2012/13 
and no candidates came forward. The 
council of governors reviewed the 
constituencies of the council at their 
November meeting and decided not to 
make any changes. Following the 
decision not to review the 
constituencies of the council, this 
constituency will be subject to a further 
election in 2013/14. As a result of a 
change in job that resulted in a change 
in her staff constituency, Keeley 
Johnson stepped down as governor for 
staff: other clinical professionals in May 
2012, leaving a vacancy. Pam Morrison 
stepped down as staff governor: 
registered nursing in September 2012 
when she left the Trust. The election 
process was then started to appoint to 
the two vacant staff governor roles, 
staff: registered nursing and staff: 
other clinical professionals. The post of 
staff governor for the other clinical 
professionals constituency was 
uncontested and Dr David Hamilton 
was appointed in February 2013. The 
staff: registered nursing constituency 
was subject to an election and Peter 
Mackereth was appointed to the 
council in March 2013. 

Our governors don’t just keep us on the right track. 
Through their leadership and guidance they make sure  
our members, our managers and the public are all kept  
in the loop – balancing a diverse range of needs and 
expectations while ensuring our patients receive the very 
best care there is. 
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being prepared and also on other 
issues such as revisions to our 
constitution and our declaration for the 
Care Quality Commission’s ‘essential 
standards of quality and safety’. 

The council met formally five times 
during 2012. The council of governors 
has three sub committees focusing 
support into the areas of membership, 
quality, and development and 
sustainability. Members of the board 
have always attended the meetings  
of the council and each director is 
linked to one of these sub-committees. 
Our governors have provided the  
board with support, as well as an 
appropriate degree of challenge. They 
have contributed to our strategic plans 
via their involvement in council 
meetings, committees and working 
groups and appointed a new external 
auditor in 2012.

In light of the implications of the NHS 
White Paper ‘Equity and excellence – 
liberating the NHS’ all our partner 
governors were re-appointed for a 
period of one year to September 2013, 
while the Trust continues to undertake 
a review of its stakeholders. Professor 
Stefan Meyer was appointed as the 
new partner governor representing the 
University of Manchester in May 2012 
replacing Professor Nic Jones. We 
appointed The New Economy as a 
partner organisation to replace the 
North West Development Agency and 
in July 2012 they appointed Dr 
Alexander Roy to represent them on 
the council of governors. Barry Jones 
was appointed as the new partner 
governor representing The Christie 
charity in October 2012 replacing 
Racheline Garston.

We are yet to appoint to the two 
vacant partner governor posts 
previously held by PCT representatives. 
The decision on whom to appoint to 
these posts will be made once there is 
a fuller understanding of who will be 
the most suitable choice.
Working with our governors

Our governors play a vital role in 
helping us communicate with our 
members and partner organisations 
about our vision, strategy, and 
performance. It is their responsibility to 
maintain and review the membership 
strategy and increase our membership. 
They also have specific responsibilities 
in regards to the appointment and 
remuneration of our Chairman and 
non-executive directors, the 
appointment of the external auditor 
and in relation to our annual report 
and accounts. The board of directors 
consults them when our annual plan is 
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Development and  
sustainability committee

This committee monitors activities with 
regard to the quality of the hospital 
environment. It also receives 
information on the achievement of 
access targets, such as the 62-day 
cancer waiting time target and the 
developments at the Trust, such as the 
Oak Road Patient Treatment Centre, 
and our new radiotherapy service at 
Salford. The committee has also 
reviewed the Annual Plan on behalf of 
the Council.

The register of interests of our governors 
is available at www.christie.nhs.uk

Membership committee

This committee directs and monitors 
recruitment and engagement activity, 
manages our communication with 
members through our newsletters and 
letters and has overseen the 
organisation of a series of engagement 
events including the governor led 
20:20 Vision engagement sessions in 
each constituency. We invite members 
to regular supporter’s seminars and 
major events such as Trust open days. 
Through the membership committee 
we are encouraging and developing 
increased local engagement activity 
from governors in their constituencies.

Quality committee

This committee monitors, reports and 
comments upon patient experience 
and quality and standards of service. 
During the year the group has 
continued with a successful initiative to 
meet patients and gather first-hand 
feedback on the standard of service 
provided. They have also started work 
on a project to look at patient 
experience on other sites where we 
deliver care. The committee also 
reviews the quality aspects of the 
Annual Plan on behalf of the Council. 

Nominations committee

This committee makes 
recommendations to the council on the 
appointment and remuneration of the 
Chairman and non-executive directors 
when required. It met formally four 
times during the year. Our Chairman is 
chair of this committee and attended 
all meetings. Jackie Collins, our lead 
governor and public governor for 
Stockport and Pam Morrison, our staff 
governor for nursing also made up the 
committee until September 2012. Mr 
Paul Fulford, staff governor for 
registered medical practitioners was 
invited to sit on the committee when 
Pam Morrison left the Trust and David 
Makin, partner governor also joined 
the committee in October 2012 and 
attended all meetings. Peter Latimer, 
public governor for the North West 
replaced Jackie Collins for the non-
executive director recruitment process 
in late 2012 and attended two 
meetings. The Chief Executive 
attended three meetings as an advisor 
to the committee. Our Interim Director 
of Workforce also attended all 
meetings as an advisor to the 
committee. 

Patrick Loftus and Barrie Bernstein 
started in their posts as non-executive 
directors from 1st April 2012. They 
replaced Rt Hon Lord Keith Bradley and 
Bill Farndon. There has been one 
appointment of a non-executive 
director during the year managed 
internally. Jennie Johnson was 
appointed to replace Sir Duncan Nichol 
and started with the Trust from 1st 
March 2013. 
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Roger Bowman Elected public Trafford 4 1 D&SC 2013

Chris Byrom Elected public Tameside & Glossop 3 1 MC 2014

Jackie Collins 3 Elected public Stockport 3 0 Nomco 2015

Alex Davidson Elected public Eastern Cheshire 3 1 QC 2015

Jane Butler Elected public Remainder of England and Wales 3 1 QC 2013

Donald Hegarty Elected public Oldham 3 2 MC 2014

Rada Kemp Elected public Manchester 2 1 MC 2013

Peter Latimer Elected public North West 3 0 D&SC 2013

Christine Mathewson Elected public Rochdale 4 1 QC 2015

Carl Sharpe Elected public Wigan 4 0 MC 2015

Roger Smith Elected public Manchester 4 1 D&SC 2013

Ann Gavin-Daley Elected public Salford 4 2 QC 2014

Abigail Tomkins Elected public Bolton 2 1 MC 2014

Dr John Wild Elected public Bury 4 0 D&SC 2014

Neil Wrathall Elected staff Non-clinical staff 3 2 MC 2014

Thelma Gowenlock Elected staff Volunteers 4 1 QC 2015

Mr Paul Fulford Elected staff Registered medical practitioner 3 2 QC 2014

Pam Morrison 4 Elected staff Registered nurses 1 (out of 2) n/a Nomco 2013

Key:

QC Quality Committee

D&SC Development and Sustainability Committee

MC Membership Committee

Nomco Nominations Committee
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David Makin 2 Appointed Greater Manchester and  
Cheshire Cancer Network – 
patient representative

3 n/a QC 2013

Cllr John Battye 2 Appointed Local authority appointed  
by AGMA

0 n/a D&SC 2013

Cllr Paul Andrews 2 Appointed Local authority appointed  
by AGMA

0 n/a D&SC 2013

Marcella Turner 2 Appointed The Black Health Agency 0 n/a QC 2013

Professor Stefan Meyer 2 Appointed The University of Manchester 2 (out of 3) n/a QC 2013

Dr Alexander Roy 2 Appointed The New Economy 2 (out of 2) n/a D&S 2013

Barrie Jones 2 Appointed The Christie charity 2 (out of 2) n/a MC 2013

Key:

QC Quality Committee

D&SC Development and Sustainability Committee

MC Membership Committee

Nomco Nominations Committee

Notes:

1. Terms of office for governors elected in 2009 and subsequent years will expire at the annual 
members’ meeting three years after the date of their election.

2. All our partner governors were re-appointed for a period of one year ending in September 2013.

3. Jackie Collins, public governor for Stockport continued as our lead governor throughout the year.

4. Pam Morrison, staff governor left the Trust in September 2012.
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Composition of the board

The board consists of five executive 
directors and six non-executive 
directors, one of whom is the non-
executive chairman.

Rt Hon Lord Keith Bradley 
Chairman

Caroline Shaw 
Chief Executive

Executive directors

Dr Chris Harrison 
Executive Medical Director  
(to 17th March 2013)

Roger Spencer 
Chief Operating Officer  
and Deputy Chief Executive

Ian Moston 
Executive Director of Finance  
and Business Development

Jackie Bird 
Executive Director of  
Nursing and Quality

Non-executive directors

Lee Childs
Senior Non-executive Director

Dame Jenni Murray 

Sir Duncan Nichol
Deputy Chairman  
to 31st October 2012

Patrick Loftus 

Barrie Bernstein

Jennie Johnson 
from 1st March 2013

The board’s key responsibilities are  
as follows:
 – to set strategic objectives, taking 

into account views of the council  
of governors and other key 
stakeholders

 – to provide the healthcare required 
under its contracts with 
commissioners and other 
organisations

 – to ensure appropriate governance 
and performance arrangements  
are in place to deliver the Trust’s 
strategic objectives

 – to ensure the quality and safety of 
all healthcare services, research and 
development, education and training

 – to ensure that the Trust complies 
with the terms of its authorisation 
by Monitor, its constitution, relevant 
legislation, mandatory guidance and 
other relevant obligations

Our authorisation from our regulator 
Monitor and constitution govern the 
operation of the Trust. The schedule  
of reservation and delegation of 
powers sets out the types of decisions 
that must be taken by the board  
of directors and those which can be 
delegated to management. The 
constitution defines which decisions 
must be taken by the council of 
governors and how disagreements 
between the board and the council 
should be resolved.

With so much going on at The Christie, our directors are 
there to keep everything running smoothly. They make sure 
that our objectives are met, our strategies are implemented 
and – most importantly – our standards are maintained. 
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consisting of the Chairman, Chief 
Executive, a regional representative  
and an external assessor. Their contracts 
of employment do not contain an 
expiry date.

Interests and commitments

The register of interests of directors 
may be viewed at www.christie.nhs.uk. 
Rt Hon Lord Keith Bradley has been our 
Chairman throughout the year.

Board meetings and committees

The board supports the Nolan 
principles and makes the majority of  
its decisions in meetings open to the 
public. The board met in public ten 
times during the year. It also met in 
private ten times and held four 
informal away days during the year. A 
joint meeting of the board of directors 
and governors was also held. 

The board delegates some of its work 
to committees. There is a standing item 
at each board meeting to receive the 
minutes of the board committees’ 
meetings. Attendance by directors at 
board and committee meetings is 
shown on page 96. At the start of the 
year there were seven board 
committees. The work of the 
committees is described briefly below. 
 

Evaluation of performance

All directors have an annual 
performance appraisal and a personal 
development plan. The Chief Executive 
is responsible for the performance 
appraisal of the executive directors. The 
performance of the Chief Executive is 
reviewed by the Chairman. The results 
of these appraisals are reported to the 
remuneration committee.

The performance of the non-executive 
directors is reviewed by the Chairman 
and reported to the council of 
governors, using a process agreed by 
our council of governors. The 
performance of the Chairman is 
reviewed by the non-executive 
directors led by the senior independent 
director in a process agreed by our 
council of governors.

Board appointments

The expiry of the term of office for 
each non-executive director is stated in 
their biography on pages 93-95. The 
non-executive directors appointed on 
or before 31st March 2007 were 
appointed by the Appointments 
Commission for a term of four years,  
as amended by the transition 
arrangements on becoming a 
foundation trust. All appointments 
made since 1st April 2007 were made 
by the nominations committee and 
approved by our council of governors 
and are for a term of three years. 

The Chairman and any non-executive 
director may be removed by the council 
of governors in accordance with 
paragraph 20 of our constitution. The 
executive directors were appointed 
through an open competition panel 

The executive team has delivered 
another outstanding year of financial 
and service performance.

During 2012/13 the council of 
governors approved the following 
appointments:
 – Appointment of Jennie Johnson  

as a non-executive director from  
1st March 2013 for three years to 
replace Sir Duncan Nichol

There were changes to the board of 
directors during 2012:
 – We appointed two new non-

executive directors, Patrick Loftus 
and Barrie Bernstein from 1st April 
2012 for three years

 – Sir Duncan Nichol resigned from his 
position as non-executive director on 
31st October 2012 after four and a 
half years and was replaced by Jennie 
Johnson from 1st March 2013.

Our board has complied with the 
requirements of the constitution 
relating to board composition. The 
board is satisfied that it has acted 
appropriately and been balanced, 
complete and has contained a suitable 
range of appropriate and 
complementary skills and experience.

The board considers that all the 
non-executive directors are 
independent and the Chairman was 
independent upon appointment. Lee 
Childs is the senior non-executive 
director with particular responsibility to 
make himself available to members and 
governors who have concerns they do 
not feel they can raise with the 
Chairman or any other executive 
director. He also leads the appraisal 
process of the Chairman.
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place monthly and is chaired by the 
Chief Executive and comprises the 
executive directors, divisional directors 
and general managers. The terms of 
reference including the membership of 
the management board were revised 
during the year.

Risk and quality  
governance committee

The risk and quality governance 
committee has responsibility for risk 
management of our Trust and meets 
monthly. It reports to the management 
board and is chaired by the chief 
operating officer and comprises the 
executive directors, divisional directors 
and other senior officers.

Finance and investment committee

The finance and investment committee 
provides an independent and objective 
review of the financial and investment 
policy and performance issues of the 
Trust. Reporting to the board of 
directors the committee reviews all 
major business cases above £0.5m and 
provides assurance to the board on 
investment decisions and financial 
policies. The chair of the committee is 
the chair of the board. 

During the year the business of the 
finance and investment committee has 
been considered quarterly as part of 
the private board; where there are 
significant decisions to make. The 
finance and investment committee 
have the option to meet separately to 
the board of directors.

Chief Executive would not be members 
of the committee but would be invited 
to attend meetings if considered 
necessary by the committee.

Key activities during the year were:
 – reviewing the Trust’s declaration of 

compliance with Essential Standards 
and meeting ongoing compliance 
with registration requirements for 
the Care Quality Commission 

 – receiving reports and action plans 
from internal and external 
assessments

 – monitoring the board assurance 
framework

 – receiving internal audit reports
 – review of the terms of reference of 

the committee

Charitable funds committee

The role of our charitable funds 
committee is to oversee the 
management of The Christie Charitable 
Fund. It is chaired by Rt Hon Lord Keith 
Bradley, Chairman.

Remuneration committee

The remuneration committee is 
responsible for the appointment, 
remuneration and terms of service of 
the executive directors. It is chaired by 
the Chairman and comprises all the 
non-executive directors.

Management board

The role of the management board is 
to formulate recommendations on 
strategic and operational matters for 
referral to the board of directors for 
approval. The committee also monitors 
the effective and efficient financial, 
performance, quality and safety 
management of The Christie. It takes 

Audit committee

The audit committee provides 
independent assurance to the board 
that there are effective systems of 
governance, risk management and 
internal control for all matters relating 
to corporate, financial and investment 
governance and risk management. It is 
chaired by Lee Childs, non-executive 
director with financial experience and 
comprises one other non-executive 
director, Patrick Loftus. Sir Duncan 
Nichol attended the committee up until 
he left in October 2012.

Key activities during the year were:
 – reviewing the Trust’s annual report, 

financial statements and quality 
accounts (2011/12)

 – monitoring the board assurance 
framework

 – approving the corporate governance 
documents of the Trust

 – receiving reports from the internal 
auditor

 – review of the terms of reference of 
the committee

 – appointing the external auditor, a 
new external auditor was appointed 
during 2012

Quality assurance committee

The quality assurance committee 
provides independent assurance to the 
board that there are effective systems 
of clinical and corporate governance, 
risk management and internal control 
for clinical and research governance 
and risk management. The committee 
is chaired by Barrie Bernstein and 
comprises 2 of the non-executive 
directors, Dame Jenni Murray and 
Jennie Johnson. Following a review it 
was concluded that the Chairman and 
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trusts. Caroline also helped develop the 
national policies for provider regimes.

Caroline is patron of the National 
Business Women’s Network. Her 
awards include the national CBI First 
Woman Awards (2010); Crain’s 
Business Woman of the Year Award 
(2009); and North West Inspiring 
Woman of the Year award (2007) for 
services to the public sector. Caroline 
delivered the prestigious Geoff Scaife 
Memorial Lecture at the 2006 NHS 
Confederation conference. She was 
appointed to a non-executive director 
post at The Bright Futures’ Educational 
Trust in January 2012. She holds an 
MSc in Health Policy and Management, 
an honours degree in Health Studies, 
and has previous clinical experience as 
a nurse and a midwife.

Caroline has been appointed a 
Commander of the Order of the British 
Empire (CBE) in the Queen’s New 
Year’s Honours List. Caroline was given 
the recognition for services to health.

Executive directors

Dr Chris Harrison
Executive Medical Director MB ChB 
MSc DRCOG DCH FFPHM
Having worked at The Christie since 
November 2005, Chris Harrison was 
appointed as part time medical director 
in June 2006 and took up the role full 
time from July 2008. In 1992, following 
training in clinical medicine Chris was 
appointed director of public health for 
The South Lancashire Health Authority 
(Ormskirk, Chorley, South Ribble) and 
then in 1996 director of public health 

Formerly Member of Parliament for 
Manchester Withington from 1987-
2005, he was parliamentary under 
secretary of state for social security 
(1997-98), deputy chief whip (1998-
2001), minister of state at the home 
office (2001-02) and a member of the 
health select committee (2002-05). He 
was appointed a privy councillor in 
2001 and enobled in 2006. The 
Bradley report on people with mental 
health problems or learning disabilities 
in the criminal justice system was 
published on 30th April 2009. Lord 
Bradley became chairman of the 
charitable funds committee in April 
2008 and became a director of The 
Christie Charity Trading Company on 
24th April 2009. He was appointed as 
chairman on 1st June 2011 for a three 
year term expiring on 31st May 2014.

Caroline Shaw CBE
Chief Executive
Caroline Shaw became Chief Executive 
of The Christie in September 2005. She 
has strategic, operational, clinical and 
change-management experience and 
an award winning record of improving 
patient care through reform and 
modernisation. Caroline was previously 
deputy chief executive and director of 
operations at the University Hospital of 
South Manchester NHS Foundation 
Trust and prior to that held a number of 
senior posts in the NHS. Caroline has 
previous experience in leading the NHS 
North West provider development 
team, which she undertook in 
conjunction with her role as The 
Christie CEO. Caroline was also 
responsible for supporting aspirant NHS 
trusts in their bid to become foundation 

Review of the committee  
structure and roles

Following an initial review in February 
2010 a further review of the quality 
assurance committee was carried out 
in November 2010 to assess the extent 
to which the committee is fulfilling its 
role of providing assurance to the 
board. This was carried out again in 
2011 and some changes were made 
including the Risk and Quality 
Governance committee now reporting 
to Management board. Following a 
review of the risk management 
strategy, a new committee structure 
was developed and the Risk 
Committee was disbanded to be 
replaced by the Risk and Quality 
Governance Committee. No further 
changes have been made to the 
committee structure in 2012/13.

Board members

The Rt. Hon the Lord Keith Bradley 
Chairman
Rt Hon Lord Bradley was appointed as 
a non-executive director of The Christie 
NHS Foundation Trust on 1st 
November 2006 for a four year term 
ending on 31st October 2010. The 
council of governors, at its meeting on 
9th September 2010, approved Lord 
Bradley’s re-appointment for a further 
term from 1st November 2010 to 31st 
October 2013. Lord Bradley is Associate 
Vice-President (Governmental, Political 
and Regional Relationships) at The 
University of Manchester. He is chair of 
MaST LIFTCo, a Council Member of the 
Medical Protection Society and a 
trustee of both the Centre for Mental 
Health and the Prison Reform Trust. 
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Network and then deputy director of 
nursing and governance at Salford 
Royal NHS Foundation Trust. Jackie is 
currently responsible for the 
professional leadership of nursing and 
other health professionals, such as 
therapists. Her director role allows  
her to develop her long-standing 
interest in cancer, while addressing 
improvements in patient safety, patient 
experience and clinical outcomes. 

Jackie was awarded a Florence 
Nightingale Scholarship in 2007 to 
review approaches to patient safety in 
America and Denmark and in 2012 has 
been awarded a Florence Nightingale 
Leadership Scholarship to investigate 
the development of a ‘kite mark’ for 
patient experience. A registered nurse 
and a mental health trained nurse, she 
holds an honours degree in nursing 
studies and a Masters in management 
and leadership.

Non-executive directors

Lee Childs
Lee Childs was appointed as a non-
executive director on 1st August 2007 
for a three year term expiring on 30th 
July 2010. On 10th February the 
council of governors approved his 
reappointment for a second three year 
term expiring on 30th July 2013. Lee is 
a chartered public finance accountant 
and was a partner with 
PricewaterhouseCoopers (PWC) from 
1990 to 2007. He specialised in the 
public sector and led PWC’s public 
service practice in the North West for 
the majority of this period. He was the 
lead engagement partner for PWC for 
a number of local authorities, NHS 
bodies and higher education 
establishments for both external and 

Roger Spencer
Deputy Chief Executive and  
Chief Operating Officer
Roger Spencer was appointed as 
director of delivery in April 2006. He  
is also a director of The Christie Clinic 
LLP. Roger was previously general 
manager for emergency and critical 
care, women and children and clinical 
support services at Salford Royal NHS 
Foundation Trust. He has also worked 
for Greater Manchester Strategic 
Health Authority as national imaging 
contract manager and as deputy 
director of operations at Burnley 
Healthcare NHS Trust.

Roger has been identified as one of  
the NHS Top Leaders, and is a member 
of The National Leadership Council  
Top Leaders programme. He has also 
carried out work providing advice and 
support on Acute Services for the 
Department of Health and Social Care 
Northern Ireland. Roger holds an MBA, 
an honours degree in nursing studies 
and is a registered nurse. He is also an 
independent director for Southway 
Housing Trust.

Jackie Bird
Executive Director of Nursing  
and Quality 
Jackie was appointed as executive 
director of nursing and quality in June 
2011, joining from The Rotherham NHS 
Foundation Trust where she was chief 
of quality and standards and chief 
nurse. Jackie has worked previously for 
The Christie for 12 years, joining in 
1988 as a staff nurse on ward 12 
where she soon progressed into a 
senior nurse role. Jackie then became 
the first director of the Greater 
Manchester and Cheshire Cancer 

for North West Lancashire Health 
Authority (Preston and Blackpool). He 
subsequently held posts as head of the 
regional cancer team at North West 
Regional Office; deputy regional 
director of public health at North West 
Regional Office; director of the Greater 
Manchester Health Protection Unit; 
and medical director and director of 
public health at Greater Manchester 
Strategic Health Authority until moving 
to The Christie in 2005.

He has a long-standing interest in the 
development of cancer services and 
improvements in clinical quality. He has 
been involved in numerous national 
and international committees relating 
to cancer care, quality of care and 
standards of clinical practice. Over the 
past 12 months Chris has also been 
working with NHS London to redesign 
cancer care across London.

Ian Moston
Executive Director of Finance  
and Business Development
Ian Moston was appointed as director 
of finance and business development  
in July 2006. Ian was previously director 
of finance, performance and 
commissioning for Staffordshire 
Moorlands Primary Care Trust. Prior to 
this he held a number of senior finance 
posts within the NHS. He holds an 
honours degree in Management and 
Business Studies and is a qualified CIPFA 
accountant. He became a director of 
The Christie Charity Trading Company 
on 24th April 2009 and is a non-
executive of Weaver Vale Housing Trust 
and director of The Christie Clinic LLP.
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a trustee of Manchester City Football 
Club’s City in the Community and the 
Andrew Flintoff (AF) Foundation.

Barrie Bernstein
Barrie Bernstein was appointed as a 
non-executive director of The Christie 
from 1st April 2012 with an expiry date 
of 31st March 2015. He was managing 
director and then chairman of 
Bernstein Group PLC, the UK’s largest 
independent kitchen manufacturer and 
retired in 2002. He was chairman of 
Britannia Building Society from 1999 to 
2004 and chairman of Rochdale 
Development Agency from 1993 to 
2007. Barrie was a non-executive 
director of B.A. Management from 
1992 to the present and is also 
chairman of Bright Futures Educational 
Trust. Barrie has also held several other 
non-executive and chair posts across 
the public and private sector between 
1999 and the present.

Jennie Johnson 
(from 1st March 2013)
Jennie Johnson was appointed as a 
non-executive director of The Christie 
NHS Foundation Trust from 1st March 
2013 with an expiry date of 29th 
February 2016. Jennie is the founder 
and Chief Executive Officer of Kids 
Allowed Limited. She is an 
entrepreneur with 10 years’ experience 
of starting and running a multi-award 
winning company and has an extensive 
corporate background in business 
management. Jennie has also set up 
the Kids Allowed Academy to deliver 
qualifications to staff.

Office Correctional Services Strategy 
Board. He is former chairman of HM 
Courts Services Board and a current 
nonexecutive director of two private 
healthcare companies, Deltex Medical 
Group Ltd and Synergy Healthcare Ltd. 
Duncan was appointed chairman of 
the Academy for Healthcare Science in 
January 2012. Sir Duncan resigned at 
the end of October 2012 to take up 
the post of chairman at the Countess 
of Chester NHS Trust.

Dame Jenni Murray DBE
Dame Jenni Murray DBE was appointed 
as a non-executive director of The 
Christie in December 2010 with an 
expiry date of December 2013. Jenni 
was a patient at The Christie in 2006. 
She is a patron of the Breast Cancer 
Campaign, of the Family Planning 
Association and of Women’s Aid. Jenni 
is also president of the Fawcett Society. 
Since her treatment she has made a 
significant contribution to raising funds 
for The Christie charity. As a journalist 
and writer Jenni has published a 
number of books and numerous 
newspaper articles. She has presented 
Newsnight, Today and continues to 
present Woman’s Hour on Radio 4. 
Jenni was made a Dame in the Queen’s 
Birthday Honours list in 2011.

Patrick Loftus
Patrick Loftus was appointed as a 
non-executive director of The Christie 
from 1st April 2012 with an expiry date 
of 31st March 2015. He is a qualified 
chartered accountant and currently 
works as North West Practice Senior 
Partner at Deloitte LLP. He has more 
than 30 years’ experience in 
professional services, with 15 years in 
corporate finance and audit. Pat is also 

internal audit and consultancy 
assignments. He was active in CIPFA 
affairs at a national level as vice-
chairman of the national audit panel 
and was president of the North West 
and North Wales Society of CIPFA. Lee 
has been chairman of the audit 
committee since 17th December 2007.

Sir Duncan Nichol 
(to October 2012) 
Sir Duncan Nichol was appointed as a 
non-executive director on 1st April 
2008. At its meeting on 9th February 
2011 the council of governors approved 
Sir Duncan’s re-appointment for a 
further three year term from 1st April 
2011 to 31st March 2014. Sir Duncan’s 
thirty year career in the NHS culminated 
in his being appointment as chief 
executive of the NHS for five years until 
1994. The majority of his career was 
spent in the North West during which 
time he held posts at the South 
Manchester Hospitals Management 
Committee (when it had responsibility 
for The Christie) and the Salford Area 
Health Authority before moving to the 
Mersey Regional Health Authority. 

Sir Duncan was awarded an Honorary 
Doctorate by Salford University in 1990 
and for five years, until 2004, he was 
Honorary Professor and Director at the 
Manchester Centre for Healthcare 
Management at The University of 
Manchester. Sir Duncan is a former 
chairman of the Queen’s Counsel 
Selection Panel, the Parole Board for 
England and Wales and the ‘not for 
profit’ company Clinical Pathology 
Accreditation (UK) Ltd. He is a former 
commissioner for Judicial 
Appointments and a former 
nonexecutive director of the Home 
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List of attendance of directors at board meetings, non-executive 
committees of the board and the council of governors:
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Out of 10 Out of 4 Out of 4 Out of 1 Out of 4 Out of 1

Lord Keith Bradley 10 n/a 41 1 4 1

Lee Childs 9 4 12 1 2 1

Dame Jenni Murray 7 1 (out of 3)3 3 0 2 1

Barrie Bernstein 9 0 (out of 3)4 4 0 0 1

Patrick Loftus 9 4 2 (out of 2)5 0 0 1

Sir Duncan Nichol 
(to Oct 2012)

6 (out of 7) 2 (out of 3) 2 (out of 2) 0 1 (out of 2) 0 (out of 0)

Jennie Johnson 1 (out of 1) n/a 0 (out of 0) 0 (out of 0) 1 (out of 1) 0 (out of 0)

Caroline Shaw CBE 9 n/a n/a 0 3 n/a

Dr Chris Harrison 8 (out of 9) n/a 2 (out of 3) 1 3 (out of 3) n/a

Ian Moston 10 4 n/a 1 3 n/a

Roger Spencer 10 n/a n/a 1 4 n/a

Jackie Bird 10 4 4 1 4 n/a

Following a board development review in November 2012 the non-executive membership of the 
assurance committees was amended. The Audit Committee will be attended by Lee Childs and 
Patrick Loftus and the Quality Assurance Committee will be attended by Barrie Bernstein, Jenni 
Murray, Jennie Johnson and the Chairman would be ‘in attendance’ at this committee. The Chief 
Executive would not be a member of the committees but would be invited to meetings at the request 
of the committee.

1. Lord Bradley is ‘in attendance’ at this meeting. 

2. Lee Childs was in attendance at this meeting and is not a member of the committee.

3. Following a review of assurance committee membership in November, Jenni Murray  
is no longer a member of the Audit Committee.

4. Following a review of assurance committee membership in November, Barrie Bernstein  
is no longer a member of the Audit Committee.

5. Following a review of assurance committee membership in November, Patrick Loftus  
is no longer a member of the Quality Assurance Committee.
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C. Appointment, resignation and 
term of office

 – Patrick Loftus and Barrie Bernstein 
were appointed as non-executive 
directors from 1st April 2012 for 
three years 

 – Sir Duncan Nichol resigned from his 
post as a non-executive director in 
October 2012 after serving four and 
a half years on the board of directors

 – Jennie Johnson was appointed as a 
non-executive director from  
1st March 2013 for three years

 – Dr Chris Harrison resigned from his 
post as Executive Medical Director 
after seven years in March 2013  
to take up a new appointment in 
London

 – Ian Moston resigned from his post 
as Executive Director of Finance & 
Business Development after six years 
in March 2013 to take up a new 
post in London

 – all non-executive directors are 
appointed for a fixed term of  
three years

 – executive directors’ contracts of 
employment do not contain an 
expiry date

 – all governors are appointed for  
a term of three years

A. Directors

Throughout the year the directors have 
conducted themselves as an effective 
board and have maintained a clear 
balance between executive and 
non-executive directors.

B. Governors

The council of governors has been 
effective in carrying out its role as 
defined in the constitution and in the 
code of governance. A joint governor-
board of director workshop was held 
which focused on the working 
relationship between the 2 and ways in 
which the board and council could 
better work together to achieve the 
20:20 Vision. Governors have been 
active during the year through their 
committees and other working groups.

A review has been conducted to see how the board has 
complied with its adoption of the NHS Foundation Trust 
Code of Governance. Details of how they have applied 
these principles are set out below, together with what 
work is taking place to maintain compliance.
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 – the council of governors 
recommended there be no salary 
increase for the Chairman and 
non-executive directors during 
2012/13

F. Accountability and audit

 – the board of directors receives a 
comprehensive report of the 
financial position every month  
which provides a balanced and 
understandable assessment of the 
Trust’s position and prospects

 – the Trust uses its audit and quality 
assurance committees to review the 
systems of internal control to 
safeguard investment, assets, 
patient safety and service quality 
and to ensure compliance with legal 
duties 

 – the audit committee, led by a 
non-executive director with recent 
and relevant financial experience, 
carries out the role defined in its 
terms of reference to ensure 
appropriate financial reporting and 
internal control

G. Relations with stakeholders

 – the board of directors continues to 
support the public governors in their 
engagement with members and 
patients following publication of the 
NHS White Paper ‘Equity and 
excellence – liberating the NHS’. The 
board of directors is working closely 
with the organisation’s key 
stakeholders

The Christie is satisfied that it complies, 
or is undertaking action to maintain 
compliance, with the provisions of the 
code.

D. Information, development  
and evaluation

 – an integrated performance and 
quality report that includes quality, 
performance and financial 
information is provided to the board 
and is published monthly

 – evaluation of the performance of 
the board, its principal committees 
and individual directors is carried out 
annually

 – governors receive the agenda for 
each board meeting a week before 
each meeting and the chief 
executive’s report and a summary 
performance report after each 
meeting. Additional information is 
available on the website and on 
request from any executive director

 – new governors receive training to 
aid their understanding of The 
Christie’s activities and their roles 
and responsibilities as governors. 
Induction training is offered for all 
new governors as well as to existing 
governors who may want a 
refresher. Training sessions 
constantly evolve following governor 
feedback on their content 

E. Director remuneration

 – the remuneration of executive 
directors is reviewed annually using 
published data and the advice of an 
independent remuneration 
consultant when appropriate

 – the remuneration of executive 
directors is approved by the 
remuneration committee which 
comprises the non-executive directors

 – remuneration of senior management 
is subject to agenda  for change  
and is not recommended by the 
remuneration committee
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Salary and pension entitlements of senior managers - remuneration

2012/13 2011/12

Name and Title Salary 
(bands of 
£5000) 
£000

Other 
remuneration 
(bands of 
£5000)  
£000

Benefits 
in kind 
£00

Salary 
(bands of 
£5000) 
£000

Other 
remuneration 
(bands of 
£5000) 
£000

Benefits 
in kind 
£00

C Shaw 
Chief Executive

190-195 0 0 230-235 0 0

I Moston 
Director of Finance and 
Business Development

120-125 0 0 140-145 0 0

J Sykes  
Acting Director of Nursing and 
Governance 1/8/10 - 31/5/11

N/A 0 0 25-30 0 0

J Bird  
Director of Nursing and Quality 
from 1/6/11

115-120 0 40 95-100 0 50

C Harrison  
Medical Director until 17/3/13

190-195 0 0 200-205 15-20 0

R Spencer 
Chief Operating Officer and 
Deputy Chief Executive

130-135 0 0 145-150 0 0

J Martin  
Chairman until 31/5/11

N/A 0 0 0-5 0 0

K Bradley  
Chairman from 1/6/11  
Non-executive 1/4/11 - 31/5/11  

40-45 0 0 35-40 0 0

L Childs  
Non-executive

15-20 0 0 15-20 0 0

W Farndon  
Senior Non-executive Director 
until 31/3/12

N/A 0 0 15-20 0 0

The accounting policies for pensions 
and other retirement benefits are set 
out in note 1.3.1 to the financial 
statements.

Details of senior employees’ remuneration and pension 
benefits can be found in the two tables in this 
remuneration report and are subject to audit.
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D Nichols  
Deputy Chairman non-
executive until 31/10/12

5-10 0 0 10-15 0 0

J Murray  
Non-executive

10-15 0 0 10-15 0 0

B Bernstein  
Non-executive from 1/4/12

10-15 0 0 0 0 0

P Loftus  
Non-executive from 1/4/12

0 0 0 0 0 0

J Johnson  
Non-executive from 1/3/13

0-5 0 0 0 0 0

Band of highest paid director’s 
total remuneration (£000)

190-195 230-235

Median total remuneration 26,555 26,556

Ratio 7.2 8.8

Benefits in kind relate to the provision of lease cars 

Salary and pension entitlements of senior managers – pension benefits

Name Real 
increase in 
pension at 
age 60 
(bands of 
£2500) 
£000

Real 
increase in 
pension 
lump sum 
at age 60 
(bands of 
£2500)  
£000

Total 
accrued 
pension at 
age 60 as 
at 31 March 
2013 
(bands of 
£5000)  
£000

Lump sum 
at age 60 
related to 
accrued 
pension at 
31 March 
2013 (bands 
of £5000)  
£000

Cash 
equivalent 
transfer 
value at 31 
March 2013 
£000

Cash 
equivalent 
transfer 
value at 31 
March 2012 
£000

Real 
increase in 
cash 
equivalent 
transfer 
value  
£000

Employers 
contribution 
to 
stakeholder 
pension  
£00

C Shaw -2.5-0 -2.5-0 65-70 195-200 1,043 978 14 0

I Moston -2.5-0 -2.5-0 35-40 105-110 554 516 11 0

C Harrison -2.5-0 -2.5-0 60-65 190-195 1,266 1,118 16 0

R Spencer -2.5-0 -2.5-0 40-45 130-135 768 718 13 0

J Sykes 0 0 0 0 0 607 0 0

J Bird 0-2.5 0-2.5 45-50 135-140 793 730 25 0

As non-executive members do not receive pensionable remuneration,  
there will be no entries in respect of pensions for non-executive members
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Real Increase in CETV

This reflects the increase in CETV 
effectively funded by the employer.  
It takes account of the increase in 
accrued pension due to inflation, 
contributions paid by the employee 
(including the value of any benefits 
transferred from another pension 
scheme or arrangement). Updated 
common market valuation factors  
were issued in December 2012  
and have been used to produce  
31st March 2013 figures.

Caroline Shaw
Chief Executive 
28th May 2013

Cash Equivalent Transfer Values

A Cash Equivalent Transfer Value 
(CETV) is the actuarially assessed 
capital value of the pension scheme 
benefits accrued by a member at a 
particular point in time. The benefits 
valued are the member’s accrued 
benefits and any contingent spouse’s 
pension payable from the scheme. A 
CETV is a payment made by a pension 
scheme, or arrangement to secure 
pension benefits in another pension 
scheme or arrangement when the 
member leaves a scheme and chooses 
to transfer the benefits accrued in their 
former scheme. The pension figures 
shown relate to the benefits that the 
individual has accrued as a 
consequence of their total membership 
of the pension scheme, not just their 
service in a senior capacity to which 
the disclosure applies. The CETV 
figures and the other pension details 
include the value of any pension 
benefits in another scheme or 
arrangement which the individual has 
transferred to the NHS pension 
scheme. They also include any 
additional pension benefit accrued to 
the member as a result of their 
purchasing additional years of pension 
service in the scheme at their own cost. 
CETVs are calculated within the 
guidelines and framework prescribed 
by the Institute and Faculty of 
Actuaries.
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officer’s responsibilities

 – state whether applicable accounting 
standards as set out in the NHS 
Foundation Trust Annual Reporting 
Manual have been followed, and 
disclose and explain any material 
departures in the financial 
statements; and 

 – prepare the financial statements on 
a going concern basis

The accounting officer is responsible 
for keeping proper accounting records 
which disclose with reasonable 
accuracy at any time the financial 
position of the NHS foundation trust 
and to enable him/her to ensure that 
the accounts comply with requirements 
outlined in the above mentioned Act. 
The Accounting Officer is also 
responsible for safeguarding the assets 
of the NHS foundation trust and hence 
for taking reasonable steps for the 
prevention and detection of fraud and 
other irregularities. 

To the best of my knowledge and 
belief, I have properly discharged the 
responsibilities set out in Monitor’s 
NHS Foundation Trust Accounting 
Officer Memorandum. 

Caroline Shaw
Chief Executive 
28th May 2013

The NHS Act 2006 states that the 
Chief Executive is the accounting 
officer of the NHS foundation trust. 
The relevant responsibilities of the 
accounting officer, including their 
responsibility for the propriety and 
regularity of public finances for which 
they are answerable, and for the 
keeping of proper accounts, are set out 
in the NHS Foundation Trust 
Accounting Officer Memorandum 
issued by the Independent Regulator of 
NHS Foundation Trusts (“Monitor”). 

Under the NHS Act 2006, Monitor has 
directed The Christie NHS Foundation 
Trust to prepare for each financial year a 
statement of accounts in the form and 
on the basis set out in the Accounts 
Direction. The accounts are prepared on 
an accruals basis and must give a true 
and fair view of the state of affairs of 
The Christie NHS Foundation Trust and 
of its income and expenditure, total 
recognised gains and losses and cash 
flows for the financial year. 

In preparing the accounts, the 
Accounting Officer is required to 
comply with the requirements of the 
NHS Foundation Trust Annual 
Reporting Manual and in particular to: 

 – observe the Accounts Direction 
issued by Monitor, including  
the relevant accounting and 
disclosure requirements, and apply 
suitable accounting policies on a 
consistent basis; 

 – make judgements and estimates  
on a reasonable basis; 

Statement of the Chief Executive’s responsibilities as the 
accounting officer of The Christie NHS Foundation Trust. 
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Capacity to handle risk

Leadership and accountability 

The board of directors, led by myself as 
Chief Executive, has overall 
responsibility for risk management 
processes. I have delegated 
responsibility for the coordination of 
risk management systems and 
processes to the director of nursing 
and quality. She discharges her 
responsibilities through the governance 
team, which includes lead officers for 
the Care Quality Commission (CQC) 
essential standards of quality and 
safety, National Health Service 
Litigation Authority (NHSLA) risk 
assessment standards, the board 
assurance framework, the risk register 
and the incident reporting 
management system. She coordinates 
the governance and risk management 
arrangements undertaken within the 
organisation through performance 
review meetings with all operational 
divisions and the risk and quality 
governance committee. 

Risks associated with information 
systems and processes are the 
responsibility of the director of finance 
and business development at board 
level who acts as the senior 
information risk owner. The risk 
management strategy (September 
2011) provides a framework for 
managing risks across the organisation 
which is consistent with best practice 
and Department of Health guidance. 
The strategy provides a clear, 
structured and systematic approach to 
the management of risks to ensure that 
risk assessment is an integral part of 
clinical, managerial and financial 
processes at all levels across the 

Scope of responsibility

As Accounting Officer, I have 
responsibility for maintaining a sound 
system of internal control that supports 
the achievement of the NHS 
Foundation Trust’s policies, aims and 
objectives, whilst safeguarding the 
public funds and departmental assets 
for which I am personally responsible, 
in accordance with the responsibilities 
assigned to me. I am also responsible 
for ensuring that the NHS Foundation 
Trust is administered prudently and 
economically and that resources are 
applied efficiently and effectively. I also 
acknowledge my responsibilities as set 
out in the NHS Foundation Trust 
Accounting Officer Memorandum.

The purpose of the system 
of internal control

The system of internal control is 
designed to manage risk to a 
reasonable level rather than to 
eliminate all risk of failure to achieve 
policies, aims and objectives; it can 
therefore only provide reasonable and 
not absolute assurance of 
effectiveness. The system of internal 
control is based on an ongoing process 
designed to identify and prioritise the 
risks to the achievement of the policies, 
aims and objectives of The Christie 
NHS Foundation Trust, to evaluate the 
likelihood of those risks being realised 
and the impact should they be realised, 
and to manage them efficiently, 
effectively and economically. The 
system of internal control has been in 
place in The Christie NHS Foundation 
Trust for the year ended 31 March 
2013 and up to the date of approval of 
the annual report and accounts.
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The key controls and mitigation for  
the impact on Trust income of the 
introduction of the PbR tariff for 
radiotherapy and chemotherapy 
includes meetings with the department 
of health, membership on national 
costing groups by finance and clinical 
staff in order to influence tariff as well 
as undertaking benchmarking with 
other cancer centres. In relation to 
critical care tariff we are negotiating 
with other providers and commissioners.

The Trust uses Datix to support its risk 
management process. This database 
encompasses incidents, formal and 
informal complaints, litigation details 
and risks. All staff have a role in 
identifying risks and helping to reduce 
their impact. 

The key risks for the organisation are 
reported in the integrated performance 
and quality report and are reviewed 
formally by the risk and quality 
governance committee and the board 
of directors every month. Identified 
risks are reported using the Trust’s 
integrated performance and quality 
reporting structures and are reviewed 
at divisional, management and board 
meetings. Managers systematically 
assess risk in their areas of 
responsibility. All risk assessments are 
documented and risks recorded on the 
risk register. Once analysed the higher 
scoring risks are managed by higher 
levels in the organisation. Risk control 
measures are identified and where 
resources may be required to control 
the risk; business cases developed to 
achieve this are treated as a priority. 

The organisation aims to ensure that it 
learns from internal and external 
incidents and shares good practice 
through a range of mechanisms 
including governance meetings, team 
briefings, action plans arising from 
external reviews including the NHSLA 
risk assessment standards, the Royal 
Colleges, peer review and PEAT (now 
PLACE) inspections. The board of 
directors also reviews relevant reports 
from the CQC, Monitor and the 
Department of Health.

The risk and control framework

Internal assurance process 

The risk management strategy aims to 
control, manage and mitigate risk. It 
sets out a system for continuous 
improvement via risk management 
which extends to all areas of the 
organisation. It aims to reduce clinical 
and non clinical risks. Risk 
management is integral to Trust 
business and embedded in the culture 
of the Trust. Individual and 
organisational learning from incidents, 
mistakes, accidents and near misses is 
a key component of the Trust’s risk 
management strategy to ensure 
continual improvement. Risks are 
quantified using the Australia/New 
Zealand risk management standard 
4360:2004 which measures risk using 
a combination of consequence (also 
described as impact or severity) and 
the likelihood (or probability or 
frequency) of an event occurring.  
The organisation’s highest risk has 
been the impact on Trust income due 
to the introduction of PbR (payment by 
results) tariff for radiotherapy and 
chemotherapy and critical care. 

organisation. The strategy sets out the 
role of the board and standing 
committees together with individual 
responsibilities of the Chief Executive, 
executive directors, managers and all 
staff in managing risk. In particular the 
risk and quality governance committee 
through its sub committees of patient 
safety, patient experience and clinical 
and research effectiveness, provide the 
mechanism for managing and 
monitoring risk throughout the Trust 
and reporting through to the board. 

The board receives its assurances on 
the risk management and governance 
arrangements in place through its 
quality assurance and audit 
committees. Both of these are non-
executive board committees and each 
is chaired by a non-executive director. 
All non-executive directors have 
independent access to the internal and 
external auditors. 

Training and learning 

Christie staff are well trained and 
equipped to manage risk in a number 
of ways appropriate to their authority 
and duties. Risk management training 
is provided for all staff through our 
comprehensive induction programme. 
In addition there is specific tailored 
training for individual roles and agreed 
with staff through personal 
development plans. Regular risk 
management awareness training 
continues for all staff through our 
corporate essential training 
programme. This includes key risk areas 
such as health and safety, moving and 
handling, infection prevention and 
control, incident reporting and 
investigation and complaints handling. 
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The organisation’s response to national 
alerts and governance action is 
managed through the patient safety 
committee and management board 
and reported to the board of directors. 
We are a level 3 compliant organisation 
as assessed by NHSLA in 2012. 

The Christie also engages with public 
and NHS stakeholders in the following 
way:

 – public: council of governors and 
committees of governors, members’ 
meetings, local public engagement 
meetings, Local Information 
Networks (LINks) and Patient 
surveys (both internal and external), 
suggestion schemes and the patient 
comment system.

 – NHS: The Christie Commissioning 
Advisory Group (currently led by 
NHS Greater Manchester area 
team), the Greater Manchester and 
Cheshire Cancer Network, PCT 
representation on the drugs 
management committee and 
patient/user input into capital 
planning.

The Foundation Trust is fully compliant 
with the registration requirements of 
the Care Quality Commission and was 
subjected to an unannounced visit in 
January 2013 where the Trust was 
found to be fully compliant with the 
outcomes reviewed. As an employer 
with staff entitled to membership of 
the NHS Pension Scheme, control 
measures are in place to ensure all 
employer obligations contained within 
the Scheme regulations are complied 
with. This includes ensuring that 
deductions from salary, employer’s 
contributions and payments into the 

External assurance process

The Christie works with a number of 
partner organisations as shown below, 
to ensure that risks to The Christie are 
identified, assessed and appropriate 
action is undertaken:

 – frequent correspondence and 
dialogue with NHS North West and 
NHS Greater Manchester area team, 
the lead primary care trust for 
cancer services throughout 2012/13, 
and the Greater Manchester and 
Cheshire Cancer Network.

 – working closely with The Christie 
Commissioning Advisory Group 
(CCAG).

 – working with The University of 
Manchester and The University of 
Salford and a number of other 
academic institutes and professional 
bodies to ensure training and 
education is delivered in line with 
national standards and the academic 
expectations of relevant bodies.

 – working with MAHSC to develop 
research and education for cancer.

 – working with and leading 
Manchester Cancer to take forward 
a commitment to provide single 
integrated pathways of care across 
organisational boundaries to enable 
patients in the network to receive 
the same high quality service.

 – working with other acute trusts in 
the cancer network on the delivery 
of safe chemotherapy and 
radiotherapy treatment.

 – working with our private patient 
joint venture partner Health 
Corporation of America to 
continually develop private patient 
services at The Christie.

The risk and control framework is 
based on a board reporting process 
which ensures that information is 
presented to the board in a timely 
manner and in an appropriate format. 
The board assurance framework 
provides an immediate means of 
alerting the board to areas of concern 
or failures of control, enabling the 
board to ensure that the appropriate 
management resource is committed to 
resolving such issues. The reporting 
process includes the corporate plan 
which identifies the strategic objectives 
of The Christie. Progress towards their 
achievement is presented to the board 
twice per year. 

The board assurance framework is 
regularly reviewed and updated from 
the corporate plan and is presented to 
the board at the start of the year and 
reviewed by the audit, quality 
assurance and board of directors 
during the year. Each objective is 
allocated to either the audit or quality 
assurance committee. The presentation 
of the assurance framework has been 
improved to assist the board to judge 
the effectiveness of control measures 
intended to reduce the risks to the 
organisation in achieving its principal 
objectives. The audit and quality 
assurance committees examine issues 
at random and in-depth to ensure that 
the system accurately describes risk 
and controls.
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audit, quality assurance, risk and clinical 
governance committees and a plan to 
address weaknesses and to ensure 
continuous improvement of the system 
is in place. 

During the year the board and its 
assurance committees have reviewed 
the policies, procedures and control 
mechanisms related to our private 
patient joint venture and adjusted 
these based on actual experience. Our 
forward plans for 2013/14 include a 
significant review of these by our 
internal audit team. The opinion of the 
Director of Internal Audit for 2012/13 is 
that significant assurance can be given 
that there is a generally sound system 
of internal control designed to meet 
the organisation’s objectives, and that 
controls are generally being applied 
consistently. During 2012/13 The 
Christie has built on the existing 
arrangements and has seen further 
improvements to governance and risk 
management systems and in the 
reporting mechanisms to the board of 
directors. These include the effective 
monitoring of our achievements of the 
key corporate objectives for 2012/13 
including:

 – Developing our new strategy 
through the 20:20 engagement 
process

 – Continuing to expand the range of 
published outcomes data

 – Implementation of the 
chemotherapy strategy

 – Maintaining excellent patient 
experience results within the  
top quartile

Scheme are in accordance with the 
Scheme rules, and that member 
Pension Scheme records are accurately 
updated in accordance with the 
timescales detailed in the Regulations. 

Control measures are in place to ensure 
that all the organisation’s obligations 
under equality, diversity and human 
rights legislation are complied with. 

The foundation trust has undertaken 
risk assessments and Carbon Reduction 
Delivery Plans are in place in 
accordance with emergency 
preparedness and civil contingency 
requirements, as based on UKCIP 2009 
weather projects, to ensure that this 
organisation’s obligations under the 
Climate Change Act and the 
Adaptation Reporting requirements are 
complied with.

Review of economy, efficiency  
and effectiveness of the use  
of resources

As accounting officer, I have 
responsibility for reviewing the 
effectiveness of the system of internal 
control. My review of the effectiveness 
of the system of internal control is 
informed by the work of the internal 
auditors, clinical audit and the executive 
managers within the NHS foundation 
trust who have responsibility for the 
development and maintenance of the 
internal control framework. 

My review is also informed by 
comments made by the external 
auditors in their management letter 
and other reports. I have been advised 
on the implications of the result of my 
review of the effectiveness of the 
system of internal control by the board, 
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Review of effectiveness

As accounting officer, I have 
responsibility for reviewing the 
effectiveness of the system of internal 
control. My review of the effectiveness 
of the system of internal control is 
informed by the work of the internal 
auditors, clinical audit and the 
executive managers and clinical leads 
within the NHS foundation trust who 
have responsibility for the development 
and maintenance of the internal 
control framework. I have drawn on 
the content of the quality report 
attached to this annual report and 
other performance information 
available to me. 

My review is also informed by comments 
made by the external auditors in their 
management letter and other reports. I 
have been advised on the implications of 
the result of my review of the 
effectiveness of the system of internal 
control by the board, the audit 
committee and the quality assurance 
committee and a plan to address 
weaknesses and ensure continuous 
improvement of the system is in place.
 
Conclusion

As accounting officer and based on the 
information provided above I am 
assured that no significant internal 
control issues have been identified.

Caroline Shaw
Chief Executive 
28th May 2013    

Annual quality report

The directors are required under the 
Health Act 2009 and the National 
Health Service (quality accounts) 
Regulations 2010 (as amended) to 
prepare quality accounts for each 
financial year. Monitor has issued 
guidance to NHS foundation trust 
boards on the form and content of 
annual quality reports which 
incorporate the above legal 
requirements in the NHS Foundation 
Trust Annual Reporting Manual.

The quality report presents a balanced 
view and is based on accurate data. 
The board of directors is assured of  
this through the Trust’s governance 
processes and leadership by the 
executive team. Systems are in place  
to collect, validate and analyse all data 
using the appropriately skilled team. This 
may be the information or performance 
team, infection control team, internal 
audit team, the governance team or the 
UK cancer information team. 

Our annual quality reports are a 
bringing together of reports on quality 
of care contained in the quality 
accounts section of our monthly 
integrated performance and quality 
report. The monthly reports are 
considered by the senior clinicians and 
managers of the organisation at the 
monthly management board and by 
the board of directors. The quality 
report has been received by the quality 
assurance committee and has been 
approved by the management board. 
The preparation of quality accounts has 
been led by the executive director of 
nursing & quality.
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giving these opinions, accept or 
assume responsibility for any other 
purpose or to any other person to 
whom this report is shown or into 
whose hands it may come save where 
expressly agreed by our prior consent 
in writing.

Scope of the audit of the financial 
statements

An audit involves obtaining evidence 
about the amounts and disclosures in 
the financial statements sufficient to 
give reasonable assurance that the 
financial statements are free from 
material misstatement, whether caused 
by fraud or error. This includes an 
assessment of: whether the accounting 
policies are appropriate to The Christie 
NHS Foundation Trust’s circumstances 
and have been consistently applied and 
adequately disclosed; the 
reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by The 
Christie NHS Foundation Trust; and the 
overall presentation of the financial 
statements. In addition, we read all the 
financial and non-financial information 
in the Annual Report and Accounts to 
identify material inconsistencies with 
the audited financial statements. If we 
become aware of any apparent 
material misstatements or 
inconsistencies we consider the 
implications for our report. 

We have audited the financial 
statements of The Christie NHS 
Foundation Trust for the year ended 31 
March 2013 which comprise the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income, 
the Statement of Financial Position, the 
Statement of Cash Flows, the 
Statement of Changes in Taxpayers’ 
Equity and the related notes. The 
financial reporting framework that has 
been applied in their preparation is the 
NHS Foundation Trust Annual 
Reporting Manual 2012/13 issued by 
the Independent Regulator of NHS 
Foundation Trusts (“Monitor”).

Respective responsibilities of 
directors and auditors

As explained more fully in the 
Directors’ Responsibilities Statement, 
the directors are responsible for the 
preparation of the financial statements 
and for being satisfied that they give a 
true and fair view in accordance with 
the NHS Foundation Trust Annual 
Reporting Manual 2012/13. Our 
responsibility is to audit and express an 
opinion on the financial statements in 
accordance with the National Health 
Service Act 2006, the Audit Code for 
NHS Foundation Trusts issued by 
Monitor and International Standards on 
Auditing (ISAs) (UK and Ireland). Those 
standards require us to comply with 
the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical 
Standards for Auditors. 

This report, including the opinions, has 
been prepared for and only for the 
council of governors of The Christie 
NHS Foundation Trust in accordance 
with paragraph 24 of Schedule 7 of the 
National Health Service Act 2006 and 
for no other purpose. We do not, in 

Independent auditor’s report to the council of governors  
of The Christie NHS Foundation Trust
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Certificate

We certify that we have completed the 
audit of the financial statements in 
accordance with the requirements of 
Chapter 5 of Part 2 to the National 
Health Service Act 2006 and the Audit 
Code for NHS Foundation Trusts issued 
by Monitor.

Rachel McIlwraith
Senior Statutory Auditor
For and on behalf of 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory 
Auditors
Manchester
28 May 2013

Notes
(a) The maintenance and integrity of 
The Christie NHS Foundation Trust 
website is the responsibility of the 
directors; the work carried out by the 
auditors does not involve consideration 
of these matters and, accordingly, the 
auditors accept no responsibility for any 
changes that may have occurred to the 
financial statements since they were 
initially presented on the website.
(b) Legislation in the United Kingdom 
governing the preparation and 
dissemination of financial statements 
may differ from legislation in other 
jurisdictions.

Matters on which we are required 
to report by exception

We have nothing to report in respect 
of the following matters where the 
Audit Code for NHS Foundation Trusts 
requires us to report to you if:
 – in our opinion the Annual 

Governance Statement does not 
meet the disclosure requirements set 
out in the NHS Foundation Trust 
Annual Reporting Manual 2012/13 
or is misleading or inconsistent with 
information of which we are aware 
from our audit. We are not required 
to consider, nor have we considered, 
whether the Annual Governance 
Statement addresses all risks and 
controls or that risks are satisfactorily 
addressed by internal controls;

 – we have not been able to satisfy 
ourselves that The Christie NHS 
Foundation Trust has made proper 
arrangements for securing economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness in its 
use of resources; or

 – we have qualified, on any aspect, 
our opinion on the Quality Report

Opinion on financial statements

In our opinion the financial statements:
 – give a true and fair view of the state 

of The Christie NHS Foundation 
Trust’s affairs as at 31 March 2013 
and of its income and expenditure 
and cash flows for the year then 
ended; and

 – have been prepared in accordance 
with the NHS Foundation Trusts 
Annual Reporting Manual 2012/13

Opinion on other matters 
prescribed by the Audit Code  
for NHS Foundation Trusts

In our opinion:
 – the part of the Remuneration Report 

to be audited has been properly 
prepared in accordance with the 
NHS Foundation Trusts Annual 
Reporting Manual 2012/13; and 

 – the information given in the 
Directors’ Report for the financial 
year for which the financial 
statements are prepared is consistent 
with the financial statements
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Quality Accounts Appendices

Audit title Core recommendations

NBOCAP national bowel cancer audit 2011 New MDT proforma designed and implemented. To audit to ensure 
TNM stage is completed following MDT. New enhanced recovery nurse 
to be appointed and work with the team to improve recovery times. 
Carry out patient satisfaction survey in 2013.

Bowel cancer (NBOCAP) 2012 Awaiting national report and recommendations

Lung Cancer (NLCA) 2012 Further audit of advanced stage NSCLC and small cell lung cancer 
patients to ensure they receive chemotherapy appropriately and ensure 
that performance status and pulmonary function tests are accurately 
recorded.

DAHNO 2011 (national head & neck cancer 
audit)

No specific recommendations for The Christie, but to continue to work 
with trusts in the network to improve data quality.

Head and neck oncology (DAHNO) 2012 Awaiting national report and recommendations

AUGIS 2011 national oesophageal cancer audit Awaiting national report and recommendations. Data now being 
submitted via clinical portal can be used to improve extraction of data 
and data quality for next submission. 

Audit critical care (ICNARC CMP) Results discussed with relevant staff; no recommendations identified. 

Cardiac arrest audit (NCAA) Awaiting national report and recommendations

National comparative blood audit - medical use 
of red cells

Awaiting final national report and recommendations

National comparative blood audit - audit of 
blood sampling and labelling

National recommendations that are not yet fully implemented are being 
reviewed for action.

Emergency use of oxygen (British Thoracic 
Society)

Oxygen included in regular inpatient prescribing audits. Incorporate 
reminder about oxygen prescribing in the acute care part of medical 
staff induction, develop clinical guidelines to incorporate in the acute 
Oncology handbook and remind ward staff.

NCEPOD cardiac arrest study Staff training and recording of cardiac arrests as clinical incidents with 
reviews of care shared with staff.

Appendix 1: 

National clinical audits.
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Local clinical audits

Audit title Core recommendations

Management of thromboprophylaxis Consideration of pre-emptive prophylaxis for elective admissions and 
more guidance to medical staff around mobility as a contraindication to 
thromboprophylaxis.

Communication with relatives or visitors of ICU 
patients

Revise standards in line with level of care required by Christie patients 
and improve database forms to record communication.

One Day, Every Patient Survey 2011 Increased visibility of the senior nursing team, targeting specific areas at 
ward walk rounds and reviewed role of the matron to focus on quality 
and standards of care delivery.

Tolerability and effectiveness of radical 
radiotherapy in elderly lung cancer patients

Improvement of recording of pre-treatment performance status in 
electronic patient record.

Fluid balance monitoring and use of charts Monitoring chart redesigned and continued staff education.

Collection of blood products re-audit Implement new prescription chart and continue staff education.

Blood prescription audit Implement new prescription chart.

To audit compliance of NPSA alert in relation to 
placement and care of naso-gastric tubes

Require procedure form to be sent to radiology staff and use results to 
inform staff training.

Anticoagulation following DVT/PE  (re-audit 
based on 2011 shared care protocol for solid 
and haematological tumours)

Communication to primary care to be addressed through new 
communication proforma. Awareness of dose reduction after one 
month addressed through staff training.

Blood transfusion - guidance for use and fluid 
balance recording

Continue to teach nursing staff the importance of initiating a fluid 
balance chart on admission.

Bedside transfusion - minimum requirements The policy for timeliness of recording vital signs was slightly relaxed in 
accordance with national evidence. Education and standardisation of 
competence assessment is ongoing.

Annual MEWS re-audit Simplified guidance to nurses for observation frequency and amended 
audit proforma for re-audit.

MEWS re-audit Introduced standardised monitoring frequency for nurses and 
disseminated results for discussion on wards.

Discharge prescription audit Posters with CD prescription requirements and list of stocked CDs to be 
displayed in ward prescribing areas. Develop electronic prescribing of 
discharge prescriptions.

Annual audit of inpatient mortality  
(following 2011 CQUIN)

To arrange regular meetings of clinical directors to review findings.

Local re-audit cold chain Education and more time to embed new transfusion record and 
observations in practice particularly required when commencing 
transfusion to increase compliance to 100%.

Local re-audit overnight transfusions Continue education and re-audit.
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Audit title Core recommendations

Local re-audit special requirements Transfusion practitioner to re-start presentation to junior medics and 
continue to incident and investigate non compliance in special 
requirements.

Assessment of the relative efficacy of 
vinorelbine delivered iv versus oral to treat 
patients with metastatic breast cancer.

The iv route is to be strongly considered for metastatic breast cancer 
and similar audits are recommended for other chemotherapy regimens.

Re-audit of safe storage of medicines Results disseminated and quality walk rounds to ensure minimum 
weekly controlled drug check is carried out. To be incorporated into 
annual safe medicines practice audit.

Audit of adherence to (the new) dosing 
schedule of fulvestrant for treatment of 
metastatic breast cancer

Reinforcing the need to enclose the shared care protocol with GP 
communication. Further recommendations disseminated to disease 
group including the requirement to review response after three months 
and a new dosing regime.

Re-audit on the use of Pegvisomant at The 
Christie

Changed requirement for six monthly MRI scans to annual. Considering 
further dose escalation in patients who didn’t achieve normal IGF1.

A retrospective re-audit to evaluate the error 
rates in radiologist reports generated by using 
voice recognition software.

Results fed back and discussed directly with reporting radiologists. 
Advocate reflection on potential causes of errors, action to minimise 
these and regular audit to facilitate continual improvement.

Northwest regional urology audit - bladder 
tumours Nov 2012

Guidelines for good practice agreed and distributed to all urology units 
in the region and made available to the general public.

Blood prescription re-audit The transfusion policy has now been updated to allow 15 minute vital 
signs to be recorded within 30 minutes.

Audit of effectiveness and complications of 
central venous access (ports, tunnelled lines, 
PICC lines)

Raised awareness of positive audit results regarding cost effectiveness 
of totally implantable venous access device alternative to tunnelled 
central venous catheters with clinicians via presentation and dissemination

A retrospective review of changes in serum 
sodium, albumin, and renal function in patients 
undergoing paracentesis for malignant ascites 
at a regional oncology centre.

Clarify in SOP of procedure unit that iv fluid only required in 
symptomatic patients or those presenting with hypotension prior to for 
day case and inpatient paracentesis.

Audit of the UGI OG cancer MDT (multi-
disciplinary team) pathway

Implement new referral proforma and further network audits to address 
areas for improvement. To increase consideration of biodegradable 
stents.

Rolling audit for assessment of circumstances 
for patients dying within 30 days of systemic 
anti cancer therapy (SACT) across all  non 
surgical Trust DGs.

Disease group leads to ensure recommended changes are implemented 
through protocols and directory of care. Improved documentation for 
outcomes of discussion at morbidity & mortality meetings.

Annual record keeping 2011 Monthly spot checks carried out to drive improvement with findings 
presented to the Risk & Quality Governance committee. Key messages 
disseminated across the Trust.
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Local clinical audits

Audit title Core recommendations

Relative effectiveness of knee and thigh length 
compression stockings for peri-operative 
patients.

Findings disseminated to surgeons for consideration of further action.

Audit of haemolysis in samples for  
biochemistry testing

A programme of refresher training introduced for areas with previous 
high rates.

Outcome of pathology review and 
discrepancies in reporting of gastrointestinal 
endocrine tumours

Formal ki67 counting may improve grading and this will be fed back to 
reporting pathologists (via a letter in the RCPath bulletin).

Root cause analysis of cardiac arrests Staff training and recording of cardiac arrests as clinical incidents with 
reviews of care shared with staff.

HIV testing in HIV related malignancies  
(re-audit in lymphoma)

Develop patient information leaflets and quick reference guide for 
clinicians regarding HIV testing (in the context of cancer). Add HIV 
testing to MDT proforma.

Falls care plan annual re-audit Continue to raise nursing staff awareness. Review the audit tool to 
ensure consistency in audit of care plans and audit methodology to  
try to improve identification of use of bed rails for greater assurance.

Annual re-audit DNAR Implement new 'allow a natural death' form and audit to confirm 
improvement.

WHO Surgical Checklist re-audit Raise staff awareness and monitor documentation at team meetings.

WHO Observational re-audit Raise staff awareness of need to debrief via morning meetings.

Early warning score in theatre recovery Revise early warning score chart and provide training to staff in its use.

MEWS for outpatients who are admitted Improve documentation to enable better assessment of location and 
referral to outreach. Provide education to HCAs.

Audit of adherence to the falls policy at Christie 
NHS Foundation Trust

Update root cause analysis tool for patient falls and provide medical 
education around falls protocol.

Re-audit of measures for end of life care 
(following 2010 CQUIN)

To maintain educational activity around GP communication.

Audit of patient discharges in line with the 
discharge and transfer policy

Results disseminated and further education on requirements for 
discharge checklist.

Manual handling risk assessment monitoring 
- high & significant risks

Discuss results with the manager of the one area where risk 
assessments were not accessible to staff.

Compliance with patient and manual handling 
documentation [C]

The four areas not fully compliant are to keep data prospectively for 
reporting in three months to address difficulty in identifying patients 
and the audit proforma amended.

Audit of external and internal transfer of 
patients in line with the discharge and transfer 
policy

Results disseminated and further education on requirements, 
particularly to improve ‘next of kin aware of transfer’ and ‘name of staff 
receiving’.
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Audit title Core recommendations

Re-audit of recording competence to consent Non-compliance with documentation of competency escalated. 
Findings shared at essential training sessions.

Annual re-audit AAND (DNAR) To re-design the AAND form to aid documentation of designation & 
nursing signatures and to improve nursing and all grades of medical 
staff understanding of the expected process.

Cardiac arrest equipment (crash trolleys) Areas for further improvement to be audited monthly.

Outpatient prescribing Continue progression of all outpatient prescribing to electronic format, 
including contact details. BNF/ access to BNF online to be available in all 
outpatient prescribing areas. Pharmacy to revise list details of CDs 
stocked .

Inpatient prescribing Review use of red ID bands for allergies, minor changes to the policy 
and evaluation of a pilot for self-administration of medicines 
undertaken to support a business case for equipment.

Annual re-audit of the completion of the 
nutritional screening tool

To develop nursing staff guidelines and training for the completion of 
food record charts. Promote early patient referrals and implementation 
of nutrition care plan at MDT meetings and Nutrition Week March 
2013.

Inoculation audit To improve the incident reporting system to enable more consistent and 
relevant data inputting by staff. Review policy with regard to informing 
on-call virologist of all incidents. Provide further education to infection 
control link workers about PPE.

Re-audit of small cell lung cancer treatment Christie consultant to discuss issues at MDT meetings for trusts with 
room for improvement.

Re-audit compliance of NPSA alert in relation to 
placement and care of naso-gastric tubes

Education to nursing and radiology staff around documentation of tube 
placement.

Treatment decisions for patients with stage III 
NSCLC suitable for radical treatment at the 
Christie

Lung function to be recorded in patient records as part of clinical 
outcomes documentation.

TYA MDT Audit 2011 - 2012 Review documentation process with MDT coordinator and re-design 
outcome proforma.

Sarcoma: patient satisfaction survey Options to address some unmet need due to inability of the sarcoma 
clinical nurse specialist and physiotherapist to attend both clinics.

Re-audit protected mealtimes Areas to be reminded to wash hands before meal service, prepare 
tables in advance, use red napkins and document nutritional intake on 
food charts.

Medical devices training re-audit Re-designing training records and audit tool and providing targeted 
education.

WHO surgical checklist re-audit Regular monitoring and feedback to staff.

WHO observational re-audit Medical director wrote to medical staff and time of meeting changed.
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Local clinical audits

Audit title Core recommendations

One Day, Every Patient Survey 2012 To identify a multi-disciplinary approach to improve weakest question 
around informing patients of medication side effects.

Moving & handling in-patient risk assessment 
re-audit

Amend next order for bed end nursing documentation regarding 
review dates to be recorded in electronic patient record.

Efficacy of mouthcare regime for oral/nasal 
cavity tumours undergoing IMRT

Employ support worker on a pilot 6 month basis to complete 
assessments and relevant documentation in patients & carers for 
smoking & alcohol usage and Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale. 
Business case for novel care pathway.

Internal transfer of patients To disseminate results in particular to remind of the need to complete 
names of staff sending and receiving patients and that next of kin are 
aware of the transfer.

Smoking cessation audit for lung cancer 
patients

Limited patient awareness of the Christie smoking cessation service to 
be improved via provision of leaflets to patients at their first visit and 
reminding clinicians of the need to counsel patients on the benefits of 
stopping.

Inoculation re-audit Policy amended regarding reporting to virology. Incident reporting 
system amended to collect additional audit information. Further 
education provided to infection control link workers.

Early warning score in theatre recovery re-audit To write a EWS training package for Surgical Theatre and Radiotherapy 
theatres. Re train all staff on local documentation.

Re-audit HIV screening Develop patient information leaflets and quick reference guide for 
clinicians regarding HIV testing (in the context of cancer). Add HIV 
testing to lymphoma MDT proforma. Re-audits to be led within 
specialties.

Annual audit of inpatient mortality Disseminate findings to consultants and include proportion of deaths 
reviewed in annual portfolios for discussion at appraisals. Strengthen 
peer review process. Require documentation in notes of senior medic 
input into cause of death on death certificate.

Treatment related outcomes in high grade 
versus low grade serous ovarian carcinoma

Screen more high grade serous ovarian cancer patients for BRCA 
mutations to further understand variation.

External beam (isotoxic radiotherapy) 
radiotherapy to patients with non-small cell 
lung cancer (NSCLC)

Establish IMRT class solution requiring technical refinement of the 
planning process. Establish of clinical feasibility study for isotoxic 
radiotherapy for NSCLC patients to monitor toxicity and survival benefit.

The effect of radiotherapy to the abdomen on 
renal function in patients with lymphoma

Standardising renal outlining and renal toxicity baseline data proforma. 
To follow up the patients in this sample annually to extend the 
assurance.

Anaesthetic predictors of surgical outcome: 
does compliance with Enhanced Recovery 
guidance lead to better outcomes in the 
Christie patient cohort

Training for junior doctors in post-operative fluid balance included in 
Foundation school education programme. New ERAS specialist nurse  
to increase awareness of the care pathway.
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Audit title Core recommendations

Comparison of sentinel node biopsy using  
one day versus two day protocols

Further study is indicated, particularly related to the false negative rate 
where a longer follow up is required with more groins required for both 
the one and two day groups.

The value of supraregional MDT histology 
review in penile cancer

This data supports the value of the supra-network pathology review in 
achieving accurate histological diagnosis and correct treatment in penile 
cancer, and should be a global standard.

Audit on the use of zevalin in non-Hodgkin’s 
lymphoma at The Christie and assessment of  
its clinical outcomes (2006)

Implement a checklist for inclusion criteria, review clinical response 
categories and continue follow up of patients to complete outcome 
data.

GMEC patient experience survey (NICE QS15) Ensure patients are made aware that they can ask for a second opinion 
and clear and encourage accurate information exchange between 
relevant health and social care professionals.

Appropriate chemotherapy dosing for obese 
adult patients with cancer

Increase awareness of importance of full dosing by body surface area in 
the peri-operative setting unless other contraindications are present.

An audit on the use of partial breast 
radiotherapy at The Christie

Presented findings to Breast DG and the Tri-national breast cancer 
research meeting in 2012 (poster). To use the IMPORT LOW criteria for 
patient selection.

To review patient adherence to dalteparin in the 
treatment and prevention of vte when initiated 
in secondary care and discharged into primary 
care

The use of shared care protocols is subject to ongoing discussions with 
GMMMG in an attempt to improve the patient experience.

Macmillan professionals at The Christie at 
Oldham - levels of intervention audit

Support workers have been trained in phlebotomy, MEWS and AIMS. 
The Macmillan team has devised a competency package for this 
purpose, which focuses on clinical skills. Develop service user 
satisfaction questionnaires specific for MCISS

Use of Carboplatin & Gemcitabine in metastatic 
breast cancer and predictors of response

Recording of performance status both pre and post treatment and 
recording and grading (as per CTCAE) of any toxicities experienced 
when undergoing GemCarbo needs to be improved.
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Quality Reports Feedback

Outlined below are the verbatim 
statements on the feedback of our 
quality accounts from:
 – NHS Oldham CCG
 – Healthwatch
 – The Christie governers
 – Statement of directors

We provided the quality accounts 
report to the Manchester Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee and asked for 
feedback by the 10th May 2013, to 
date no feedback has been received.

No further changes or amendments 
have been made to the quality 
accounts as a result of this feedback.

1. NHS Oldham CCG

Dear Sue, 

Please find below the quality account commentary from NHS Oldham CCG.

NHS Oldham CCG, as the lead commissioner for the Christie contract in 2012/13 
welcomes the publication of The Christie Quality Account. The Christie provides a 
clear demonstration of their complete commitment to quality provision and 
continuous improvement. This is evidenced, most importantly, through the 
experiences of the patients for whom they provide services, but also through their 
understanding of what a culture of safety and quality looks like in a complex 
organisation as described throughout the quality account.

Within the quality account The Christie demonstrates the rigor with which they 
review the quality and safety of the care they provide, both at the frontline of 
patient care delivery, but also through the established governance structures of 
the organization to ensure that the patient voice is heard and responded to at 
Board level. As Commissioners we fully support the Quality Plan for 2013/14 that 
The Christie have described, believing that it will build on the already impressive 
track record described in the Quality Account for 2012/13.

NHS Oldham PCT was lead commissioner for The Christie’s contract until  
31st March 2013. From the 1st April 2014, The Christie contracted service has 
transferred to the responsibility of NHS England (Cheshire, Wirral and 
Warrington). The transition and handover for this role is now complete, and  
NHS Oldham CCG will remain a co-commissioner to the contract going forward.

Kind regards

Tanya 

Tanya Roberts
Head of Quality, Clinical Governance and Safeguarding
NHS Oldham CCG
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2. Healthwatch

Healthwatch Manchester
Manchester CAB, Swan Buildings,  
20 Swan St, Manchester M4 5JW
Tel 0161 830 2070
info@healthwatchmanchester.co.uk
www.healthwatchmanchester.co.uk

Friday, 10 May 2013

Dear Jackie

Please find below a note from Healthwatch Manchester regarding The Christie 
NHS Foundation Trust Quality Accounts 2012 – 2013. As the timeframe was 
rather short to respond from my new role I hope you’ll understand their brevity.

The CQC inpatient survey assessment results present a very good outcome on 
standards reporting as well as patient reporting anecdotally.

The quality assurance system looks well-structured, robust and appears to be a 
good fit for The Christie. Added to this is an overall increase in standards for 
patient reporting and a response rate which is 17% higher than the national 
value. The eight fundamental aspects of care which were reviewed are certainly 
applicable and pressure ulcer care as a priority is a welcome sight.

Regarding Core Quality Indicators; there may be some concerns regarding patient 
safety incidents reporting higher than national. However, due to the nature of 
The Christie patient demographic this value may be skewed.

There is one reported patient safety (severe) incident in core quality indicators 
which resulted in death. A comparison with future quality accounts is something 
Healthwatch Manchester would be interested in.

The level of complaints never exceeds division 3 and is at an acceptable level.

Healthcare acquired infections are well managed and reported.

Healthwatch Manchester would also be interested in future comparators with the 
one never event and also with pressure ulcer incident decrease

Healthwatch Manchester agrees with all recommendations especially regarding 
Advance Care Planning. Signposting to community services such as Francis House 
would be a welcome part of this.

I hope that’s useful Jackie and I look forward to a constructive and productive 
dialogue with you in the future.

Yours sincerely,

Neil Walbarn
Chief Officer, Healthwatch Manchester
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Trust’s 20/20 Vision relating to the 
four agreed themes ie 
 – Leading cancer care. 
 – The Christie experience,
 – Local and specialist care
 – Best outcomes

 – The feedback demonstrates the 
proactive patient centred progress 
being made and clear focus on staff 
development and support to provide 
high quality care and services. This is 
also clearly articulated in the Trusts 
draft formal annual plan for 
2013/13-2015/16 which has been 
discussed with the COG and 
relevant subcommittees.

 – An annual complaints report is 
presented to the Quality Committee 
giving governors information about 
all complaints that have been 
received and further evidence of the 
considerable learning has been 
taken from complaints over the year.

 – Involvement in Patient Environment 
Action Team (PEAT) inspection. 

 – Information about infection rates 
which have remained below target. 
This is particularly commendable 
considering the patient group that 
the hospital serves as most patients 
have an impaired immune system.

 – In addition to the above, Through 
2011/12 & 2012/13 Members have 
sought and obtained detailed insight 
into the following fundamental 
aspects of care and communications 
eg. how the Trust is addressing
 – Meeting patients Nutritional needs.
 – Prevention of pressure sores.
 – Control of infection.
 – Developments to improve electronic 
communication with GPs.

 – Development of links with local 
pharmacists to provide “Christies” 
medications within the community. 

Governors Evidence Based 
Summary Statement
The above approach enables the 
Quality Committee to triangulate 
feedback and provide valued 
reassurance to the Council of 
Governors on key matters relating to 
the patients experience.

Having reflected on comments and 
discussion raised at their meetings in 
2012/13 overall as a Council of 
Governors, we believe the Trust 
continues to provide a high quality and 
safe service for patients as evidenced 
to us by;

 – Details about Care Quality 
Commission visits and follow up 
reports. Including feedback on 
unannounced CQC visit on 10th 
January 2013 – excellent inspection 
report received – shows full 
compliance

 – Attainment of NHSLA level 3 – 
assessed on 18th December 2012 
against 5 standards each containing 
10 criteria – scored unprecedented 
49/50 

 – Integrated performance reports 
which include information on 
waiting times, infection rates, 
response from patients surveys, 
serious untoward incidents reports, 
details about the number and types 
of complaints received, and financial 
information.

 – A monthly summary from the Chief 
Executive which gives us information 
about  all relative issues affecting 
the trust and contact details for 
relevant executive staff member if 
further information is required about 
any specific item. The above 
includes regular updates of the 

3. Governors Quality Statement  
for Quality Accounts April 2012 - 
March 2013

Continuing Open Relationship 
between the Council of Governors 
and Trust Board

As Chair of the Christie’s Council of 
Governors’ Quality Committee, I am 
pleased to acknowledge the continuing 
open relationship between the Council 
of Governors and the Board of 
Directors and Non-Executive Directors 
of the Christie NHS Foundation Trust. 
This has enabled us to continue to 
work effectively together throughout 
2012/2013 to learn from and 
understand the quality of the patients 
experience across the Trust and see 
continuous improvements. 

Access to Appropriate Information

The Quality committee is provided with 
information about the quality of care 
and Directors and Non Executives 
attend the Quality Committee and 
provide regular updates. In addition the 
Committee regularly invites local 
managers and front line staff to 
provide presentations and discuss 
specific issues to inform us of quality 
improvements and respond to queries 
raised by the committee. Members of 
the Quality Committee are also actively 
supported and encouraged to meet 
with patients and obtain their feedback 
regarding the care and environment at 
The Christie. This feedback is valued by 
the Trust Board and Council of 
Governors. The Trust and it’s managers 
actively feedback to members on any 
issues raised and where necessary 
provide proactive feedback on the 
situation and the efforts being made to 
resolve outstanding issues. 
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Experience

The Trust has an experienced and 
highly committed group of Governors. 
There are some excellent examples of 
their community and member 
engagement across the areas we serve. 
Together this enables us to actively 
contribute to ensuring high quality 
patient centre care and services across 
the Christie NHS Foundation Trust. 
Based on the evidence above, the 
Council of Governors have confidence 
that the Trust continues to demonstrate 
proactive commitment to delivering 
safe and high quality patient centred 
services to meet the needs of patients 
cared for by the Christie now and in 
the future.

Ann Gavin-Daley
Chair of COG Quality Committee 
March 2013

interviews is proactively reviewed by 
the manager and feedback is 
provided illustrating that all issues 
are taken seriously and responded 
to. The experience of the governors 
concerned, without exception, is 
predominantly positive and it is 
almost impossible to obtain any 
constructive comment to help us 
improve our service. 

 – National patient survey reports and 
subsequent action plans.

 – Minutes from other Council of 
Governors sub committees.

 – Reports from clinical areas on 
initiatives and new developments to 
improve the patient experience.

 – Early notification to the Quality 
Committee of the impending (-now 
published) Francis Report of the Mid 
Staffordshire Public Inquiry and the 
outcome of the report is to be 
considered by the Committee. 

Effectiveness

The Council of Governors monitors the 
Trust effectiveness and efficiency 
through the key targets agreed for the 
trust and the Trust continues to stretch 
itself to identify further improvements. 
The Trust has completed a major 
exercise in 2011/12 & 2012/13 to 
identify and state its vision for the 
future. This “20/20 Vision” exercise 
centred on the patients perspective 
and this will promote the high quality 
service required to meet the need of 
the community we serve in the future.

 – The above have enabled Governors 
to understand the mechanism in 
place to address these important 
fundamental areas. This has 
provided reassurance to the Quality 
Committee and the Council of 
Governors regarding these 
important issues for patients and the 
wider community. This focus has 
provided valuable insight for the 
Governors

 – Freedom for all governors to attend 
the monthly Board of Directors 
meetings which normally include a 
presentation from a member of the 
clinical staff on the latest 
developments.

 – One and often two non-executive 
directors attend all quality meetings. 
This practice provides a flow of 
information to and from the Board 
of Directors.

 – Quality Assurance committee 
updates are received from the 
Non-Executive Chair of the 
committee /Director of Nursing and 
members of the Quality Committee 
are provided with answers to any 
queries and more detailed 
explanations as required.

 – Talking to patients and carers 
initiative – this is an exercise 
undertaken, before each Quality 
Committee meeting when 
governors go out into the hospital 
and talk to patients and their 
families about the experience they 
have had. The total freedom to 
speak to whoever they choose 
(subject to advice on the patient’s 
wellbeing on the day) gives 
governors the re-assurance that the 
feedback given is a true and honest 
appraisal of the experience patients 
have had. Any issue raised from the 
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standards and prescribed definitions, 
is subject to appropriate scrutiny and 
review; and the quality report has 
been prepared in accordance with 
Monitor’s annual reporting guidance 
(which incorporates the quality 
accounts regulations) (published at 
www.monitor-nhsft.gov.uk/
annualreportingmanual) as well as 
the standards to support data 
quality for the preparation of the 
quality report (available at  
www.monitor-nhsft.gov.uk/
annualreportingmanual).

The directors confirm to the best of 
their knowledge and belief they have 
complied with the above requirements 
in preparing the quality report. 

By order of the board

Rt Hon Lord Keith Bradley
Chairman
28th May 2013

Caroline Shaw
Chief Executive
28th May 2013

 – papers relating to quality reported 
to the board over the period April 
2012 to June 2013 

 – feedback from the NHS Oldham 
CCG  dated May 2013

 – feedback from Healthwatch dated 
May 2013 

 – feedback from governors dated 
March 2013 

 – the trust’s complaints report 
published under regulation 18 of 
the Local Authority Social Services 
and NHS Complaints Regulations 
2009, dated April 2013; 

 – the national patient survey August 
2012 

 – the national staff survey June 
2012

 – the Head of Internal Audit’s 
annual opinion over the trust’s 
control environment dated April 
2012 

 – CQC quality and risk profiles 
dated April 2012 to March 2013

 – Integrated performance and 
quality reports dated April 2012 to 
March 2013.

 – the quality report presents a 
balanced picture of the NHS 
foundation trust’s performance over 
the period covered; 

 – the performance information 
reported in the quality report is 
reliable and accurate; 

 – there are proper internal controls 
over the collection and reporting of 
the measures of performance 
included in the quality report, and 
these controls are subject to review 
to confirm that they are working 
effectively in practice; 

 – the data underpinning the measures 
of performance reported in the 
quality report is robust and reliable, 
conforms to specified data quality 

4. Statement of directors

Our high standards

We’re constantly doing our best to 
improve life at The Christie. Day to day, 
month to month, year to year. By 
monitoring what we do and how we 
do it, patients can be sure their best 
interests are always being looked after 
and confident that there’s nothing 
standard about our standards. 

Statement of directors’ 
responsibilities

The directors are required under the 
Health Act 2009 and the National 
Health Service (quality accounts) 
Regulations 2010 as amended to 
prepare quality accounts for each 
financial year. 

Monitor has issued guidance to NHS 
foundation trust boards on the form 
and content of annual quality reports 
(which incorporate the above legal 
requirements) and on the 
arrangements that foundation trust 
boards should put in place to support 
the data quality for the preparation of 
the quality report. 

In preparing the quality report, 
directors are required to take steps to 
satisfy themselves that:

 – the content of the quality report 
meets the requirements set out in 
the NHS Foundation Trust Annual 
Reporting Manual 2012/13 

 – the content of the Quality Report is 
not inconsistent with internal and 
external sources of information 
including: 
 – board minutes and papers for the 
period April 2012 to June 2013 



Accounts of The Christie NHS Foundation Trust 2012-13

FOREWORD TO THE ACCOUNTS

THE CHRISTIE NHS FOUNDATION TRUST

These accounts for the year ending 31 March 2013 have been prepared by The Christie 
NHS Foundation Trust under paragraphs 24 and 25 of Schedule 7 to the National Health 
Service Act 2006, in the form which Monitor, the Independent Regulator of NHS 
Foundation Trusts has, with the approval of the Treasury, directed.
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Statement of Comprehensive Income for the Year Ending  31 March 2013

Note 2012-13 2011-12

£000 £000

Operating income 3 199,543 185,308

Operating expenses 4 (190,764) (189,259)

Operating surplus/ (deficit) 8,779 (3,951)

Finance costs

Finance income 8.1 148 117
Finance costs - financial liabilities 8.2 (883) (894)
Finance costs - unwinding of discount on provisions 17 (3) (2)
PDC dividends payable (1,831) (2,143)

Net finance costs (2,569) (2,922)

Share of profit/ (loss) of joint venture accounted for using the 
equity method 11.2 2,469 3,578

Surplus/ (deficit) for the year 8,679 (3,295)

Other comprehensive income

Revaluation gains/ (losses) on Property, Plant and Equipment (3,372) 6,979
Revaluation gains/ (losses) on intangible assets 0 0
Fair value gains/ (losses) on available for sale financial 
investments 0 0
Actuarial gains/ (losses) on defined benefit pension schemes 0 0
Other recognised gains and losses 0 0
Other Reserve Movements 0 0

Total comprehensive income for the year 5,307 3,684

The notes on pages 127 to 157 form part of these accounts.
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Statement of Financial Position as at  31 March 2013

Note
31 March 

2013
31 March 

2012

£000 £000

Non Current Assets
9stessa elbignatnI 417 284
01tnempiuqE dna tnalP ,ytreporP 140,309 142,528
1.11snoitarepo dellortnoc yltnioj ni stnemtsevnI 7,291 5,096

710,841stessa tnerruc-non latoT 147,908

Current assets
21seirotnevnI 796 1,680
1.31selbaviecer rehto dna edarT 15,336 12,915
4.31stessa laicnanif rehtO 80 160

Non current assets held for sale and assets in disposal groups 10.7 0 150
1.41stnelaviuqe hsac dna hsaC 50,577 39,357

987,66stessa tnerruc latoT 54,262

Current Liabilities
1.51selbayap rehto dna edarT (26,590) (19,918)

61sgniworroB (1,160) (1,151)
71 snoisivorP (155) (389)
2.51seitilibail rehtO (1,122) (797)
1.51elbayap xaT (1,825) (1,847)

)258,03(seitilibail tnerruc latoT (24,102)

Total assets less current liabilities 183,954 178,068

Non-current liabilities
1.51selbayap rehto dna edarT 0 0

61sgniworroB (19,015) (20,079)
71 snoisivorP (630) (452)
2.51seitilibail rehtO (9,046) (8,381)

)196,82(seitilibail tnerruc-non latoT (28,912)

362,551deyolpme stessa latoT 149,156

Financed by taxpayers' equity

42latipac dnedivid cilbuP 61,916 61,116
Revaluation reserve 20,124 24,477
Income and expenditure reserve 73,223 63,563

362,551:ytiuqE 'sreyapxaT latoT 149,156

 

The accounts on pages 123 to 157 were approved by the board on 28 May 2013 and signed on its behalf by:
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Statement of changes in taxpayers' equity  31 March 2013

Minority 
interest

Public 
dividend 
capital

Revaluation 
reserve

Donated asset 
reserve

Income and 
expenditure 

reserve

Total reserves

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Taxpayers' equity at 1 April 2012 as previously 
stated

0 61,116 24,477 0 63,563 149,156

Prior period adjustment 0 0 0 0 0 0

Taxpayers' equity at 1 April 2012 - restated 0 61,116 24,477 0 63,563 149,156

Total comprehensive income for the year
Retained surplus/(deficit) for the year 0 0 0 0 8,679 8,679
Revaluation gains/ (losses) and impairment losses on 
intangible assets

0 0 0 0 0 0

Revaluation gains/ (losses) and impairment losses 
Property, Plant and Equipment

0 0 (3,372) 0 0 (3,372)

Transfer of the excess of cost depreciation over 
historical cost depreciation to the Income and 
Expenditure reserve

0 0 (981) 0 981 0

Public dividend capital received 0 800 0 0 0 800

Other transfers between reserves 0 0 0 0 0 0

Taxpayers' equity at 31 March 2013 0 61,916 20,124 0 73,223 155,263

Taxpayers' equity at 1 April 2011 as previously stated 0 61,116 17,809 0 66,547 145,472

Prior period adjustment 0 0 0 0 0 0

Taxpayers' equity at 1 April 2011 - restated 0 61,116 17,809 0 66,547 145,472

Total comprehensive income for the year
Retained surplus/(deficit) for the year 0 0 0 0 (3,295) (3,295)
Revaluation (losses) and impairment losses on 
intangible assets

0 0 0 0 0 0

Revaluation (losses) and impairment losses Property, 
Plant and Equipment

0 0 6,979 0 0 6,979

Transfer of the excess of cost depreciation over 
historical cost depreciation to the Income and 
Expenditure reserve

0 0 (124) 0 124 0

Public dividend capital received 0 0 0 0 0 0

Other transfers between reserves 0 0 (187) 0 187 0

 Taxpayers' equity at 31 March 2012 0 61,116 24,477 0 63,563 149,156

The notes on pages 127 to 157 form part of these accounts.
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Cash Flow Statement for the Year Ending  31 March 2013

Note 2012-13 2011-12

£000 £000
Cash flows from operating activities
Operating surplus/ (deficit) 8,779 (3,951)
Depreciation and Amortisation 4.1 9,072 9,000
Impairments 4.1 3,214 10,357
Reversal of Impairments (206) 0
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables (1,964) 9,063
(Increase)/decrease in inventories 884 (78)
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables 3,346 3,585
Increase/(decrease) in other liabilities 990 1,489
Increase/(decrease) in provisions (58) 204
Increase/(decrease) in tax payable 40 59
(Profit)/loss on disposal of Property, Plant and Equipment 3.2 (57) (347)

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating activities 24,040 29,381

Cash flows from investing activities
Interest received 8.1 148 117
Purchase of financial assets - The Christie Clinic joint venture 11.1 (43) (460)
Purchase of Financial Assets 13.4 (50) (40)
Sale of financial assets 13.4 130 100
Purchase of intangible assets (310) (96)
Sales of intangible assets 0 0
Purchase of Property, Plant and Equipment (9,780) (11,285)
Sales of Property, Plant and Equipment 207 680

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from investing activities (9,698) (10,984)

Cash flows from financing activities
Public dividend capital received 24 800 0
Loans received 16 0 4,000
Loans Repaid 16 (911) (912)
Capital element of finance lease rental payments (17) (20)
Capital element of PFI obligations (140) (117)
Interest paid 8.2 (832) (836)
Interest element of finance lease (3) (4)
Interest element of PFI obligations (48) (54)
PDC Dividend paid (1,971) (2,232)
Receipts for donated Property, Plant and Equipment 0 0
Receipts for donated intangible assets 0 0

Net cash inflow/ (outflow) from financing activities (3,122) (175)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 14 11,220 18,222
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April 14 39,357 21,135

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 March 14 50,577 39,357

The notes on pages 127 to 157 form part of these accounts.
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Notes to the Accounts
1. Accounting Policies

Monitor has directed that the financial accounts of NHS foundation trusts shall meet the accounting requirements of the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual which
shall be agreed with HM Treasury. Consequently, the following financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the 2012/13 NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting
Manual (FT ARM 2012-13) issued by Monitor. The accounting policies contained in that manual follow International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and HM Treasury’s
Financial Reporting Manual to the extent that they are meaningful and appropriate to NHS foundation trusts. The accounting policies have been applied consistently in dealing with
items considered material in relation to the accounts.

1.1 Accounting Conventions

These accounts have been prepared on a going concern basis, under the historical cost convention modified to account for the revaluation of Property, Plant and Equipment at
their value to the business by reference to their current costs. NHS foundation trusts in compliance with HM Treasury's Financial Reporting Manual (FReM) are not required to
comply with IAS 33 requirements to report "earnings per share" or historical profits and losses.

1.1.1 Acquisitions and Discontinued Operations

Activities are considered to be 'acquired' only if they are acquired from outside the public sector. Activities are considered to be 'discontinued' only if they cease entirely. They are
not considered to be 'discontinued' if they transfer from one NHS body to another. 

1.1.2 Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

In the application of the Trust’s accounting policies, management is required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors, that are considered to be
relevant. Actual results may differ from those estimates. The estimates and underlying assumptions are continually reviewed. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

Where the Trust has made such judgements and estimates these are referred to in the relevant notes and accounting policies.

a) Segmental reporting - see note 2
b) Pension scheme valuation - actuarial valuations have been used in in the valuation of the scheme - see note 1.3.1
c) The ill health retirement benefit is based on figures provided by the Pensions Agency - see note 17
d) Other provisions - see note 17
e) The figures relating to the joint venture are based on audited accounts and management estimations provided by The Christie Clinic - see note 11
f) Due to the early closure of the accounts, accruals have been used based on the best estimate known at the time.
g) Non current Property, Plant and Equipment asset valuation relating to land and buildings are based on the District Valuers valuation - see note 10
h) The valuation for the Kaupthing Singer & Friedlander investment is based on an update on 31 October 2012, from the Administrators in relation to the projected dividend - see
note 13.4
i) The Trust has made a judgement to defer some of the income received in 2012/13 where that income has been received to specifically fund an activity which will occur in a future
financial year.

1.2 Income

Income in respect of services provided is recognised when, and to the extent that, performance occurs, and is measured at the fair value of the consideration receivable. The main
source of income for the Trust is from commissioners for healthcare services. Income relating to patient care spells that are part-completed at the year-end are apportioned across
the financial years on the basis of length of stay at the end of the reporting period compared to expected total length of stay.

Where income is received for a specific activity (treating Research & Development as one activity) that is to be delivered in the following year, that income is deferred.

Income from the sale of non-current assets is recognised only when all material conditions of sale have been met and is measured as the sums due under the sale contract.

1.3 Expenditure on employee benefits

1.3.1  Short-term Employee Benefits

Salaries, wages and employment-related payments are recognised in the period in which the service is received from employees. The cost of annual leave entitlement earned but
not taken by employees at the end of the period is recognised in the financial accounts to the extent that employees are permitted to carry-forward leave into the following period.
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Pension costs - NHS Pension scheme

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Scheme. Details of the benefits payable under these provisions can be found on the NHS
Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions. The scheme is an unfunded, defined benefit scheme that covers NHS employers, GP practices and other bodies, allowed
under the direction of the Secretary of State, in England and Wales. The scheme is not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the
underlying scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, the scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the NHS Body of participating in the
scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to the scheme for the accounting period.  

In order that the defined benefit obligations recognised in the financial accounts do not differ materially from those that would be determined at the reporting date by a formal
actuarial valuation, the FT ARM 2012-13 requires that “the period between formal valuations shall be four years, with approximate assessments in intervening years”. An outline of
these follows:

a) Full actuarial (funding) valuation

The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the scheme (taking into account its recent demographic experience), and to
recommend the contribution rates. 
The last formal actuarial valuation undertaken for the NHS Pension Scheme was completed for the year ending 31 March 2004. Consequently, a formal actuarial valuation would
have been due for the year ending 31 March 2008. However, formal actuarial valuations for unfunded public service schemes have been suspended by HM Treasury on value for
money grounds while consideration is given to recent changes to public service pensions, and while future scheme terms are developed as part of the reforms to public service
pension provision. Employer and employee contribution rates are currently being determined under the new scheme design.

b) Accounting valuation

A valuation of the scheme liability is carried out annually by the scheme actuary as at the end of the reporting period. Actuarial assessments are undertaken in intervening years
between formal valuations using updated membership data are accepted as providing suitably robust figures for financial reporting purposes. However, as the interval since the
last formal valuation now exceeds four years, the valuation of the scheme liability as at 31 March 2012, is based on detailed membership data as at 31 March 2010 updated to 31
March 2012 with summary global member and accounting data. In undertaking this actuarial assessment, the methodology prescribed in IAS 19, relevant FT ARM interpretations,
and the discount rate prescribed by HM Treasury have also been used.

The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is contained in the scheme actuary report, which forms part of the annual NHS Pension Scheme (England and Wales)
Pension Accounts, published annually.  These accounts can be viewed on the NHS Pensions website.  Copies can also be obtained from The Stationery Office.

c) Scheme provisions 

The NHS Pension Scheme provided defined benefits, which are summarised below. This list is an illustrative guide only, and is not intended to detail all the benefits provided by the
Scheme or the specific conditions that must be met before these benefits can be obtained:

The Scheme is a “final salary” scheme. Annual pensions are normally based on 1/80th for the 1995 section and of the best of the last three years pensionable pay for each year of
service, and 1/60th for the 2008 section of reckonable pay per year of membership. Members who are practitioners as defined by the Scheme Regulations have their annual
pensions based upon total pensionable earnings over the relevant pensionable service.

With effect from 1 April 2008 members can choose to give up some of their annual pension for an additional tax free lump sum, up to a maximum amount permitted under HMRC
rules. This new provision is known as “pension commutation”.

Annual increases are applied to pension payments at rates defined by the Pensions (Increase) Act 1971, and are based on changes in retail prices in the twelve months ending 30
September in the previous calendar year. From 2011-12 the Consumer Price Index (CPI) will be used to replace the Retail Prices Index (RPI).

Early payment of a pension, with enhancement, is available to members of the scheme who are permanently incapable of fulfilling their duties effectively through illness or infirmity.
A death gratuity of twice final year’s pensionable pay for death in service, and five times their annual pension for death after retirement is payable.

For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities are not funded by the scheme. The full amount of the liability for the additional costs is
charged to the employer.

Members can purchase additional service in the NHS Scheme and contribute to money purchase AVC’s run by the Scheme’s approved providers or by other Free Standing
Additional Voluntary Contributions (FSAVC) providers.

1.3.2  Expenditure on other goods and services

Expenditure on goods and services is recognised when, and to the extent that they have been received, and is measured at the fair value of those goods and services.
Expenditure is recognised in operating expenses except where it results in the creation of a non-current asset such as Property, Plant and Equipment.
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1.4 Property, Plant and Equipment

1.4.1 Recognition

Property, Plant and Equipment is capitalised where:
 -  it is held for use in delivering services or for administrative purposes;
 -  it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential be provided to, the Trust;
 -  it is expected to be used for more than one financial year; 
 -  the cost of the item can be measured reliably; and
 -  individually have a cost of at least £5,000;  or
- form a group of assets which individually have a cost of more than £250, collectively have a cost of at least £5,000, where the assets are functionally interdependent, they had

broadly simultaneous purchase dates, are anticipated to have simultaneous disposal dates and are under single managerial control; or
 - form part of the initial setting-up cost of a new building or refurbishment of a ward or unit, irrespective of their individual or collective cost.

1.4.2 Valuation

Property, Plant and Equipment assets are stated at the lower of replacement cost and recoverable amount. On initial recognition the assets are measured at cost (for leased
assets, fair value) including any costs such as installation directly attributable to bringing them into working condition. The carrying values of Property, Plant and Equipment assets
are reviewed for impairment in periods if events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable. The costs arising from financing the construction
of Property, Plant and Equipment is not capitalised but charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income (SOCI) account in the year to which they relate.

All land and buildings are restated to current value using professional valuations in accordance with IAS16 every five years, with an interim valuation every three years. If the fair
value of a revalued asset differs materially from its carrying amount, an independent valuation is carried out for that class of asset.

Valuations are carried out by professionally qualified valuers in accordance with the Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors (RICS) Appraisal and Valuation Manual. This year's
valuation was undertaken by Mrs S Hall (MRICS) of the Valuation Office Agency.

The valuations are carried out primarily on the basis of Depreciated Replacement Cost of a Modern Equivalent Asset for specialised operational property and Existing Use Value
for non-specialised operational property. The value of land for existing use purposes is assessed at Existing Use Value. For non-operational properties including surplus land, the
valuations are carried out at Open Market Value.

Assets in the course of construction are valued at cost and are valued by professional valuers as part of the five or three-yearly valuation or when they are brought into use.

Operational equipment is valued at net current replacement cost. Equipment surplus to requirements is valued at net recoverable amount.

1.4.3  Subsequent expenditure

Subsequent expenditure relating to an item of Property, Plant and Equipment is recognised as an increase in the carrying amount of the asset when it is probable that additional
future economic benefits or service potential deriving from the cost incurred to replace a component of such item will flow to the enterprise and the cost of the item can be
determined reliably. Where a component of an asset is replaced, the cost of the replacement is capitalised if it meets the criteria for recognition above. The carrying amount of the
part replaced is de-recognised. Other expenditure that does not generate additional future economic benefits or service potential, such as repairs and maintenance, is charged to
the Statement of Comprehensive Income in the period in which it is incurred.

1.4.4  Depreciation

Property, Plant and Equipment assets are depreciated at rates calculated to write them down to estimated residual value on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives.
The estimated useful lives and residual values are reviewed each year end, with the effect of any changes recognised on a prospective basis. Assets held under finance leases
are depreciated over their estimated useful lives or, where shorter, the lease term.

No depreciation is provided on freehold land and assets surplus to requirements.

Assets in the course of construction and residual interests in on-Statement of Financial Position PFI contract assets are not depreciated until the asset is brought into use or reverts
to the Trust, respectively.

Equipment is depreciated on historic cost for low value and/or short life assets and on current cost for other equipment assets evenly over the estimated life of the asset.

1.4.5  Revaluation and impairment

Increases in asset values arising from revaluations are recognised in the revaluation reserve, except where, and to the extent that, they reverse an impairment previously
recognised in operating expenses, in which case they are recognised in operating income.

Revaluation losses are charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent that there is an available balance for the asset concerned, and thereafter are charged to operating
expenses.

In accordance with the FT ARM, impairments that are due to a loss of economic benefit or service potential in the asset are charged to operating expenses. A compensating
transfer is made from the revaluation reserve to the income and expenditure reserve of an amount equal to the lower of (i) the impairment charged to operating expenses: and (ii)
the balance in the revaluation reserve attributable to that asset before the impairment.

Gains and losses recognised in the revaluation reserve are reported in the Statement of Comprehensive Income as an item of ‘other comprehensive income’.
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1.4.6  De-recognition

Assets intended for disposal are reclassified as ‘Held for Sale’ once all of the following criteria are met;

 -  the asset is available for immediate sale in its present condition subject only to terms which are usual and
    customary for such sales;

 -  the sale must be highly probable i.e.:

● management are committed to a plan to sell the asset;
● an active programme has begun to find a buyer and complete the sale;
● the asset is being actively marketed at a reasonable price;
● the sale is expected to be completed within 12 months of the date of classification as ‘Held for Sale’; and
● the actions needed to complete the plan indicate it is unlikely that the plan will be dropped or significant changes
     made to it.

Following reclassification, the assets are measured at the lower of their existing carrying amount and their ‘fair value less costs to sell’. Depreciation ceases to be charged and the
assets are not revalued, except where the ‘fair value less costs to sell’ falls below the carrying amount. Assets are de-recognised when all material sale contract conditions have
been met.

Property, Plant and Equipment which is to be scrapped or demolished does not qualify for recognition as ‘Held for Sale’ and instead is retained as an operational asset and the
asset’s economic life is adjusted. The asset is de-recognised when scrapping or demolition occurs.

1.5 Intangible Assets

1.5.1  Recognition

Intangible assets are non-monetary assets without physical substance which are capable of being sold separately from the rest of the Trust’s business or which arise from
contractual or other legal rights. They are recognised only where it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential be provided to, the Trust and where the
cost of the asset can be measured reliably. Where internally generated assets are held for service potential, this involves a direct contribution to the delivery of services to the
public.

Intangible assets are capitalised when they are capable of being used in a Trust's activities for more than one year; they can be valued; and they have a cost of at least £5,000.

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred.

Internally generated goodwill, brands, mastheads, publishing titles, customer lists and similar items are not capitalised as intangible assets.

Intangible assets acquired separately are initially recognised at historical cost. Internally-generated assets are recognised if, and only if, all of the following have been
demonstrated:

● the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use,
● the intention to complete the intangible asset and use it,
● the ability to use the intangible asset,
● how the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits,
● the availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the intangible asset and use it,
● the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development.

Software which is integral to the operation of hardware e.g. an operating system, is capitalised as part of the relevant item of Property, Plant and Equipment. Software which is not
integral to the operation of hardware e.g. application software, is capitalised as an intangible asset.

1.5.2  Measurement

Intangible non current assets held for operational use are valued at historical cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment. The carrying value of intangible assets is
reviewed for impairment at the end of the first full year following acquisition and in other periods if events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be
recoverable.

The amount initially recognised for internally-generated intangible assets is the sum of the expenditure incurred from the date when the criteria above are initially met. Where no
internally-generated intangible asset can be recognised, the expenditure is charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income (SOCI) in the period in which it is incurred.

1.5.3  Amortisation

Intangible assets are amortised on a straight line basis over their expected useful economic lives or, in the case of software licences, over the term of the licence where this is
shorter.

1.6  Donated assets

Donated and grant funded Property, Plant and Equipment assets are capitalised at their fair value on receipt. The donation/grant is credited to income at the same time, unless the
donor has imposes a condition that the future economic benefits embodied in the grant are to be consumed in a manner specified by the donor, in which case, the donation/grant is
deferred within liabilities and is carried forward to future financial years to the extent that the condition has not yet been met.
The donated and grant funded assets are subsequently accounted for in the same manner as other items of Property, Plant and Equipment.
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1.7  Private Finance Initiative (PFI) transactions

PFI transactions which meet the IFRIC 12 definition of a service concession, as interpreted in HM Treasury’s FReM, are accounted for as ‘on-Statement of Financial Position’ by
the Trust. The underlying assets are recognised as PPE at their fair value. An equivalent financial liability is recognised in accordance with IAS 17.

The annual contract payments are apportioned between the repayment of the liability, a finance cost and the charges for services. The finance cost is calculated using the effective
interest rate for the scheme.

The service charge is recognised in operating expenses and the finance cost is charged to Finance Costs in the SOCI.

Where the balance of the risks and rewards of ownership of the PFI property are borne by the PFI operator, the PFI payments are recorded as an operating expense. Where the
Trust has contributed land and buildings, a prepayment for their fair value is recognised and amortised over the life of the PFI contract by charge to the SOCI. Where, at the end of
the PFI contract, a property reverts to the Trust, the difference between the expected fair value of the residual on reversion and any agreed payment on reversion is built up over
the life of the contract by capitalising part of the unitary charge each year, as a tangible non current asset.

1.8  Government grants

Government grants are grants from Government bodies other than income from primary care trusts or NHS trusts for the provision of services. Where a grant is used to fund
revenue expenditure it is taken to the Statement of Comprehensive Income to match that expenditure.

1.9 Research

The revenue costs of personnel, consumables, etc. engaged in research and development activities is shown as direct expenditure of the Trust. Some of these activities are
funded through charitable sources and therefore an amount corresponding to the expenditure charged to the SOCI is included in operating income from charitable and other
contributions to expenditure.

Research and development expenditure is charged against income in the year in which it is incurred, except insofar as development expenditure relates to a clearly defined project
and the benefits of it can reasonably be regarded as assured.  

Expenditure so deferred is limited to the value of future benefits expected and is amortised through the income and expenditure account on a systematic basis over the period
expected to benefit from the project.  It is revalued on the basis of current cost. The amortisation is calculated on the same basis as depreciation, on a monthly basis.  

Expenditure which does not meet the criteria for capitalisation is treated as an operating cost in the year in which it is incurred. Where possible NHS foundation trusts disclose the
total amount of research and development expenditure charged in the SOCI separately. However, where research and development activity cannot be separated from patient care
activity it cannot be identified and is therefore not separately disclosed. 

1.10 Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to the lessee.  All other leases are classified as operating leases.

1.10.1  The Trust as lessee

Finance leases

Where substantially all risks and rewards of ownership of a leased asset are borne by the Trust, the asset is recorded as Property, Plant and Equipment and a corresponding
liability is recorded. The value at which both are recognised is the lower of the fair value of the asset or the present value of the minimum lease payments, discounted using the
interest rate implicit in the lease. The implicit interest rate is that which produces a constant periodic rate of interest on the outstanding liability.

The asset and liability are recognised at the inception of the lease, and are de-recognised when the liability is discharged, cancelled or expires. The annual rental is split between
the repayment of the liability and a finance cost. The annual finance cost is calculated by applying the implicit interest rate to the outstanding liability and is charged to Finance
Costs in the SOCI.

Operating leases

Other leases are regarded as operating leases and the rentals are charged to operating expenses on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Operating lease incentives
received are added to the lease rentals and charged to operating expenses over the life of the lease.

Leases of land and buildings

Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land component is separated from the building component and the classification for each is assessed separately.

1.10.2  The Trust as lessor

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recorded as receivables at the amount of the Trust’s net investment in the leases. Finance lease income is allocated to
accounting periods so as to reflect a constant periodic rate of return on the Trust’s net investment outstanding in respect of the leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease
are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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1.11 Financial Instruments and Financial Liabilities

Recognition

Financial assets and financial liabilities which arise from contracts for the purchase or sale of non-financial items (such as goods or services), which are entered into in accordance
with the Trust’s normal purchase, sale or usage requirements, are recognised when, and to the extent which, performance occurs i.e. when receipt or delivery of the goods or
services is made.

Financial assets or financial liabilities in respect of assets acquired or disposed of through finance leases are recognised and measured in accordance with the accounting policy
for leases described below.

All other financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the NHS Foundation Trust becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

De-recognition

All financial assets are de-recognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the assets have expired or the Trust has transferred substantially all of the risks and rewards of
ownership.

Financial liabilities are de-recognised when the obligation is discharged, cancelled or expires.

Classification and Measurement

Financial assets are categorised as loans and receivables.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments with are not quoted in an active market. They are included in current assets. 

The Trust’s loans and receivables comprise: current investment, cash and cash equivalents, NHS receivables, accrued income and ‘other receivables’.

Loans and receivables are recognised initially at fair value, net of transactions costs, and are measured subsequently at amortised cost, using the effective interest method. The
effective interest rate is the rate that discounts exactly estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset or, when appropriate, a shorter period, to the
net carrying amount of the financial asset.  

Interest on loans and receivables is calculated using the effective interest method and credited to the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Financial Liabilities

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred, and measured subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The
effective interest rate is the rate that discounts exactly estimated future cash payments through the expected life of the financial liability or, when appropriate, a shorter period, to
the net carrying amount of the financial liability.

They are included in current liabilities except for amounts payable more than 12 months after the Statement of Financial Position date, which are classified as non-current financial
liabilities.

Interest on financial liabilities carried at amortised cost is calculated using the effective interest method and charged to Finance Costs. Interest on financial liabilities taken out to
finance Property, Plant and Equipment or intangible assets is not capitalised as part of the cost of those assets.

Impairment of financial assets

At the Statement of Financial Position date, the Trust assesses whether any financial assets are impaired. Financial assets are impaired and impairment losses are recognised if,
and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events which occurred after the initial recognition of the asset and which has an impact on the
estimated future cash flows of the asset.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the
revised future cash flows discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate. The loss is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income and the carrying amount of the
asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account/bad debt provision.
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1.12 Provisions

The NHS foundation trust recognises a provision where it has a present legal or constructive obligation of uncertain timing or amount; for which it is probable that there will be a
future outflow of cash or other resources; and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount. The amount recognised in the Statement of Financial Position is the best estimate of
the resources required to settle the obligation. Where the effect of the time value of money is significant, the estimated risk-adjusted cash flows are discounted using the discount
rates published and mandated by HM Treasury.

Clinical negligence costs

The NHS Litigation Authority (NHSLA) operates a risk pooling scheme under which the Trust pays an annual contribution to the NHSLA, which, in return, settles all clinical
negligence claims. Although the NHSLA is administratively responsible for all clinical negligence cases, the legal liability remains with the Trust. The total value of clinical
negligence provisions carried by the NHSLA on behalf of the Trust is disclosed at note 17 but is not recognised in the NHS foundation trust’s accounts.

Non-clinical risk pooling

The Trust participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third Parties Scheme. Both are risk pooling schemes under which the Trust pays an annual
contribution to the NHSLA and, in return, receives assistance with the costs of claims arising. The annual membership contributions, and any 'excesses' payable in respect of
particular claims are charged to operating expenses when the liability arises.

1.13 Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value, except for pharmacy stocks which are valued at average cost. This is considered to be a reasonable
approximation to current cost due to the high turnover of stocks. 

1.14 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without penalty on notice of not more than 24 hours. Cash equivalents are investments that mature in 3
months or less from the date of acquisition and that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in value.

1.15   Public dividend capital

Public dividend capital (PDC) is a type of public sector equity finance based on the excess of assets over liabilities at the time of establishment of the predecessor NHS trust. HM
Treasury has determined that PDC is not a financial instrument within the meaning of IAS 32.  

A charge, reflecting the forecast cost of capital utilised by the Trust, is payable as PDC dividend. The charge is calculated at the rate set by HM Treasury (currently 3.5%) on the
average relevant net assets of the Trust during the financial year.

Relevant net assets are calculated as the value of all assets less the value of all liabilities;
(i) less net book value of donated assets
(ii) plus the value of any deferred income balance that funds a donated asset (to avoid the potential to double count donated assets as a reduction in relevant net assets where a
donated asset is associated with a deferred income balance).
(iii) less net cash balances in Government Banking Service (GBS) accounts (excluding cash balances in GBS account that relate to a short term working capital facility).
(iv) less/ plus PDC dividend receivables/ payables.

1.16   Contingencies

Contingent assets (that is, assets arising from past events whose existence will only be confirmed by one or more future events not wholly within the entity’s control) are not
recognised as assets, but are disclosed where an inflow of economic benefits is probable.

Contingent liabilities are not recognised, but are disclosed in note 18, unless the probability of a transfer of economic benefits is remote. Contingent liabilities are defined as:

● possible obligations arising from past events whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the entity’s
control; or

● present obligations arising from past events but for which it is not probable that a transfer of economic benefit will arise or for which the amount of the obligation cannot be
measured with sufficient reliability.

1.17   Corporation tax

Under s519A ICTA 1988 the Trust is regarded as a Health Service body and is, therefore, exempt from taxation on its income and capital gains. Section 148 of the 2004 Finance
Act provided the Treasury with powers to disapply this exemption. Accordingly the Trust is potentially within the scope of corporation tax in respect of activities which are not related
to, or ancillary to, the provision of healthcare and where the profits exceed £50,000 pa. Activities such as staff and patient car parking and sales of food are considered to be
ancillary to the core healthcare objectives of the Trust (and not entrepreneurial) and therefore not subject to corporation tax. Any tax liability will be accounted for within the relevant
tax year.
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1.18   Value Added Tax (VAT)

Most of the activities of the Trust are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax does not apply and input tax on purchases is not recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is
charged to the relevant expenditure category or included in the capitalised purchase cost of non current assets. Where output tax is charged or input VAT is recoverable, the
amounts are stated net of VAT.

1.19   Foreign exchange

The functional and presentational currencies of the Trust are sterling.

A transaction which is denominated in a foreign currency is translated into the functional currency at the spot exchange rate on the date of the transaction.

Where the Trust has assets or liabilities denominated in a foreign currency at the Statement of Financial Position date:

• monetary items (other than financial instruments measured at ‘fair value through income and expenditure’) are translated at the spot exchange rate on 31 March;
• non-monetary assets and liabilities measured at historical cost are translated using the spot exchange rate at the date of the transaction; and
• non-monetary assets and liabilities measured at fair value are translated using the spot exchange rate at the date the fair value was determined.

Exchange gains or losses on monetary items (arising on settlement of the transaction or on re-translation at the Statement of Financial Position date) are recognised in income or
expense in the period in which they arise.

Exchange gains or losses on non-monetary assets and liabilities are recognised in the same manner as other gains and losses on these items.

1.20   Losses and Special Payments

Losses and special payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated when it agreed funds for the health service or passed legislation. By their nature they are
items that ideally should not arise. They are therefore subject to special control procedures compared with the generality of payments. They are divided into different categories,
which govern the way each individual case is handled.

Losses and Special Payments are charged to the relevant functional headings in the SOCI on an accruals basis, including losses which would have been made good through
insurance cover had the Trust not been bearing its own risks (with insurance premiums then being included as normal revenue expenditure). Note 21 is compiled directly from the
losses and compensations register which is prepared on a cash basis.

1.21   Consolidation - Joint ventures

Joint ventures are separate entities over which the Trust has joint control with one or more other parties. The meaning of control is to exercise control or power to influence so as to
gain economic or other benefits. Joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method.

Valuation of the investment in the Joint Venture is recognised at cost and the carrying amount increased or decreased to recognise The Christie's share of its profit or loss.

1.22   Accounting standards issued but not yet adopted
 
The International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) has issued a number of new accounting standards for implementation in future years. We have considered these and it is
unlikely that they will have a material impact on the financial accounts.

IFRS 9  Financial Instruments: Financial assets and Financial liabilities published in October 2010.
IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements published in May 2011.
IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements published in May 2011.
IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities published in May 2011.
IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement published in May 2011.
IAS 12  Income taxes amendment published December in 2010.
IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements, on Other Comprehensive Income published in June 2011.
IAS 27 Separate Financial Statements  published in May 2011.
IAS 28 Associates and Joint Ventures published in May 2011.
IAS 19 (revised 2011) Employee Benefits published in June 2011.
IAS 32 Financial Instruments (presentation amendment) published in December 2011.
IFRS 7 Financial Instruments (disclosures amendment) published in December 2011.

No accounting standards in issue have been adopted early.
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2.   Operating segments

3.   Operating income 

2012-13 2011-12

£000 £000

Income from activities   3.1.1 150,661 140,841
Other operating income 3.2 48,882 44,467

199,543 185,308

3.1.1  Income from activities by type

2012-13 2011-12
£000 £000

Elective income 27,682 26,820
Non Elective income 10,687 10,378
Outpatient income 12,368 11,508
Other types of activity* 99,924 92,135

Total 150,661 140,841

Income from activities relates to income arising from mandatory services.

*Other includes cost per case drugs, chemotherapy and radiotherapy day treatments.  The increase relates to growth in 
chemotherapy and cost per case activity.

Under IFRS 8 'Operating Segments', the Trust is required to disclose financial information across significant operating 
segments which reflect the way the management runs the Trust.

The Trust has applied the aggregation criteria from IFRS 8 Operating Segments because the clinical divisions provide 
similar services, have homogenous customers, common production processes and a common regulatory environment. 
The overlapping activities and interrelation between the divisions also suggests that aggregation is appropriate. The 
divisions report to the CODM, and it is the CODM that ultimately makes decisions about the allocation of budgets, 
capital funding and other financial decisions.

On this basis the Trust believes that there is one segment. The overall surplus reported to the Trust Board was £8,679k 
(2011/12: deficit of £3,295k), which is the same as the position reported in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

The Trust’s core activities fall under the remit of the Chief Operating Decision Maker ("CODM") as defined by IFRS 8 
'Operating Segments', which has been determined to be the Management Board, a sub-committee of the Board of 
Directors. These core activities are primarily the provision of specialist NHS healthcare, the income for which is 
received through contracts with commissioners. The planned level of activity is agreed with our main commissioners for 
the year, and are listed in the related party disclosure (see Note 22).

The Trust manages the delivery of healthcare services across clinical divisions. Certain aspects of performance are 
reported at a divisional level to the Management Board, although this is not the primary way in which financial matters 
are considered.
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3.1.2    Private patient income cap

3.1.3   Income from activities by source

2012-13 2011-12
£000 £000

NHS Foundation Trusts 777 725
NHS Trusts 208 209
Strategic Health Authorities 4,384 4,127
Primary Care Trusts 101,346 124,952
North West Specialist Commissioning Team (NWSCT) 41,425 8,037
Department of Health 0 0
NHS Other 2,521 2,791

               
Total 150,661 140,841

3.2   Other Operating Income

2012-13 2011-12

£000 £000
Research and development 11,877 10,543
Education and training 4,138 4,443
Charitable and other contributions to revenue expenditure 6,528 6,391
Charitable and other contributions to capital  expenditure 2,849 306
Non-patient care services to other bodies 1,909 1,379
North West Medical Physics 6,105 6,084
Joint venture income* 6,263 7,129
North West Cancer Intelligence Services 1,563 1,506
Income in respect of staff costs 1,257 1,307
Clinical excellence awards 922 1,029
Catering and other commercial income 1,577 1,044
Creche services 619 587
Property rentals 506 544
Car parking 293 292
Pharmacy sales 38 260
Course fees 458 460
Profit on disposal of land and buildings 57 347
Reversal of Impairments of land and buildings** 206 0
Other 1,717 816

Total 48,882 44,467

The statutory limitation on private patient income in section 44 of the 2006 Act was repealed with effect from 1 
October 2012 by the Health and Social Care Act 2012. The financial accounts disclosures that were provided 
previously are no longer required. 

Responsibility for commissioning radiotherapy (including brachytherapy) and PET scanning transferred from 
PCTs to the NWSCT in 2012-13.

*Joint venture income relates to services provided to The Christie Clinic via Service Level Agreements, property 
rental income and other contractual payments.

**Following the independent valuation, a number of properties have been revalued upwards.  Where these had 
suffered impairments through the SOCI in prior years, the revaluation has been reversed through the SOCI to the 
extent that the prior charge is not exceeded.
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4.  Operating Expenses

4.1   Operating expenses comprise:

2012-13 2011-12

£000 £000

Services from Foundation Trusts 2,891 3,287
Services from NHS Trusts 573 675
Services from PCTs 71 207
Services from other NHS bodies 1,924 1,895
Executive directors' costs 951 1,070
Non-executive directors' costs 100 114
Staff costs 92,202 91,368
Drug costs 43,453 38,245
Supplies and services - clinical 13,315 13,099
Supplies and services - general 2,067 1,831
Establishment 2,519 2,637
Research & Development 3,318 2,969
Transport 608 516
Premises 11,299 7,707
Increase / (decrease) in provision for impairment of receivables (450) 534
Other impairment of financial assets 0 0
Depreciation of Property, Plant and Equipment 8,895 8,374
Amortisation of intangibles 177 626
Non current asset impairments 3,214 10,357
Non current asset reversal of impairments 0 0
Audit fees 66 66
Other auditors' remuneration 0 2
Insurance and clinical negligence 761 761
Loss on disposal of Property, Plant and Equipment 0 0
Legal fees 482 488
Consultancy costs 2,480 1,796

Redundancy and termination benefits 166 492
Losses, ex gratia and special payments* (49) (39)
Internal trading with charity (519) (529)
Internal trading with Research & Development division (2,214) (2,123)
Other 2,464 2,834

Total 190,764 189,259

Research & Development costs as above 3,318 2,969
8,559 7,574

Total Research & Development expenditure 11,877 10,543

4.2   Audit fees
2012-13 2011-12

£000 £000

Audit services - statutory audit 52 51
Audit services - audit related regulatory reporting 14 15

Total 66 66

4.3   Other auditors' remuneration

The fees paid or payable to the external auditor for non audit services are made up as follows;

2012-13 2011-12
£000 £000

Benchmarking review 0 2

Total 0 2

Due to the abolition of the Audit Commission the trust engaged new external auditors PwC, with effect 
from 1 October 2012. 
The auditors' total liability (including interest) for all claims connected with the services or the agreement 
with the Trust (including but not limited to negligence) is limited to £1m.

*Total losses reported in this note are prepared on an accruals basis and therefore do not compare to 
note 21. Further information is provided in note 13.4 regarding the loss incurred with Kaupthing Singer & 
Freidlander.

Research & Development staff costs previously shown within Research & Development expenditure are 
now disclosed within staff costs. 

Research & Development employee costs included in staff costs
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5.   Operating leases

5.1   NHS FT as lessee

2012-13 2011-12
£000 £000

Payments recognised as an expense
Minimum lease payments 411 415
Contingent rents 0 0
Less Sub-lease payments received 0 0

411 415

Total future minimum lease payments
Payable:
Not later than 1 year 253 258
Later than 1 year not later then 5 years 0 235
Later then 5 years 0 0

Total 253 493

5.2   NHS FT as lessor
2012-13 2011-12

£000 £000
Recognised as income
Rents 1,750 1,978
Contingent Rents 0 0

Total 1,750 1,978

Receivable:
Not later than 1 year 1,830 1,852
Later than 1 year not later then 5 years 7,085 7,258
Later then 5 years 22,477 22,968

Total 31,392 32,078

The Trust also has given a 5 year lease to the NHS Blood Transfusion Service for use of the Photophoresis Unit.

The Trust has granted a number of leases to the University of Manchester at the Withington site.  

The Trust has a lease arrangement with Siemens Medical Diagnostics Limited for the provision of immunological, 
haematological and chemistry analytical services.   There is also a lease for a gamma camera which was 
extended for an additional year.

The Trust entered into an agreement with The Christie Clinic whereby the joint venture leases from the Trust part 
of the new patient treatment centre for 20 years, effective from 15 September 2010.  
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6.   Employee costs and numbers

6.1  Employee expenses

2011-12

Total
Permanently 

Employed Other Total
£000 £000 £000 £000

Salaries and wages 78,245 71,200 7,045 77,374
Social security costs 5,470 5,470 0 5,371
Pension costs - defined contribution plans 
Employers contributions to NHS Pensions 
 - Directors 102 102 0 105
 - Other staff 8,461 8,461 0 8,315
Pension costs - other contributions 0 0 0 0
Termination benefits 166 166 0 492
Agency/ contract staff 875 0 875 1,273

Total 93,319 85,399 7,920 92,930

Capitalised staff costs are excluded from this note and total £170k (2011/12: £202k)

6.2   Average numbers of persons employed

2011-12

Total
Permanently 

Employed Other Total
wte wte wte wte

Medical and dental 207 130 77 201
Administration and estates 687 679 8 678
Healthcare assistants and other support staff 179 178 1 175
Nursing, midwifery and health visiting staff 633 624 9 621
Scientific, therapeutic and technical staff 507 505 2 524
Bank and agency staff 28 0 28 34

Total 2,241 2,116 125 2,233

Capitalised staff numbers are excluded from this note and total 3 wte (2011-12: 4 wte)

6.3   Employee Benefits

6.4   Staff exit packages

Exit package cost band
Number of 
compulsory 
redundancies

Number of 
other 
departures 
agreed

Total number 
of exit 
packages by 
cost band

Number of 
compulsory 
redundancies

Number of 
other 
departures 
agreed

Total number of 
exit packages 
by cost band

<£10,000 0 0 0 2 10 12
£10,000    -   £25,000 0 1 1 2 12 14
£25,001    -   £50,000 0 1 1 0 5 5
£50,001    -   £100,000 0 2 2 0 1 1
£100,001  -  £150,000 0 0 0 0 0 0
£150,001  -  £200,000 0 0 0 0 0 0
£200,001  -  £250,000 0 0 0 0 0 0
£250,001  -  £300,000 0 0 0 0 0 0
£300,001  -  £350,000 0 0 0 0 0 0
£350,001  -  £400,000 0 0 0 0 0 0
£400,001  -  £450,000 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total number of exit packages by type 0 4 4 4 28 32

Total resource cost (£000's) 0 166 166 47 445 492

2012-13 2011-12

The Trust has made the following termination payments to staff during the year, the total cost of these is shown within operating expenses.

2012-13

2012-13

This relates to non-pay benefits which are not attributable to individual employees. There were no such benefits this year.
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6.5   Early Retirements due to ill-health

6.6   Directors' Remuneration and Other Benefits 
2012-13 2011-12

£000 £000

Directors' Remuneration 951 1,070

The directors' remuneration above includes the provision of a lease car to 
one director

4 5

Employer contributions to a pension scheme in respect of Directors 102 103

Post employment benefits 0 0

Long term benefits 0 0

2012-13 2011-12

Number of directors to whom benefits are accruing under a defined 
benefit scheme.

5 6

7.1   Better Payment Practice Code - measure of compliance

Number £000 Number £000

Total Non-NHS trade invoices paid in the year 30,934 87,732 33,468 79,221
Total Non-NHS trade invoices paid within target 29,874 84,900 32,517 77,014

Percentage of Non-NHS trade invoices paid within target 97% 97% 97% 97%

Total NHS trade invoices in the year 1,868 14,107 2,297 18,452
Total NHS trade invoices paid within target 1,679 13,267 2,159 17,450

Percentage of NHS trade invoices paid within target 90% 94% 94% 95%

7.2.   The Late Payment of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998
2012-13 2011-12

£000 £000

Amounts included within other interest payable arising from claims made 
under this legislation from claims made by small businesses under this 
legislation 0 0

Compensation paid to cover debt recovery costs under this legislation 0 0

The Trust has paid 86% of its trade payables within this new target (2011-12: 87%).

2012-13

During 2012-13 there were no early retirements (2011-12, three) from the Trust on the grounds of 
ill-health.  The estimated additional pension liabilities of these ill-health retirements will be  £nil 
(2011-12 £391,081).  The cost of these ill-health retirements will be borne by NHS Pensions.

2011-12

The Better Payment Practice Code requires the Trust to aim to pay all valid invoices by the due date or 
within 30 days of receipt of goods or a valid invoice, whichever is later.

The DH requested that from 21 October 2008 all NHS foundation trusts paid trade payables within 10 
days of receipt of goods or a valid invoice . 

(Full details of Directors' remuneration and other benefits are set out in the Trust's Remuneration 
report which is included in the annual report).
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8.   Finance costs and finance revenue

8.1   Finance income

2012-13 2011-12
£000 £000

Bank interest receivable 148 117
Interest on available for sale financial assets 0 0
Interest on held-to-maturity financial assets 0 0
Other gains (investment properties) 0 0

Total 148 117

8.2   Finance costs

2012-13 2011-12

£000 £000

Interest on loans and overdrafts 832 836
Interest expense under finance leases 3 4
Interest on obligations under PFI contracts 48 54
Interest on late payment of commercial debt 0 0
Other interest expense 0 0

Total interest expense 883 894

Other finance costs 0 0

Total 883 894
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9.   Intangible assets

9.1   Intangible assets 2012-13 Software 
purchased

Software 
Internally 

generated
Licences and 

trademarks Patents
Development 
Expenditure Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Gross cost at 1 April 2012 2,052 0 0 0 0 2,052
Additions - purchased 310 0 0 0 0 310
Additions - government granted 0 0 0 0 0 0
Additions - Donated 0 0 0 0 0 0
Reclassifications 0 0 0 0 0 0
Reclassifications as held for sale 0 0 0 0 0 0
Transfers (to)/from NHS bodies 0 0 0 0 0 0
Disposals 0 0 0 0 0 0
Revaluations 0 0 0 0 0 0
Impairments 0 0 0 0 0 0
Reversals of impairments 0 0 0 0 0 0
Gross cost at 31 March 2013 2,362 0 0 0 0 2,362

Amortisation
Accumulated amortisation at 1 April 2012 1,768 0 0 0 0 1,768
Charged during the year 177 0 0 0 0 177
Reclassifications 0 0 0 0 0 0
Reclassified as held for sale 0 0 0 0 0 0
Transfers to NHS bodies 0 0 0 0 0 0
Disposals 0 0 0 0 0 0
Revaluation 0 0 0 0 0 0
Impairments 0 0 0 0 0 0
Reversal of impairments 0 0 0 0 0 0
Accumulated amortisation at 31 March 2013 1,945 0 0 0 0 1,945

Net book value at 1 April 2012 284 0 0 0 0 284

Net book value - purchased at 31 March 2013 292 0 0 0 0 292
Net book value - PFI lease at 31 March 2013 96 0 0 0 0 96
Net book value - donated at 31 March 2013 29 0 0 0 0 29

Net book value at 31 March 2013 417 0 0 0 0 417

9.2   Intangible assets 2011-12 Software 
purchased

Software 
Internally 

generated
Licences and 

trademarks Patents
Development 

Expenditure Total
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Gross cost at 1 April 2011 1,956 0 0 0 0 1,956
Additions - purchased 96 0 0 0 0 96
Additions - government granted 0 0 0 0 0 0
Additions - Donated 0 0 0 0 0 0
Reclassifications 0 0 0 0 0 0
Reclassifications as held for sale 0 0 0 0 0 0
Transfers (to)/from NHS bodies 0 0 0 0 0 0
Disposals 0 0 0 0 0 0
Revaluations 0 0 0 0 0 0
Impairments 0 0 0 0 0 0
Reversals of impairments 0 0 0 0 0 0
Gross cost at 31 March 2012 2,052 0 0 0 0 2,052

Amortisation
Accumulated amortisation at 1 April 2011 1,142 0 0 0 0 1,142
Charged during the year 626 0 0 0 0 626
Reclassifications 0 0 0 0 0 0
Reclassified as held for sale 0 0 0 0 0 0
Transfers to NHS bodies 0 0 0 0 0 0
Disposals 0 0 0 0 0 0
Revaluation 0 0 0 0 0 0
Impairments 0 0 0 0 0 0
Reversal of impairments 0 0 0 0 0 0
Accumulated amortisation at 31 March 2012 1,768 0 0 0 0 1,768

Net book value at 1 April 2011 814 0 0 0 0 814

Net book value - purchased at 31 March 2012 145 0 0 0 0 145
Net book value - PFI lease at 31 March 2012 96 0 0 0 0 96
Net book value - donated at 31 March 2012 43 0 0 0 0 43

Net book value at 31 March 2012 284 0 0 0 0 284
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10.   Property, Plant and Equipment
10.1   Property, Plant and Equipment 2012-13

Land Buildings Dwellings Assets under Plant and Transport Information Furniture Total
excluding construction machinery equipment technology and fittings
dwellings and payments

on account
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Cost or Valuation at 1 April 2012 14,942 120,964 0 1,330 46,535 0 6,712 0 190,483
Additions - purchased 0 2,916 0 5,991 782 0 518 0 10,207
Additions - donated 0 1,000 0 1,736 113 0 0 0 2,849
Impairments (2,236) (1,679) 0 0 0 0 0 0 (3,915)
Reclassifications 0 934 0 (2,773) 1,839 0 0 0 0
Revaluation 0 543 0 0 0 0 0 0 543
Transferred to disposal group as asset held for sale 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Disposals 0 (1,193) 0 0 (2,397) 0 (17) 0 (3,607)
Gross cost at 31 March 2013 12,706 123,485 0 6,284 46,872 0 7,213 0 196,560

Depreciation
Accumulated depreciation at 1 April 2012 0 17,945 0 0 25,351 0 4,659 0 47,955
Charged during the year 0 4,319 0 0 4,028 0 548 0 8,895
Impairments 121 2,887 0 0 0 0 0 0 3,008
Reclassifications 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Revaluation 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Transferred to disposal group as asset held for sale 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Disposals 0 (1,193) 0 0 (2,397) 0 (17) 0 (3,607)
Accumulated depreciation at 31 March 2013 121 23,958 0 0 26,982 0 5,190 0 56,251

Net book value at 1 April 2012 14,942 103,019 0 1,330 21,184 0 2,053 0 142,528

Net book value - purchased at 31 March 2013 12,135 45,296 0 4,549 11,213 0 1,369 0 74,562
Net book value - finance lease at 31 March 2013 0 13,790 0 0 53 0 0 0 13,843
Net book value - PFI lease at 31 March 2013 0 0 0 0 708 0 0 0 708
Net book value - donated at 31 March 2013 450 40,441 0 1,735 7,916 0 654 0 51,196

Net book value at 31 March 2013 12,585 99,527 0 6,284 19,890 0 2,023 0 140,309

10.2   Property, Plant and Equipment 2011-12
Land Buildings Dwellings Assets under Plant and Transport Information Furniture Total

excluding construction machinery equipment technology and fittings
dwellings & payments

on account
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Cost or Valuation at 1 April 2011 17,942 95,725 0 20,924 40,708 0 5,600 0 180,899
Additions - purchased 0 4,064 0 3,262 1,091 0 359 0 8,776
Additions - donated 0 (664) 0 0 660 0 310 0 306
Impairments (2,932) (545) 0 0 0 0 0 0 (3,477)
Reclassifications 0 17,362 0 (22,856) 5,051 0 443 0 0
Revaluation 43 5,022 5 0 0 0 0 0 5,070
Transferred to disposal group as asset held for sale (111) 0 (5) 0 0 0 0 0 (116)
Disposals 0 0 0 0 (975) 0 0 0 (975)
Gross cost at 31 March 2012 14,942 120,964 0 1,330 46,535 0 6,712 0 190,483

Depreciation
Accumulated depreciation at 1 April 2011 0 9,333 0 0 22,486 0 3,701 0 35,520
Charged during the year 0 3,641 0 0 3,818 0 915 0 8,374
Impairments 0 10,357 0 0 0 0 0 0 10,357
Reclassifications 0 0 0 0 (43) 0 43 0 0
Revaluation 0 (5,386) 0 0 0 0 0 0 (5,386)
Transferred to disposal group as asset held for sale 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Disposals 0 0 0 0 (910) 0 0 0 (910)
Accumulated depreciation at 31 March 2012 0 17,945 0 0 25,351 0 4,659 0 47,955

Net book value at 1 April 2011 17,942 86,392 0 20,924 18,222 0 1,899 0 145,379

Net book value - purchased at 31 March 2012 14,247 46,700 0 1,330 10,514 0 1,264 0 74,055
Net book value - finance lease at 31 March 2012 0 14,273 0 0 77 0 0 0 14,350
Net book value - PFI lease at 31 March 2012 0 0 0 0 826 0 0 0 826
Net book value - donated at 31 March 2012 695 42,046 0 0 9,767 0 789 0 53,297

Net book value at 31 March 2012 14,942 103,019 0 1,330 21,184 0 2,053 0 142,528

Within donated assets is £8,082k for buildings for a finance lease in respect of the Oldham satellite (2010/11: £7,703k) and within the Purchased assets the Salford 
satellite £6,191k (2010/11 £0).  The trust holds a 40 year lease for the use of part of the building  located on land owned by Pennine Acute NHS Trust and which was 
paid for in full up front.  For the Salford satellite, which was similarly paid for in full up front, the trust has entered into a 60 year lease with Salford Royal NHS 
Foundation Trust.

There are no restrictions placed on the use of the trust's donated assets as part of the offer of funding.

Land and buildings were revalued as at 31 March 2013.  The valuation exercise was carried out by an independent professional valuer.  Independent valuations have 
not been undertaken for the remaining classes of Property, Plant and Equipment as their carrying amount is deemed to be the fair value. 

The Christie Charitable Fund has provided funding for assets donated in year.

Within donated assets is £7,810k for buildings for a finance lease in respect of the Oldham satellite (2011/12: £8,802k) and within the purchased assets the Salford 
satellite £5,980k (2011/12 £6,191k).  The trust holds a 40 year lease for the Oldham satellite for the use of part of the building  located on land owned by Pennine 
Acute NHS Trust and which was paid for in full up front.  For the Salford satellite, which was similarly paid for in full up front, the trust has entered into a 60 year lease 
with Salford Royal NHS Foundation Trust.

There are no restrictions placed on the use of the trust's donated assets as part of the offer of funding.

Land and buildings were revalued as at 31 March 2012.  The valuation exercise was carried out by an independent professional valuer.  Independent valuations have 
not been undertaken for the remaining classes of Property, Plant and Equipment as their carrying amount is deemed to be the fair value. 

The Christie Charitable Fund has provided funding for assets donated in year.
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10.   Property, Plant and Equipment (continued)
10.3   Property, Plant and Equipment (continued)

The net book value of land and buildings at 31 March 2013 comprises:

2012-13 2011-12
£000 £000

Freehold 98,322 103,688
Long leasehold 13,790 14,273
Short leasehold 0 0
Total 112,112 117,961

10.4   Protected and non protected assets

Total Land 

Buildings 
excluding 
dwellings Dwellings 

£000 £000 £000 £000 
Net book value at 31 March 2013
- Protected assets 93,798 7,606 86,192 0
- unprotected assets 18,314 4,979 13,335 0

112,112 12,585 99,527 0

Net book value at 31 March 2012
- Protected assets 95,486 9,185 86,301 0
- unprotected assets 22,475 5,757 16,718 0

117,961 14,942 103,019 0

All other assets totalling £28,197k (2011-12: £24,567) are unprotected.

The definition of a protected asset is defined within the Trust's letter of authorisation.

10.5   Economic Lives of Non-current Assets

Min Life Max Life
Intangible assets Years Years
Software purchased 2 5

Property, Plant and Equipment
Buildings excluding dwellings 5 74
Dwellings 14 39
Plant and machinery 1 15
Information technology 1 10

10.6   Impairments
Impairments charged in the year to the Statement of Comprehensive Income

Property, 
plant and 

equipment
Intangible 

assets

Property, 
plant and 

equipment
Intangible 

assets
£000 £000 £000 £000

Impairments arose from:
Loss or damage from normal operations 0 0 0 0
Loss as a result of catastrophe 0 0 0 0
Abandonment in the course of construction 0 0 0 0
Unforeseen obsolescence 0 0 0 0
Over-specification of assets 0 0 0 0
Changes in market price 6,885 0 8,707 0

244 0 5,127 0
Other (specify) 0 0 0 0
Reversal of impairments (206) 0 0 0
Total 6,923 0 13,834 0

10.7   Non-current assets held for sale

2012-13 2011-12

Write down to depreciated replacement costs on 
bringing a new asset into use

The Trust held a dwelling at 31 March 2012 which was available for sale and was independently valued at open market value at £150k.  It was 
subsequently sold on the open market during 2012-13.
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10.   Property, Plant and Equipment (continued)
10.8   Net book value of assets held under finance leases 2012-13

Land Buildings Dwellings Assets under Plant and Transport Information Furniture PFI Total
excluding construction machinery equipment technology and fittings arrangements
dwellings and payments

on account
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Cost or Valuation at 1 April 2012 0 0 0 0 122 0 0 0 2,477 2,599
Additions - purchased 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 96 96
Additions - donated 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Impairments 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Reclassifications 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Revaluation 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Disposals 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Gross cost at 31 March 2013 0 0 0 0 122 0 0 0 2,573 2,695

Depreciation
Accumulated depreciation at 1 April 2012 0 0 0 0 45 0 0 0 1,556 1,601
Charged during the year 0 0 0 0 24 0 0 0 214 238
Impairments 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Reclassifications 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Revaluation 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Disposals 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Accumulated depreciation at 31 March 2013 0 0 0 0 69 0 0 0 1,770 1,839

Net book value at 1 April 2012 0 0 0 0 77 0 0 0 921 998

Net book value - purchased at 31 March 2013 0 0 0 0 53 0 0 0 803 856
Net book value - donated at 31 March 2013 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Net book value at 31 March 2013 0 0 0 0 53 0 0 0 803 856

10.9   Net book value of assets held under finance leases 2011-12

Land Buildings Dwellings Assets under Plant & Transport Information Furniture PFI Total
excluding construction machinery equipment technology & fittings arrangements
dwellings and payments

on account
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Cost or Valuation at 1 April 2011 0 0 0 0 124 0 0 0 2,381 2,505
Additions - purchased 0 0 0 0 (2) 0 0 0 96 94
Additions - donated 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Impairments 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Reclassifications 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Revaluation 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Disposals 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Gross cost at 31 March 2012 0 0 0 0 122 0 0 0 2,477 2,599

Depreciation
Accumulated depreciation at 1 April 2011 0 0 0 0 20 0 0 0 1,144 1,164
Charged during the year 0 0 0 0 25 0 0 0 412 437
Impairments 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Reclassifications 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Revaluation 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Disposals 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Accumulated depreciation at 31 March 2012 0 0 0 0 45 0 0 0 1,556 1,601

Net book value at 1 April 2011 0 0 0 0 104 0 0 0 1,237 1,341

Net book value - purchased at 31 March 2012 0 0 0 0 77 0 0 0 921 998
Net book value - donated at 31 March 2012 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Net book value at 31 March 2012 0 0 0 0 77 0 0 0 921 998
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11.   Investments

11.1   Investment in joint venture

2012-13 2011-12
£000 £000

Carrying value at 1 April 2011 5,096 1,058

Acquisitions in year 43 460
Share of profit/ (loss) 2,152 3,578
Impairments 0 0

Carrying value at 31 March 2012 7,291 5,096

11.2   Disclosure of aggregate amounts for assets and liabilities of jointly controlled operations

2012-13 2011-12
£000 £000

Current assets 5,258 2,144
Non current assets 3,474 3,893

Total assets 8,732 6,037

Current liabilities (1,016) (1,498)

Total liabilities (1,016) (1,498)

Net assets 7,716 4,539

Profit as per contractual arrangements 2,152 3,578
Profit from syndication (Leaders of Oncology@ Christie LLP) 317 0

Total profit share 2,469 3,578

12.   Inventories

2012-13 2011-12
Inventories £000 £000

Raw materials and Consumables 796 1,680
Work in progress 0 0
Finished goods 0 0

Total 796 1,680

Inventories recognised in expenses 24,869 22,079
Write down of inventories recognised as an expense 0 84
Reversal of any write down of inventories resulting in a 
reduction of recognised expenses 0 0

Total 24,869 22,163

On 15 September 2010 the Trust entered into an LLP agreement with HCA International Limited to establish 
The Christie Clinic LLP.  The acquisitions in year reflect the proportionate share of the Trust's equity 
investment.  The carrying value and profits represent the contractual arrangements of The Christie Clinic.

The figures in the note above are based on the accounts of The Christie Clinic LLP  for the period to the end 
of March 2013.  The proportion of the aggregate amounts reflects the contractual arrangements as set out in 
The Christie Clinic LLP.

Profits generated include those from syndication of the private patient day case chemotherapy activity with 
The Christie Clinic (Leaders of Oncology@ Christie LLP).
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13.   Trade and Other Receivables and Financial Assets

13.1   Trade and Other Receivables

2012-13 2011-12 2012-13 2011-12

£000 £000 £000 £000

NHS receivables - revenue 2,808 1,927 0 0
Other receivables with related parties 618 459 0 0
Non-NHS trade receivables - revenue 8,111 4,210 0 0
Non-NHS trade receivables - capital 0 0 0 0
Provision for impairment of receivables (161) (641) 0 0
Finance lease receivables 0 0 0 0
Operating Lease receivables 0 0 0 0
Prepayments 1,485 1,133 0 0
Accrued income 1,286 3,942 0 0
PDC dividend refund accrual 147 7 0 0
Charitable fund receivables 1,042 1,878 0 0

Trade and other receivables 15,336 12,915 0 0

13.2   Provision for impairment of receivables 
2012-13 2011-12

£000 £000

At 1 April 641 113
Increase in provision 161 534
Amounts utilised (30) (6)
Unused amounts reversed (611) 0
At 31 March 161 641

13.3   Analysis of impaired receivables 

Ageing of impaired receivables 2012-13 2011-12
£000 £000

Up to three months 106 518
In three to six months 26 60
Over six months 29 63

161 641

Ageing of non impaired receivables past their due date. 2012-13 2011-12
£000 £000

Up to three months 12,073 7,698
In three to six months 342 128
Over six months 3 7

12,418 7,833

The above analysis does not include accrued income or prepayments

Current Non-current

Within NHS receivables, £2.4m relates to continuing NHS bodies with responsibility for the remaining debt transferring to the 
Department of Health.
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13.4   Other Financial Assets

2012-13 2011-12
£000 £000

Other financial assets at 31 March 80 160

14.1  Cash and cash equivalents

 31 March 
2013 

 31 March 
2012 

 £000  £000 

Balance at 1 April 39,357 21,135
Net change in the year 11,220 18,222

Balance at 31 March 50,577 39,357

Broken down into:

Cash at commercial banks and in hand 48 38
Cash with the Government Banking Service 50,529 39,319

Cash and Cash Equivalents as in SoFP 50,577 39,357

14.2  Analysis of changes in net (debt)/ funds

31 March 
2012

Movement 
in year

31 March 
2013

£000 £000 £000
Cash at bank and in hand 39,357 11,220 50,577

Debt due within one year (1,151) (9) (1,160)

Debt due after one year (20,079) 1,064 (19,015)

Total net funds 18,127 12,275 30,402

The Trust invested £1m in a term deposit account with Kaupthing Singer & Friedlander in 2008, prior to the bank being put into administration. 
Based on the Administrator's assessment in 2008-09 this asset was initially impaired to £500k (50p in the £ recovery) at 31 March 2009.  The 
Administrator has since improved his assessment of the potential recovery and at 31 March 2013 this stands at £840k (84p in the £ recovery). 
The total of declared and received dividends at 31 March 2013 amounts to £760k (76p in the £).  The £80k is the Administrator's assessment 
of the outstanding valuation yet to be received via dividends.   
The Administrator has given notice of intended dividend but as at 1 April 2013, this has yet to be declared.
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15.1   Trade payables and other payables

2012-13 2011-12 2012-13 2011-12

£000 £000 £000 £000

Receipts in advance 2,307 2,290 0 0
NHS payables revenue 1,602 1,868 0 0
Amounts due to related parties 79 1,091 0 0
Trade payables capital 4,417 1,141 0 0
Other trade payables 0 0 0 0
Other payables 8,968 8,164 0 0
Accruals 9,217 5,364 0 0
PDC dividend payable 0 0 0 0

26,590 19,918 0 0

Taxes payable 1,825 1,847 0 0

Total Trade and Other Payables 28,415 21,765 0 0

15.2  Other Liabilities

2012-13 2011-12 2012-13 2011-12

£000 £000 £000 £000

Deferred Income 1,122 797 9,046 8,381

Total Other Liabilities 1,122 797 9,046 8,381

Current Non-current

Amounts due to related parties includes £1,128k (2011-12: £1,066k) outstanding pension contributions at 31 March 2013.

Non current deferred income relates to research and development funds received to undertake clinical trials and other research projects 
which last in excess of one year.

Current Non-current
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16.   Borrowings

16.1   Borrowings 2012-13 2011-12 2012-13 2011-12
£000 £000 £000 £000

Bank Overdraft 0 0 0 0
Loan from Foundation Trust Financing Facility 911 911 18,266 19,177
Finance Lease Liabilities 23 21 19 42
Obligations Under PFI contracts 226 219 730 860

Total 1,160 1,151 19,015 20,079

Loan from Foundation Trust Financing Facility

16.2   Prudential borrowing limit

The Trust is required to comply and remain within a prudential borrowing limit. This is made up of two elements:

Financial Ratios Actual Limits Actual Limits

Minimum dividend cover 11.1 >1x 6.8 >1x

Minimum interest cover 25.1 >3x 17.4 >3x

Minimum debt service cover 10.5 >2x 7.5 >2x

Maximum debt service to revenue 1.0% <2.5% 1.1% <2.5%

£000 £000

Long Term borrowing set by Monitor 39,500 38,500

Working capital facility approved by Monitor 10,000 10,000

Total Prudential Borrowing Limit 49,500 48,500

Actual borrowing in year long term 20,175 21,230

Actual borrowing in year working capital 0 0

Current Non-current

The trust had an application for a £21m loan to support its investment in new buildings to improve patient access to services 
approved by the foundation trust financing facility. The loan was drawn down over two years with £3m drawn down in 2009-10, £14m 
in 2010-11 and the final tranche of £4m drawn down in 2011-12.  

Repayment of the loan principle commenced from 15 September 2011 on a bi-annual basis. The loan is charged at a fixed interest 
rate of 4.2% pa. The final repayment date is 15 March 2034.

The Trust has a Tier 1 long term borrowing limit which is based on our annual plan and in accordance with the tier 1 ratio set by 
Monitor.

Further information on the NHS foundation trusts Prudential Borrowing Code and Compliance Framework can be found on the 
website of Monitor, the independent regulator of foundation trusts.

2012-13 2011-12

The table below sets out the trust's approved borrowing limit and the actual borrowing taken out. 

1. The maximum cumulative amount of long term borrowing.   This is set by reference to the four ratio tests set out in the Prudential 
Borrowing Code for NHS foundation trusts. 

2. The amount of any approved working capital facility approved by Monitor.
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 17.   Provisions for liabilities and charges

31 March 2013 31 March 2012 31 March 2013 31 March 2012
£000 £000 £000 £000

Pensions relating to former directors 0 0 0 0
Pensions relating to other staff 10 10 97 80
Personal injury claims 46 64 0 0
Other 99 315 533 372

Total 155 389 630 452

Pensions Pensions Personal Other Total
relating to relating to injury

former other claims
directors staff

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

At 1 April 2012 0 90 64 687 841
Change in discount rate 0 5 0 (9) (4)
Arising during the year 0 17 46 83 146
Utilised during the year 0 (8) (57) (96) (161)
Reversed unused 0 0 (7) (33) (40)
Unwinding of discount 0 3 0 0 3

At 31 March 2013 0 107 46 632 785

Expected timing of cash-flows:
Not later than 1 year 0 10 46 99 155
Later than 1 year not later then 5 years 0 38 0 234 272
Later then 5 years 0 59 0 299 358

0 107 46 632 785

Current Non-current

£383k is included in the provisions of the NHS Litigation Authority as at 31 March 2013 in respect of the clinical negligence liabilities of the Trust (£392k 
at 31 March 2012).

The above provision for personal injury is based upon information supplied by the NHS Litigation Authority. The associated contingent liability is shown 
under note 18.1.

The other provision includes a liability for an ill-health retirement based on a personal injury claim of £410k.  The remainder is for a provision for the cost 
of pseudomyxoma peritonei complications.  The provision is been based on the average cost of complications per operation over the preceding 3 years, 
linked to the number of operations undertaken within a 3 year period.
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18.   Contingencies at 31 March

18.1 Contingent Liabilities
 2012-13 2011-12

£000 £000

Personal injury claim (23) (29)

(23) (29)

18.2 Contingent Assets

The Trust has no contingent assets at the balance sheet date.

19.   Capital commitments

The contingent liability relates to personal injury claims based upon information supplied by the NHS 
Litigation Authority 

The Trust has  entered into capital commitments for the construction of 2 major building projects, the 
replacement of operational equipment and various infrastructure works.  The schemes have commenced 
and are due for completion between 2013-14 and 2014-15.  As at 31 March 2013 the capital commitments 
contracted amounted to £20,089k  (£nil contracted at 31 March 2012).

152



Accounts of The Christie NHS Foundation Trust 2012-13

20.   Lease obligations

20.1   Finance lease obligations

Amounts payable under finance leases:

31 March 2013 31 March 2012 31 March 2013 31 March 2012
£000 £000 £000 £000

Within one year 24 24 23 21
Between one and five years 20 44 19 42
After five years 0 0 0 0
Less future finance charges        (2) (5) 0 0

Present value of minimum lease payments 42 63 42 63

Included in:
Current borrowings 23 21
Non-current borrowings 19 42

42 63

20.2   Private Finance Initiative lease obligations

Amounts payable under PFI leases:

31 March 2013 31 March 2012 31 March 2013 31 March 2012
£000 £000 £000 £000

Within one year 267 267 226 219
Between one and five years 685 685 583 556
After five years 154 325 147 304
Less future finance charges        (150) (198) 0 0

Present value of minimum lease payments 956 1,079 956 1,079

Included in:
Current borrowings 226 219
Non-current borrowings 730 860

956 1,079

The finance lease obligations relate to the following private finance initiative schemes;

PFI 1. Provision of an Energy Management Service

Contract Start date: September 2003
Contract End date: August 2019

PFI 2. Provision of the Trust's clinical information system.

Contract Start date: December 2003
Contract End date: March 2014 - extension from March 2013

31 March 2013 31 March 2013 31 March 2013 31 March 2012
£000 £000 £000 £000

PFI 1 PFI 2 Total Total

Within one year 864 504 1,368 1,368
2nd to 5th years 3,456 0 3,456 3,456
6th to 10th years 1,224 0 1,224 1,224

5,544 504 6,048 6,048

20.3 The Trust is committed to make the following payments for the service element of on-SoFP PFI's obligations  until the commitment 
expires:

Present value of minimum lease 
paymentsMinimum lease payments

Present value of minimum lease 
paymentsMinimum lease payments

153



Accounts of The Christie NHS Foundation Trust 2012-13

21.   Losses and special payments

22.    Related Party Transactions

Receivables Payables Income Expenditure
£000 £000 £000 £000

Ashton, Leigh and Wigan PCT 3 0 7,729 0
Bolton PCT 3 0 6,028 0
Bury PCT 0 0 5,313 3
Heywood, Middleton and Rochdale PCT 1 0 5,179 0
Manchester PCT 51 58 12,185 36
North Lancashire PCT 11 0 1,096 0
Oldham PCT 16 48 9,794 0
Salford PCT 0 0 6,256 0
Stockport PCT 9 10 11,168 17
Tameside and Glossop PCT 7 0 6,369 0
Trafford PCT 3 0 7,090 0
London Strategic HA 16 0 4,633 10
NW Strategic HA 0 0 4,416 (3)
Western Cheshire PCT 5 0 41,928 0
Central and Eastern Cheshire PCT 6 0 13,118 0
University Hospital of South Manchester FT 936 468 4,421 2,009

A separate Trustees Report and Accounts for the Christie Charitable Fund will be available from 31 January 2013 and 
can be obtained from the Finance Department on 0161 918 734 or via the Charity Commission website at www.charity-
commission.gov.uk.

There were 52 cases of losses and special payments (2011-12: 34 cases) totalling £227k (2011-12: £143k) paid during 
2012-13.

Note:  The total costs included in this note are on a cash basis and will not reconcile to the amounts in the notes to the 
accounts which are prepared on an accruals basis.

The Christie NHS Foundation Trust is a body corporate established by order of the Secretary of State for Health.

During the year none of the Board Members or members of the key management staff or parties related to them has 
undertaken any material transactions with The Christie NHS Foundation Trust. See note 6.5 for details of Directors' 
remuneration and other benefits.

The Department of Health is regarded as a related party.  During the year The Christie NHS Foundation Trust has had a 
significant number of material transactions £5.4m (2011-12: £6.0m) with the Department, and with other entities for which 
the Department is regarded as the parent Department.  These entities are listed below:

The Trust has also received revenue £6.53m (2011-12  £6.4m) and capital monies £2.85m (2011-12  £0.3m) from The 
Christie Charitable Fund, for which the Trust is the sole corporate trustee and for which the Trust Board are responsible 
for the management and accountability. 

The Christie Clinic LLP is a related party to the trust with net income/expenditure transactions totalling £6.1m (2011-12  
£6.7m) and net receivables/payables totalling £0.8m (2011-12  £1.5m). The Christie Clinic LLP is also a related party to 
HCA International Limited.

Other bodies within the Whole Government Accounts (WGA) boundary the Trust has had material transactions with are 
the NHS Pensions Scheme and the National Insurance Fund.
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23.   Financial instruments

IFRS 7, IAS 32 and IAS 39 require disclosure of the role that financial instruments have had during 
the period in creating or changing the risks an entity faces in undertaking its activities.  Under the NHS 
financial regime the service provider relationship that the Trust has with its commissioners and the 
way they are funded, the Trust is not exposed to the degree of financial risk faced by business 
entities.  Also financial instruments play a much more limited role in creating or changing risk than 
would be typical of the listed companies to which IAS 39 mainly applies.  The Trust has limited powers 
to borrow or invest surplus funds and financial assets and liabilities are generated by day-to-day 
operational activities rather than being held to change the risks facing the Trust in undertaking its 
activities.

Market risk

Market risk is the possibility that financial loss might arise as a result of changes in such measures as 
interest rates and stock market movements. The Trust's transactions are almost all undertaken in 
sterling and so it is not exposed to foreign exchange risk. It holds no significant investments other than 
short-term bank deposits. Other than cash balance, the Trust's financial assets and liabilities carry nil 
or fixed rates of interest and the Trust's income and operating cash-flows are substantially 
independant of changes in market interest rates.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the possibility that the Trust might not have the funds available to meet it's 
commitments to make payments.  Prudent liquidity risk management includes maintaining sufficient 
cash and the availability of funding from an adequate amount of committed credit facilities.  NHS 
foundation trusts are required to comply with the Prudential Borrowing Code made by Monitor, the 
Independant Regulator of foundation trusts, and further details of the Trust's compliance can be found 
at note 16.2 "Prudential Borrowing Limit".

The Trust's net operating costs were incurred under annual service agreements with local Primary 
Care Trusts, which are financed from resources voted annually by Parliament.  The Trust has 
achieved a risk ratio for liquidity of 5 as defined by Monitor's compliance framework. This illustrates 
the liquidity risk to the Trust is low.

Interest-Rate Risk

All of the Trust's financial assets and financial liabilities carry nil or fixed rates of interest, the Trust is 
not, therefore, exposed to significant interest-rate risk. 

Foreign Currency Risk

The Trust has negligible foreign currency income or expenditure.

155



Accounts of The Christie NHS Foundation Trust 2012-13

 23.1   Financial Assets
2012-13 2011-12

£000 £000

Embedded derivatives 0 0
NHS receivables 3,461 4,468
Non-NHS receivables 10,243 7,237
Cash at bank and in hand 50,577 39,357
Other investments 0 0
Current assets 80 160

Total at 31 March 64,361 51,222

23.2    Financial Liabilities

2012-13 2011-12
£000 £000

Embedded derivatives 0 0
NHS payables 2,534 3,870
Non-NHS payables 23,574 13,758
Borrowings 19,177 20,088
Private Finance Initiative and finance lease obligations 998 1,142
Provisions under contract 0 0
Other financial liabilities 0 0

Total at 31 March 46,283 38,858

The carrying values of short term financial assets and financial liabilities are considered to approximate
to fair value.

23.3    Maturity of financial liabilities

2012-13 2011-12
£000 £000

In one year or less 27,268 18,779
In more than one year but not more than five years 4,248 4,243

In more than five years 14,767 15,836

Total 46,283 38,858

The items listed above are classified as loans and receivables. Carrying value is considered to 
approximate to fair value.

The items listed above are classified as other financial liabilities. 
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24.   Movement in Public Dividend Capital
31 March 2013 31 March 2012

£000 £000
Public dividend capital at start of period 61,116 61,116
New public dividend capital received 800 0
Public dividend capital repaid in year 0 0
Public dividend capital repayable 0 0
Public dividend capital written off 0 0
Other movements in public dividend capital in year 0 0

61,916 61,116

25.   Prior Period Adjustments

26.   Events after the reporting period

There were no post balance sheet events requiring disclosure.

There are no prior period adjustments relating to the period.
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